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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

On one or more occasions, we may make statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K regarding our assumptions, 
projections, expectations, targets, intentions or beliefs about future events. All statements other than statements of historical 
facts, included or incorporated by reference in this Annual Report, relating to management's current expectations of future 
financial performance, continued growth, changes in economic conditions or capital markets and changes in customer usage 
patterns and preferences are forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and 
Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

Words or phrases such as “anticipates," “may," “will," “should," “believes," “estimates," “expects," “intends," “plans," 
“predicts," “projects," “targets," “will likely result," “will continue" or similar expressions identify forward-looking statements. 
Forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties, which could cause actual results or outcomes to differ materially 
from those expressed. We caution that while we make such statements in good faith and believe such statements are based on 
reasonable assumptions, including without limitation, management's examination of historical operating trends, data contained 
in records and other data available from third parties, we cannot assure you that we will achieve our projections. Factors that 
may cause such differences include, but are not limited to:

• adverse determinations by regulators, as well as potential adverse federal, state, or local legislation or regulation, 
including costs of compliance with existing and future environmental requirements, could have a material effect on our 
liquidity, results of operations and financial condition;

• the impact of extraordinary external events and natural disasters, such as the COVID-19 pandemic, earthquake, flood, 
drought, lightning, weather, wind, and fire, on our liquidity, results of operations and financial condition; 

• Acts of terrorism, cybersecurity attacks, data security breaches, or other malicious acts that cause damage to our 
generation, transmission, or distribution facilities, information technology systems, or result in the release of 
confidential customer, employee, or Company information;

• Supply chain constraints and their impact on capital expenditures, operating activities, and/or our ability to safely and 
reliably serve our customers;

• changes in availability of trade credit, creditworthiness of counterparties, usage, commodity prices, fuel supply costs or 
availability due to higher demand, shortages, weather conditions, transportation problems or other developments, may 
reduce revenues or may increase operating costs, each of which could adversely affect our liquidity and results of 
operations;

• unscheduled generation outages or forced reductions in output, maintenance or repairs, which may reduce revenues 
and increase operating costs or may require additional capital expenditures or other increased operating costs; and

• adverse changes in general economic and competitive conditions in the U.S. financial markets and in our service 
territories.

We have attempted to identify, in context, certain of the factors that we believe may cause actual future experience and 
results to differ materially from our current expectation regarding the relevant matter or subject area. In addition to the items 
specifically discussed above, our business and results of operations are subject to the uncertainties described under the caption 
“Risk Factors” which is part of the disclosure included in Part I, Item 1A of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

From time to time, oral or written forward-looking statements are also included in our reports on Forms 10-Q and 8-K, 
Proxy Statements on Schedule 14A, press releases, analyst and investor conference calls, and other communications released to 
the public. We believe that at the time made, the expectations reflected in all of these forward-looking statements are and will 
be reasonable. However, any or all of the forward-looking statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, our reports on 
Forms 10-Q and 8-K, our Proxy Statements on Schedule 14A and any other public statements that are made by us may prove to 
be incorrect. This may occur as a result of assumptions, which turn out to be inaccurate, or as a consequence of known or 
unknown risks and uncertainties. Many factors discussed in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, certain of which are beyond our 
control, will be important in determining our future performance. Consequently, actual results may differ materially from those 
that might be anticipated from forward-looking statements. In light of these and other uncertainties, you should not regard the 
inclusion of any of our forward-looking statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K or other public communications as a 
representation by us that our plans and objectives will be achieved, and you should not place undue reliance on such forward-
looking statements.

We undertake no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new 
information, future events or otherwise. However, your attention is directed to any further disclosures made on related subjects 
in our subsequent reports filed with the SEC on Forms 10-K, 10-Q and 8-K and Proxy Statements on Schedule 14A.
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Unless the context requires otherwise, references to “we,” “us,” “our,” “NorthWestern Corporation,” “NorthWestern 
Energy,” and “NorthWestern” refer specifically to NorthWestern Corporation and its subsidiaries.
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GLOSSARY

Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) - The single source of authoritative nongovernmental GAAP, which supersedes all 
existing accounting standards.

Allowance for Funds Used During Construction (AFUDC) - A regulatory accounting convention that represents the estimated 
composite interest costs of debt and a return on equity funds used to finance construction. The allowance is capitalized in the 
property accounts and included in income.

Base-Load - The minimum amount of electric power or natural gas delivered or required over a given period of time at a steady 
rate. The minimum continuous load or demand in a power system over a given period of time usually is not temperature sensitive.

Base-Load Capacity - The generating equipment normally operated to serve loads on an around-the-clock basis.

Capacity - The amount represents the maximum output of electricity a generator can produce and is related to peak demand. We 
must maintain a level of available capacity sufficient to meet peak demand with a sufficient reserve.

COD - Commercial operating date.

Commercial Customers - Consists primarily of main street businesses, shopping malls, grocery stores, gas stations, bars and 
restaurants, professional offices, hospitals and medical offices, motels, and hotels.

Cushion Gas - The natural gas required in a gas storage reservoir to maintain a pressure sufficient to permit recovery of stored gas.

DGGS - The Dave Gates Generating Station at Mill Creek, a 150 MW natural gas fired facility.

Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) - A Federal agency charged with protecting the environment.

Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC) - The Federal agency that has jurisdiction over interstate electricity sales, 
wholesale electric rates, hydroelectric licensing, natural gas transmission and related services pricing, oil pipeline rates and gas 
pipeline certification.

Franchise - A special privilege conferred by a unit of state or local government on an individual or corporation to occupy and use 
the public ways and streets for benefit to the public at large. Local distribution companies typically have franchises for utility 
service granted by state or local governments.

GAAP - Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Hedging - Entering into transactions to manage various types of risk (e.g. commodity risk).

Industrial Customers - Consists primarily of manufacturing and processing businesses that turn raw materials into products.

Lignite Coal - The lowest rank of coal, often referred to as brown coal, used almost exclusively as fuel for steam-electric power 
generation. It has high inherent moisture content, sometimes as high as 45 percent. The heat content of lignite ranges from 9 to 17 
million Btu per ton on a moist, mineral-matter-free basis.

Midcontinent Independent System Operator (MISO) - MISO is a nonprofit organization created in compliance with FERC as a 
regional transmission organization, to improve the flow of electricity in the regional marketplace and to enhance electric reliability. 
Additionally, MISO is responsible for managing the energy markets, managing transmission constraints, managing the day-ahead, 
real-time and financial transmission rights markets, and managing the ancillary market.

Midwest Reliability Organization (MRO) - MRO is one of eight regional electric reliability councils under NERC.

Montana Public Service Commission (MPSC) - The state agency that regulates public utilities doing business in Montana.

Nameplate Capacity - The intended full-load sustained output of a generating facility. Nameplate capacity is the number 
registered with authorities for classifying the power output of a power station usually expressed in megawatts (MW).

Nebraska Public Service Commission (NPSC) - The state agency that regulates public utilities doing business in Nebraska.
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Net Operating Loss (NOL) - The result when a company's allowable deductions exceed its taxable income within a tax period.

North American Electric Reliability Corporation (NERC) - NERC oversees eight regional reliability entities and encompasses 
all of the interconnected power systems of the contiguous United States. NERC's major responsibilities include developing 
standards for power system operation, monitoring and enforcing compliance with those standards, assessing resource adequacy, 
and providing educational and training resources as part of an accreditation program to ensure power system operators remain 
qualified and proficient.

Open Access - Non-discriminatory, fully equal access to transportation or transmission services offered by a pipeline or electric 
utility.

Open Access Transmission Tariff (OATT) -The OATT, which is established by the FERC, defines the terms and conditions of 
point-to-point and network integration transmission services offered by us, and requires that transmission owners provide open, 
non-discriminatory access on their transmission system to transmission customers.

Peak Load - A measure of the maximum amount of energy delivered at a point in time.

Qualifying Facility (QF) - As defined under the Public Utility Regulatory Policies Act of 1978 (PURPA), a QF sells power to a 
regulated utility at a price agreed to by the parties or determined by a public service commission that is intended to be equal to that 
which the utility would otherwise pay if it were to generate its own power or buy power from another source.

Reserve Margin - The difference between available capacity and peak demand used in system planning to ensure adequate power 
supply. A positive percentage indicates the electric system has excess capacity while a negative percentage indicates the electric 
system is unable to meet peak demand without using market resources.
 
Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) - The U.S. agency charged with protecting investors, maintaining fair, orderly and 
efficient markets and facilitating capital formation.

South Dakota Public Utilities Commission (SDPUC) - The state agency that regulates public utilities doing business in South 
Dakota.

Southwest Power Pool (SPP) - A nonprofit organization created in compliance with FERC as a regional transmission organization 
to ensure reliable supplies of power, adequate transmission infrastructure, and a competitive wholesale electricity marketplace. SPP 
also serves as a regional electric reliability entity under NERC.

Tariffs - A collection of the rate schedules and service rules authorized by a federal or state commission. It lists the rates a 
regulated entity will charge to provide service to its customers as well as the terms and conditions that it will follow in providing 
service.

Tolling Contract - An arrangement whereby a party moves fuel to a power generator and receives kilowatt hours (kWh) in return 
for a pre-established fee.

Transmission - The flow of electricity from generating stations and interconnections with other systems over high voltage lines to 
substations. The electricity then flows from the substations into a distribution network.

Western Area Power Administration (WAPA) - A federal power-marketing administration and electric transmission agency 
established by Congress.

Western Electricity Coordination Council (WECC) - WECC is one of eight regional electric reliability councils under NERC.
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Measurements:

Billion Cubic Feet (Bcf) - A unit used to measure large quantities of gas, approximately equal to 1 trillion Btu.

British Thermal Unit (Btu) - A basic unit used to measure natural gas; the amount of natural gas needed to raise the temperature 
of one pound of water by one degree Fahrenheit.

Degree-Day - A measure of the coldness / warmness of the weather experienced, based on the extent to which the daily mean 
temperature falls below or above 65 degrees Fahrenheit.

Dekatherm - A measurement of natural gas; ten therms or one million Btu.

Kilovolt (kV) - A unit of electrical power equal to one thousand volts.

Megawatt (MW) - A unit of electrical power equal to one million watts or one thousand kilowatts.

Megawatt Hour (MWH) - One million watt-hours of electric energy. A unit of electrical energy which equals one megawatt of 
power used for one hour.
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Part I

ITEM 1.  BUSINESS

OVERVIEW

 NorthWestern Energy - Delivering a Bright Future

NorthWestern Corporation, doing business as NorthWestern Energy, provides essential energy infrastructure and valuable 
services that enrich lives and empower communities while serving as long-term partners to our customers and communities. We 
are working to deliver safe, reliable, and innovative energy solutions that create value for customers, communities, employees, 
and investors. This includes bridging our history as a regulated utility safely providing low-cost and reliable service with our 
future as a globally-aware company offering a broader array of services performed by highly-adaptable and skilled employees. 
We provide electricity and / or natural gas to approximately 753,600 customers in Montana, South Dakota, Nebraska, and 
Yellowstone National Park. We have provided service in South Dakota and Nebraska since 1923 and in Montana since 2002.

We manage our businesses by the nature of services provided, and operate principally in three business segments: electric 
utility operations; natural gas utility operations; and all other, which primarily consists of unallocated corporate costs. Our 
electric utility operations include the generation, purchase, transmission and distribution of electricity, and our natural gas 
utility operations include the production, purchase, transmission, storage, and distribution of natural gas. Our customer base 
consists of a mix of residential, commercial, and diversified industrial customers. 

Our electric and natural gas utility operations are not dependent on a single customer, or even a few customers, and the loss 
of any one or even a few of our largest customers is not reasonably likely to have a material adverse effect on our financial 
condition. Our utility operations are seasonal and weather patterns can have a material impact on operating performance. 
Consumption of electricity is often greater in the summer and winter months for cooling and heating, respectively. Because 
natural gas is used primarily for residential and commercial heating, the demand for this product depends heavily upon weather 
patterns throughout our service territory, and a significant amount of natural gas revenues are recognized in the first and fourth 
quarters related to the heating season. 
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Environmental, Social and Governance

We are focused on meeting current energy infrastructure and service needs at a reasonable and fair cost for today’s 
customers while ensuring the ability to meet the needs of tomorrow’s customers. “Sustainability” requires meeting economic, 
societal, and environmental objectives. As a provider of essential infrastructure and service, a sustainable enterprise is vital to 
our customers and communities, as well as to our investors and employees. For a full description of our environmental, social, 
governance and sustainability activities, please see our reports at https://www.northwesternenergy.com.

We strive to balance legal requirements to provide cost-effective, reliable and stably priced energy with being good 
stewards of natural resources and a diligent focus on sustainability. As discussed below, we currently have a commitment to 
reduce the carbon intensity of our electric energy portfolio for Montana by 90 percent by 2045. Further, as part of our continued 
efforts in environmental stewardship, we are developing a comprehensive company-wide carbon reduction plan we intend to 
announce during 2022. 

We currently own a mix of clean and carbon-free energy resources balanced with traditional energy sources that are 
necessary for us to deliver affordable and reliable electricity to our customers 24/7. In 2021, approximately 56 percent of our 
retail needs originated from carbon-free resources, compared to approximately 40 percent for the total U.S. electric power 
industry. We do not receive all the related Renewable Energy Credits (RECs) from our contracted electric supply resources. 
The owner of the RECs claims the renewable attributes of the energy. Our resource mix does not represent the actual energy 
delivered to our customers. Market purchases and sales fill the gap between resources and customer demand. 

Output from our carbon-free resources decreased from 65% of total supply needs in 2020 to 56% in 2021 due primarily to 
lower hydro generation caused by drought conditions in Montana. The reduced hydro output was supplemented by market 
purchases and increased output from dispatchable generation facilities.
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Montana - Commitment to Reduction in Carbon Intensity

Nearly 60% of the electric energy we supply in Montana comes from carbon-free sources, including hydro, wind and solar. 
In December 2019, we announced a commitment to reduce the carbon intensity of our electric energy portfolio for Montana by 
90 percent by 2045 as compared with our 2010 carbon intensity as a baseline. Since 2010, we have already reduced the carbon 
intensity of our Montana generation portfolio by more than 50 percent.

MONTANA ELECTRIC OPERATIONS

Our regulated electric utility business in Montana includes generation, transmission and distribution. Our service territory 
covers approximately 107,600 square miles, representing approximately 73 percent of Montana's land area. During 2021, we 
delivered electricity to approximately 391,400 customers in 208 communities and their surrounding rural areas, 11 rural electric 
cooperatives and, in Wyoming, to the Yellowstone National Park. In 2021, by category, residential, commercial, industrial, and 
other sales accounted for approximately 44%, 47%, 5%, and 4%, respectively, of our Montana retail electric utility revenue. 

Transmission and Distribution

Our electric system is composed of high voltage transmission lines and low voltage distribution lines as follows:

Electric Transmission Lines
Miles of 500 kV  497 
Miles of 230 kV  987 
Miles of 161 kV  1,184 
Miles of 115 kV and lower voltage  4,151 

Total Miles of Electric Transmission Lines  6,819 

Electric Distribution Lines
Miles of overhead line  13,061 
Miles of underground line  5,116 

Total Miles of Electric Distribution Lines  18,177 

Total Transmission and Distribution Substations  400 

In addition to delivering energy to distribution systems to serve customers, we also transmit electricity for nonregulated 
entities owning generation, and utilities, cooperatives, and power marketers serving the Montana electricity market. Our total 
control area peak demand was approximately 1,909 MWs on January 27, 2021. Our control area average demand for 2021 was 
approximately 1,321 MWs per hour, with total energy delivered of more than 11.57 million MWHs. 

Our transmission system is directly interconnected with Avista Corporation; Idaho Power Company; PacifiCorp; the 
Bonneville Power Administration; WAPA; and Montana Alberta Tie Ltd. Such interconnections, coupled with transmission line 
capacity made available under agreements with some of the above entities, permit the interchange, purchase, and sale of power 
among all major electric systems in the west interconnecting with the winter-peaking northern and summer-peaking southern 
regions of the western power system. We provide wholesale transmission service and firm and non-firm transmission services 
for eligible transmission customers pursuant to our FERC Open Access Transmission Tariff. Our 500 kV transmission system, 
which is jointly owned, along with our 230 kV and 161 kV facilities, form the key assets of our Montana transmission system. 
Lower voltage systems provide transmission for local area service needs.

Electric Supply

Our annual retail electric supply load requirements average approximately 750 MWs, with a peak load of approximately 
1,200 MWs, and are supplied by owned and contracted resources and market purchases with multiple counterparties. 

Owned generation resources supplied approximately 60 percent of our retail load requirements for 2021. We expect that 
approximately 60 percent of our retail obligations will be met by owned generation resources in 2022. In addition, QFs provide 
a total of 389 MWs of contracted resources, including 87 MWs from waste petroleum coke and waste coal, 268 MWs from 
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wind, 16 MWs from hydro, and 17 MWs from solar projects. We have several other long and medium-term power purchase 
agreements including contracts for 135 MWs of wind generation, 52 MWs of natural gas generation, and 21 MWs of seasonal 
base-load hydro supply. For 2022, including both owned and contracted resources, we have resources to provide over 90 
percent of the capacity necessary to meet our forecasted retail load requirements.

The following chart depicts the makeup of our current owned and long-term contracted resources within our Montana 
Electric generation portfolio. Hydro generation is by far our largest and most important resource, as it is reliable, dramatically 
lowers the portfolio's carbon intensity, and reduces economic risks associated with future carbon costs. 
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Owned Generation Facilities

Details of these generating facilities are described in the following tables. 

Hydro Facilities COD
River

Source

FERC
License

Expiration Owned MW(1)

Black Eagle 1927 Missouri 2040 21
Cochrane 1958 Missouri 2040 62
Hauser 1911 Missouri 2040 19
Holter 1918 Missouri 2040 53
Madison 1906 Madison 2040 8
Morony 1930 Missouri 2040 49
Mystic 1925 West Rosebud Creek 2050 12
Rainbow 1910/2013 Missouri 2040 64
Ryan 1915 Missouri 2040 71
Thompson Falls 1915/1995 Clark Fork 2025 94
 Total 453

(1) The Hebgen facility (0 MW net capacity) is excluded from the figures above. These are run-of-river dams except for 
Mystic, which is storage generation.
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Other Facilities Fuel Source
Ownership

Interest
Owned

MW
Colstrip Unit 4, located near Colstrip in 
southeastern Montana

Sub-bituminous 
coal 30% 222

DGGS, located near Anaconda, Montana
Natural Gas & 

Liquid Fuel 100% 150
Spion Kop Wind, located in Judith Basin County in 
Montana Wind 100% 40
Two Dot Wind, located in Wheatland County in 
Montana Wind 100% 11

Colstrip Unit 4 provides base-load supply and is operated by Talen Montana, LLC (Talen). Talen has a 30 percent 
ownership interest in Colstrip Unit 3. We have a reciprocal sharing agreement with Talen regarding the operation of Colstrip 
Units 3 and 4, in which each party receives 15 percent of the respective combined output and is responsible for 15 percent of 
the respective operating and construction costs, regardless of whether a particular cost is specified to Colstrip Unit 3 or 4. 
However, each party is responsible for its own fuel-related costs. Colstrip Unit 4 is supplied with fuel from adjacent coal 
reserves under a coal supply agreement in effect through 2025. See Item 1A Risk Factors "Regulatory, Legislative and Legal 
Risks" for further discussion regarding the service life of generation facilities. 

Resource Planning

Resource planning is an important function necessary to meet our customers' future energy needs and is used to guide 
resource acquisition activities. We filed our latest resource plan with the MPSC in August 2019 and supplemented that plan in 
December 2020. Both filings projected generation capacity deficits and negative reserve margins. Since that time, we have been 
working to address the deficit with a combination of owned resources and long-term capacity contracts as well as short-and-
intermediate term capacity contracts. 

We issued an all-source competitive solicitation request in January 2020 for up to 280 MWs of peaking and flexible 
capacity to be available for commercial operation in early 2023. In addition to our responsibility to meet peak demand, national 
NERC reliability standards increased the need for us to have greater dispatchable generation capacity available and be capable 
of increasing or decreasing output to address the irregular nature of intermittent generation such as wind or solar. Our 
generation portfolio is a balanced mix of energy and capacity resources having different operating characteristics and fuel 
sources designed to provide energy at the lowest possible cost to meet our obligation to serve retail customers while 
maintaining reliability.

Western Energy Imbalance Market

We entered the Western Energy Imbalance Market (Western EIM), operated by the California Independent System 
Operator (California ISO), on June 16, 2021. We studied the value and costs of the Western EIM for several years prior to the 
decision to participate in the Western EIM. Utilities in the western United States outside the California ISO have traditionally 
relied upon a combination of automated and manual dispatch within the hour to balance generation and load to maintain reliable 
supply. Under this traditional framework, these utilities have limited capability to transact within the hour outside their 
balancing area. In contrast, energy imbalance markets use automated intra-hour economic dispatch of generation from 
committed resources to serve loads. The Western EIM is intended to reduce power supply costs to serve customers through 
more efficient dispatch of a larger and more diverse pool of resources, to integrate intermittent power more effectively, and to 
enhance reliability. We have Western EIM transactions enabled with PacifiCorp and Idaho Power Company. We expect Avista 
and the Bonneville Power Administration to join the Western EIM by the second quarter of 2022, allowing us to enable EIM 
transactions with those parties, as well. Participation in the Western EIM is voluntary and available to all balancing authorities 
in the western United States. The Western EIM currently includes over 14 participating authorities.

SOUTH DAKOTA ELECTRIC OPERATIONS

Our South Dakota electric utility business operates as a vertically integrated generation, transmission and distribution 
utility. We have the exclusive right to serve an area in South Dakota comprised of 25 counties. We provide retail electricity to 
more than 64,200 customers in 110 communities in South Dakota. In 2021, by category, residential, commercial and other sales 
accounted for approximately 38%, 60%, and 2%, respectively, of our South Dakota retail electric utility revenue.
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Transmission and Distribution

Our electric system includes high voltage transmission and low voltage distribution lines as follows: 

Electric Transmission Lines
Miles of 345 kV  25 
Miles of 230 kV  18 
Miles of 115 kV and lower voltages  1,265 

 Total Miles of Electric Transmission Lines  1,308 

Electric Distribution Lines
Miles of overhead line  1,615 
Miles of underground line  705 

Total Miles of Electric Distribution Lines  2,320 

Total Transmission and Distribution Substations  120 
 
Our South Dakota system is interconnected with the transmission facilities of Otter Tail Power Company; Montana-Dakota 

Utilities Co.; Xcel Energy Inc.; and WAPA. We have emergency interconnections with the transmission facilities of East River 
Electric Cooperative, Inc. and West Central Electric Cooperative. 

We are a transmission-owning member in the SPP. Each year, we review all new or modified transmission assets and 
transfer functional control of assets that qualify under the SPP Tariff to the SPP. This annual update goes into effect on April 1st 
each year. To date, we have transferred control of 333 line miles of 115 kV facilities and over 158 line miles of 69 kV facilities. 
The Coyote, Big Stone, and Neal power plants, which we jointly own, are connected directly to the MISO system. Our 
ownership rights in the transmission lines from these plants to our distribution system allow us to move the power to our 
customers. Along with operating the transmission system, SPP also coordinates regional transmission planning for all of its 
members.

 
Electric Supply

Our annual retail electric supply load requirements average approximately 200 MWs, with a peak load of 344 MWs, and 
are supplied by owned and contracted resources and market purchases. We use market purchases and peaking generation to 
provide peak supply in excess of our base-load capacity. We are a member of the SPP. As a market participant in SPP, we buy 
and sell wholesale energy and reserves in both day-ahead and real-time markets through the operation of a single, consolidated 
SPP balancing authority. We and other SPP members submit into the SPP market both offers to sell our generation and bids to 
purchase power to serve our load. SPP optimizes next-day and real-time generation dispatch across the region and provides 
participants with greater access to economic energy. Marketing activities in SPP are handled for us by a third-party provider 
acting as our agent. 

Our electric supply resources include 210 MWs from jointly owned coal plants and an 80 MW natural gas plant. Additional 
resources include several natural gas peaking units and an 80 MW wind facility. We also purchase the output of four wind 
projects, three of which are QFs, under power purchase agreements. Actual output for our wind resources varies based upon 
weather conditions. 

14



Owned Generation Facilities        
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Details of our generating facilities are described further in the following chart:

Generation Facilities Fuel Source
Ownership

Interest
Owned

MW
Big Stone Plant, located near Big Stone City in 
northeastern South Dakota

Sub-bituminous 
coal 23.4% 111

Aberdeen Generating Units No. 1 and 2, located near 
Aberdeen, South Dakota

Natural gas & 
Liquid Fuel 100.0% 80

Beethoven Wind Project, located near Tripp, South 
Dakota Wind 100.0% 80
Neal Electric Generating Unit No. 4, located near 
Sioux City, Iowa

Sub-bituminous 
coal 8.7% 56

Coyote I Electric Generating Station, located near 
Beulah, North Dakota Lignite coal 10.0% 43

Miscellaneous combustion turbine units and small 
diesel units (used only during peak periods)

Combination of 
fuel oil and 
natural gas 100.0% 25

Total   395

The Big Stone, Coyote and Neal plants are owned jointly with unaffiliated parties. Each of the jointly owned plants is 
subject to a joint management structure, and we are not the operator of any of these plants. Based on our ownership interest, we 
are entitled to a proportionate share of the capacity of our jointly owned plants and are responsible for a proportionate share of 
the operating costs. 

The fuel for our jointly owned base-load generating plants is provided through supply contracts of various lengths with 
several coal companies. Coyote is a mine-mouth generating facility. Neal #4 and Big Stone receive their fuel supply via rail. 
The average delivered cost by type of fuel burned varies between generation facilities due to differences in transportation costs 
and owner purchasing power for coal supply. Changes in our fuel costs are passed on to customers through the operation of the 
fuel adjustment clause in our South Dakota tariffs.

Resource Planning

We have a resource plan that includes estimates of customer usage and programs to provide for the economic, reliable and 
timely supply of energy. We continue to update our load forecast to identify the future electric energy needs of our customers, 
and we evaluate additional generating capacity requirements on an ongoing basis. 

We submitted a plan to the SDPUC in 2018 to provide for the modernization of our generating fleet, which is focused on 
improving reliability and flexibility. Based on the results of associated competitive solicitation processes, we are currently 
constructing the 58 MW Bob Glanzer Plant. This plant, which is expected to be in service in the second quarter of 2022, 
includes flexible reciprocating internal combustion engines at a brownfield site near Huron, South Dakota, with an estimated 
construction cost of approximately $80 million. We expect to file an updated resource plan in late 2022.

 
NATURAL GAS OPERATIONS

Montana

Our regulated natural gas utility business in Montana includes production, storage, transmission and distribution. During 
2021, we distributed natural gas to approximately 206,600 customers in 118 Montana communities over a system that consists 
of approximately 4,900 miles of underground distribution pipelines. We also serve several smaller distribution companies that 
provide service to approximately 37,000 customers. We transmit natural gas in Montana from production receipt points and 
storage facilities to distribution points and other nonaffiliated transmission systems. We transported natural gas volumes of 
approximately 44 Bcf during the year ended December 31, 2021.

Miles of Natural Gas Transmission  2,166 

Miles of Natural Gas Distribution  4,945 

City Gate Stations  138 

16



 We have connections in Montana with four major, unaffiliated transmission systems: Williston Basin Interstate Pipeline, 
NOVA Gas Transmission Ltd., Colorado Interstate Gas, and Spur Energy. Twelve compressor sites provide more than 38,000 
horsepower on the transmission line and an additional 15,000 horsepower at our storage fields, capable of moving more than 
350,000 dekatherms per day. In addition, we own and operate two transmission pipelines through our subsidiaries, Canadian-
Montana Pipe Line Corporation and Havre Pipeline Company, LLC.

Natural gas is used primarily for residential and commercial heating, and as fuel for two electric generating facilities. The 
demand for natural gas largely depends upon weather conditions. Our Montana retail natural gas supply requirements for the 
year ended December 31, 2021, were approximately 20.8 Bcf. Our Montana natural gas supply requirements for electric 
generation fuel for the year ended December 31, 2021, were approximately 4.2 Bcf. We have contracted with several major 
producers and marketers with varying contract durations to provide the anticipated supply to meet ongoing requirements. Our 
natural gas supply requirements are fulfilled through third-party fixed-term purchase contracts, short-term market purchases and 
owned production. Our portfolio approach to natural gas supply is intended to enable us to maintain a diversified supply of 
natural gas sufficient to meet our supply requirements. We benefit from direct access to suppliers in significant natural gas 
producing regions in the United States, primarily the Rocky Mountains (Colorado), Montana, and Alberta, Canada.

Owned Production and Storage - Since 2010, we have acquired gas production and gathering system assets as a part of an 
overall strategy to provide rate stability and customer value: as we own these assets, which are regulated, our customers are 
protected from potential price spikes in the market. As of December 31, 2021, these owned reserves totaled approximately 
38.8 Bcf and are estimated to provide approximately 3.3 Bcf in 2022, or about 15 percent of our expected annual retail natural 
gas load in Montana. In addition, we own and operate three working natural gas storage fields in Montana with aggregate 
working gas capacity of approximately 17.85 Bcf and maximum aggregate daily deliverability of approximately 203,400 
dekatherms. 

South Dakota and Nebraska

We provide natural gas to approximately 48,600 customers in 62 South Dakota communities and approximately 42,800 
customers in three Nebraska communities. In South Dakota, we also transport natural gas for nine gas-marketing firms and 
three large end-user accounts. In Nebraska, we transport natural gas for four gas-marketing firms and one large end-user 
account. We delivered approximately 30.0 Bcf of third-party transportation volume on our South Dakota distribution system 
and approximately 3.7 Bcf of third-party transportation volume on our Nebraska distribution system during 2021.

Miles of Natural Gas Transmission  55 

Miles of Natural Gas Distribution  2,517 

Our South Dakota natural gas supply requirements for the year ended December 31, 2021, were approximately 5.6 Bcf. We 
contract with a third party under an asset management agreement to manage transportation and storage of supply to minimize 
cost and price volatility to our customers. In Nebraska, our natural gas supply requirements for the year ended December 31, 
2021, were approximately 4.2 Bcf. We contract with a third party under an asset management agreement that includes pipeline 
capacity, supply, and asset optimization activities. To supplement firm gas supplies in South Dakota and Nebraska, we contract 
for firm natural gas storage services to meet the heating season and peak day requirements of our customers. 

Municipal Natural Gas Franchise Agreements - We have municipal franchises to provide natural gas service in the 
communities we serve. The terms of the franchises vary by community. Our Montana franchises typically have a fixed 10-year 
term and continue for additional 10-year terms unless and until canceled, with 5 years notice. The maximum term permitted 
under Nebraska law for these franchises is 25 years while the maximum term permitted under South Dakota law is 20 years. 
Our policy generally is to seek renewal or extension of a franchise in the last year of its term. We continue to serve those 
customers while we obtain formal renewals. During the next five years, seven of our Montana franchises could expire by action 
taken by the city or town, which account for approximately 89,534 or 21.7 percent of our Montana natural gas customers. Five 
of our South Dakota franchises and one franchise in Nebraska, which account for approximately 25,900 or 28 percent of our 
South Dakota and Nebraska natural gas customers, are scheduled to reach the end of their fixed term during the next five years. 
We do not anticipate termination of any of these franchises.
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GOVERNMENT REGULATION

NorthWestern’s provision of utility service is regulated by the MPSC, the SDPUC, the NPSC, and the FERC. 
NorthWestern is also regulated by many other state and federal agencies. For example, because NorthWestern’s operations 
impact land, waterways and the air, NorthWestern is subject to a wide range of regulations administered by the federal 
Environmental Protection Agency, the U.S. Fish & Wildlife Service, and parallel state agencies regulating environmental and 
natural resources in Montana, South Dakota and Nebraska. Another example relates to NorthWestern’s provision of natural gas 
service. The U.S. Department of Transportation through the Pipeline and Hazardous Materials Safety Administration, along 
with its state partners, regulates natural gas pipeline and natural gas storage field safety. As a publicly-traded company, we are 
subject to the SEC’s requirements regarding financial reporting, disclosures, and laws and regulations protecting investors. We 
are subject to the Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA), which regulates workplace safety. We are also 
subject to local zoning laws and regulations.

As detailed below, the rates we charge our utility customers are set through approval by the regulatory commission with 
jurisdiction in each of our respective service territories. Base rates are the rates that are intended to allow us the opportunity to 
collect from our customers total revenues (revenue requirements) equal to our cost of providing delivery and rate-based supply 
services, plus a reasonable rate of return on invested capital. We have both electric and natural gas base rates and cost tracking 
clauses. We may ask the respective regulatory commission to increase base rates from time to time. Rate increases are normally 
granted based on historical data and those increases may not always keep pace with increasing costs. For more information on 
current regulatory matters, see Note 3 - Regulatory Matters, to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

The following is a summary of our rate base (amounts we earn a return on) and authorized rates of return in each 
jurisdiction, estimated as of December 31, 2021: 

Jurisdiction and Service
Implementation 

Date

Authorized 
Rate Base 
(millions)

Estimated 
Rate Base 
(millions)

Authorized 
Overall 
Rate of 
Return

Authorized 
Return on 

Equity

Authorized 
Equity 
Level

Montana electric delivery and 
production(1) April 2019 $2,030.1 $2,596.5 6.92% 9.65% 49.38%
Montana - Colstrip Unit 4 April 2019 304.0 270.1 8.25% 10.00% 50.00%
Montana natural gas delivery 
and production(2) September 2017 430.2 536.7 6.96% 9.55% 46.79%
   Total Montana $2,764.3 $3,403.3
South Dakota electric(3) December 2015 $557.3 $635.8 7.24% n/a n/a
South Dakota natural gas(3) December 2011 65.9 80.8 7.80% n/a n/a
   Total South Dakota $623.2 $716.6
Nebraska natural gas(3) December 2007 $24.3 $39.5 8.49% 10.40% n/a

$3,411.8 $4,159.4
 _____________________

(1) The revenue requirement associated with the FERC regulated portion of Montana electric transmission and 
ancillary services are included as revenue credits to our MPSC jurisdictional customers. Therefore, we do not separately 
reflect FERC authorized rate base or authorized returns.

(2) The Montana gas revenue requirement includes a step down which approximates annual depletion of our natural 
gas production assets included in rate base.

(3) For those items marked as "n/a," the respective settlement and/or order was not specific as to these terms.

MPSC Regulation

Our Montana operations are subject to the jurisdiction of the MPSC with respect to rates, terms and conditions of service, 
accounting records, electric service territorial issues and other aspects of our operations, including when we issue, assume, or 
guarantee securities in Montana, or when we create liens on our regulated Montana properties. We have an obligation to 
provide service to our customers with an opportunity to earn a regulated rate of return. 

Electric Supply Tracking Mechanism - The Power Cost and Credit Adjustment Mechanism (PCCAM) tracks, for recovery 
through utility rates, the cost of power purchased and fuel used to generate electricity. The PCCAM incorporates sharing of a 
portion of the business risk or benefit associated with the energy supply costs with 90 percent of the variance above or below 
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the established base revenues and actual costs collected from or refunded to customers. Customer prices may be adjusted 
annually to absorb the difference for the annual tracking period. Annual filings are based on a July through June 12-month 
tracking period, and are subject to review by the MPSC to determine if electric supply procurement activities were prudent. If 
the MPSC subsequently determines that a procurement activity was imprudent, recovery of such costs may be disallowed. 

Natural Gas Supply Tracker - Rates for our Montana natural gas supply are set by the MPSC. Certain supply rates are 
adjusted on a monthly basis for volumes and costs during each July to June 12-month tracking period. Annually, supply rates 
are adjusted to include any differences between the previous tracking year's revenues and expenses for recovery during the 
subsequent tracking year. We submit annual natural gas tracker filings for the actual 12-month period ended June 30 and for the 
projected supply costs for the next 12-month period. The MPSC reviews such filings and makes its cost recovery determination 
based on whether or not our natural gas energy supply procurement activities were prudent. If the MPSC subsequently 
determines that a procurement activity was imprudent, recovery of such costs may be disallowed. 

Montana Property Tax Tracker - We file an annual property tax tracker (including other state/local taxes and fees) with 
the MPSC for an automatic rate adjustment, which reflects the incremental property taxes since our last base rate filing adjusted 
for the associated income tax benefit.

Fixed Cost Recovery Mechanism Pilot - In our 2018 Montana electric rate settlement, the MPSC approved a Fixed Cost 
Recovery Mechanism Pilot (FCRM), intended to decouple our recovery of fixed, test-year based transmission, distribution, and 
production costs from sales of energy. At our request, the MPSC delayed implementation of the pilot to July 1, 2022. The 
FCRM is expected to function over a four-year pilot period, applying primarily to residential customers.

 
SDPUC Regulation

Our South Dakota operations are subject to SDPUC jurisdiction with respect to rates, terms and conditions of service, 
accounting records, electric service territorial issues and other aspects of our electric and natural gas operations. Our retail 
electric rates, approved by the SDPUC, provide several options for residential, commercial and industrial customers, including 
dual-fuel, interruptible, special all-electric heating, and other special rates. Our retail natural gas tariffs include gas 
transportation rates for transportation through our distribution systems by customers and natural gas marketers from the 
interstate pipelines at which our systems take delivery to the end-user. Such transporting customers nominate the amount of 
natural gas to be delivered daily. On a daily basis, we monitor usage for these customers and balance it against their respective 
supply agreements. 

An electric adjustment clause provides for quarterly adjustment based on differences in the delivered cost of energy, 
delivered cost of fuel, ad valorem taxes paid and commission-approved fuel incentives. The adjustment goes into effect upon 
filing, and is deemed approved within 10 days after the information filing unless the SDPUC staff requests changes during that 
period. A purchased gas adjustment provision in our natural gas rate schedules permits the monthly adjustment of charges to 
customers to reflect increases or decreases in purchased gas, gas transportation and ad valorem taxes. 

NPSC Regulation
 

Our Nebraska natural gas rates and terms and conditions of service for residential and smaller commercial customers are 
regulated by the NPSC. High volume customers are not subject to such regulation, but can file complaints if they allege 
discriminatory treatment. Under the Nebraska State Natural Gas Regulation Act, a regulated natural gas utility may propose a 
change in rates to its regulated customers, if it files an application for a rate increase with the NPSC and with the communities 
in which it serves customers. The utility may negotiate with those communities for a settlement with regard to the proposed rate 
change if the affected communities representing more than 50 percent of the affected ratepayers agree to direct negotiations, or 
it may proceed to have the NPSC review the filing and make a determination. Our tariffs have been approved by the NPSC, and 
the NPSC has adopted certain rules governing the terms and conditions of service of regulated natural gas utilities. Our retail 
natural gas tariffs provide residential, general service and commercial and industrial options, as well as firm and interruptible 
transportation service. A purchased gas adjustment clause provides for adjustments based on changes in gas supply and 
interstate pipeline transportation costs.

 
FERC Regulation
 

We are subject to FERC's jurisdiction and regulations with respect to rates for electric transmission service and electricity 
sold at wholesale, hydro licensing and operations, the issuance of certain securities, incurrence of certain long-term debt, and 
compliance with mandatory reliability standards, among other things. Under FERC's open access transmission policy 
promulgated in Order No. 888, as owners of transmission facilities, we are required to provide open access to our transmission 
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facilities under filed tariffs at cost-based rates. In addition, we are required to comply with FERC's Standards of Conduct for 
Transmission Providers. 

Our Montana wholesale transmission customers, such as cooperatives, industrial customers, and other customers that have 
third-party commodity supply providers, are served under our OATT, which is on file with FERC. The OATT defines the 
terms, conditions, and rates of our Montana transmission service, including ancillary services. Our South Dakota transmission 
operations are in the SPP, and transmission service is provided under the SPP OATT. 

Our natural gas transportation pipelines are generally not subject to FERC's jurisdiction, although we are subject to state 
regulation. We conduct limited interstate transportation in Montana and South Dakota that is subject to FERC jurisdiction, and 
FERC has allowed the MPSC and SDPUC to set the rates for this interstate service. We have capacity agreements in South 
Dakota and Nebraska with interstate pipelines that are also subject to FERC jurisdiction.

Our hydroelectric generating facilities are licensed by the FERC and operated under the terms of those licenses and FERC 
regulations. In connection with the relicensing of these generating facilities, applicable law permits the FERC to issue a new 
license to the existing licensee, to a new licensee, or alternatively allows the U.S. government to take over the facility. If the 
existing licensee is not relicensed, it is compensated for its net investment in the facility, not to exceed the fair value of the 
property taken, plus reasonable severance damages to other property affected by the lack of relicensing. 

Reliability Standards - We must comply with the standards and requirements that apply to the NERC functions for which 
we have registered in both the MRO for our South Dakota operations and the WECC for our Montana operations. WECC and 
the MRO have responsibility for monitoring and enforcing compliance with the FERC-approved mandatory reliability standards 
within their respective regions. We expect that the reliability standards will continue to evolve and change as a result of 
modifications, guidance, and clarification following industry implementation and ongoing audits and enforcement. 

COMPETITION

We are subject to public policies that promote competition and development of energy markets. Our industrial and large 
commercial customers have the ability to choose their electric supplier and may generate their own electricity. In addition, 
customers may have the option of substituting other fuels or relocating their facilities to a lower cost region. Customers have 
the opportunity to supply their own power with distributed generation including solar generation, and in Montana, can currently 
avoid paying for most of the fixed production, transmission and distribution costs incurred to serve them. These incentives and 
federal tax subsidies make distributed generating resources viable potential competitors to our electric service business. 

In addition, the FERC has continued to promote competitive wholesale markets through open access transmission and other 
means. Our wholesale customers can purchase their output from generation resources of competing suppliers or non-contracted 
quantities and use the transmission systems to serve their load. There is also competition for available transmission capacity to 
meet our electric supply needs to serve customers.

 

ENVIRONMENTAL

The operation of electric generating, transmission and distribution facilities, and gas gathering, storage, transportation and 
distribution facilities, along with the development (involving site selection, environmental assessments, and permitting) and 
construction of these assets, are subject to extensive federal, state, and local environmental and land use laws and regulations. 
Our activities involve compliance with diverse laws and regulations that address emissions and impacts to the environment, 
including air and water, and protection of natural resources and wildlife. We monitor federal, state, and local environmental 
initiatives to determine potential impacts on our financial results. As new laws or regulations are issued, we assess their 
applicability and implement the necessary modifications to our facilities or their operation to maintain ongoing compliance.

To this end, the Biden Administration set ambitious goals to address climate change, including the goal of a carbon free 
power sector by 2035 and net zero carbon emissions by 2050. Executive Orders issued by the Biden Administration included 
initiatives and directives intended to reduce greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions, address climate change and decarbonize the 
energy sector. These Executive Orders established climate considerations as key components of United States foreign policy 
and national security, established a White House Office of Domestic Climate policy as well as a National Climate Task Force, 
called for agency heads to identify any fossil fuel subsidies provided by their agencies and to take steps to ensure that federal 
funding is not directly subsidizing fossil fuels, and directed agencies to immediately review all regulations proposed or finalized 
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by the Trump Administration that conflict with the Biden Administration’s objectives and to take action to rescind or revise 
those rules. Months later, President Biden officially rejoined the Paris Accord. More recently, President Biden's proposed Build 
Back Better legislation contains significant climate initiatives.

Implementation of these initiatives and directives has the potential to limit or curtail our operations, including the burning 
of fossil fuels at our coal-fired power plants. While we strive to comply with all environmental regulations applicable to our 
operations, it is not possible to determine when or to what extent additional facilities or modifications of existing or planned 
facilities will be required as a result of changes to energy and environmental laws and regulations, or new administrative or 
judicial interpretations or enforcement decisions regarding them.

Estimated capital expenditures for environmental control facilities in 2022 and 2023 are not expected to be material. For 
more information on environmental regulations and contingencies and related capital expenditures, see Note 18 - Commitments 
and Contingencies, to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

CORPORATE INFORMATION AND WEBSITE

We were incorporated in Delaware in November 1923. Our Internet address is https://www.northwesternenergy.com. Our 
Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those 
reports, along with our annual report to shareholders and other information related to us, are available, free of charge, on our 
Internet website as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file those documents with, or otherwise furnish them 
to, the SEC. This information is available in print to any shareholder who requests it. Requests should be directed to: Investor 
Relations, NorthWestern Corporation, 3010 W. 69th Street, Sioux Falls, South Dakota 57108 and our telephone number is 
(605) 978-2900. References to our website in this report are provided as a convenience and do not constitute, and should not be 
viewed as, an incorporation by reference of the information contained on, or available through, the website. Therefore, such 
information should not be considered part of this report.

HUMAN CAPITAL RESOURCES

Our ability to achieve the objectives of our business strategy and serve our customers within our service territory depends 
on employing skilled individuals at all levels of our organization. We aspire to be an employer of choice by offering 
competitive salaries and benefits, providing a safe working environment, valuing diversity, fostering inclusion and encouraging 
a healthful work–life balance. Our success comes when employees feel empowered to take initiative, voice their opinions, and 
build on their experiences within our company and our communities.

As of December 31, 2021, we had 1,483 employees. Of these, 1,187 employees were in Montana and 296 were in South 
Dakota or Nebraska. Of our Montana employees, 440, or 37 percent, were covered by seven collective bargaining agreements 
involving five unions. Due to the continuing impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, we negotiated a one-year contract extension 
with a wage proposal for six Montana contracts that were expiring in 2021. All seven of the Montana contracts expire in 2022 
and we expect them to be renegotiated. Of our South Dakota and Nebraska employees, 165, or 56 percent, are covered by a 
collective bargaining agreement renegotiated in 2021 that expires in 2025. We consider our relations with employees to be 
good. 

Talent Management

Attraction and retention of skilled employees is key to our ongoing success. We invest resources in maintaining a culture 
that supports the ongoing development of our workforce. This includes an integrated learning and performance management 
system which includes annual performance reviews that link goals and competencies together so that managers are able to 
provide a holistic view to employees in regards to their performance against goals as well as key competencies as they relate to 
their role in the organization. This process provides opportunities to develop and enhance skills and knowledge, and enables our 
employees to grow professionally and perform their duties in a safe and efficient manner. This structured training and 
development is intended to provide employees a consistent learning experience, and maximizes learning retention and 
background knowledge. We offer tuition reimbursement to promote continued professional growth for current employees, and a 
scholarship program for students attending universities, colleges, and technical schools in our service area to assist in 
developing current and future skills sets needed by our employees. We support annual Pre-apprentice scholarships, recruit and 
hire suitable candidates from the program, serve as industry advisors on the program board and have donated training assets to 
support the program. 
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Compensation

Our overarching compensation philosophy is structured to be consistent with our peers, and to align the long term interests 
of our employees, executives, shareholders, and customers so the pay appropriately reflects performance in achieving financial 
and non-financial operating objectives. 

We are committed to internal pay equity, and the Human Resources Committee of the Board of Directors monitors the 
relationship between the pay our executive officers receive and the pay our non-managerial employees receive. During 2021 
and 2020, the compensation for our CEO was approximately 28 and 25 times, respectively, the compensation of our median 
employee.

We believe that a significant portion of an executive’s pay should be at risk in the form of performance-based incentive 
awards that are only paid if the individual and company performance targets are met. For 2021, approximately 79 percent of the 
targeted compensation of our CEO and about 63 percent of the targeted compensation of our other named executive officers is 
at risk in the form of performance-based incentive awards. Our Board of Directors establishes the metrics and targets for these 
incentive awards, based upon advice from the Board of Directors’ independent compensation consultant.

We engage nationally recognized outside compensation and benefits consulting firms to independently evaluate the 
effectiveness of our compensation and benefits programs and to provide benchmarking against our peers within the industry. 

Diversity

 We believe a diverse and inclusive workforce adds value to our company and helps us succeed in an ever-changing 
environment. By embracing diversity and fostering inclusion, we aim to enable each employee, executive, and director to 
contribute fully to the company. We believe diversity is important because varied perspectives expand our ability to bring 
unique professional experiences to our business. Diversity in the workforce will be considered when relevant to hiring, 
promotions, work assignments, or other decisions related to the terms and conditions of employment. Our workforce reflects the 
relative diversity of our available talent in the communities we serve. Our employment data is tested annually by a third party as 
part of our Affirmative Action plan development to identify any needed corrective placement goals that are required. This 
testing determined that there is no current need to establish corrective placement goals in our plan.

Of our total workforce, 28 percent of our employees are female, and 26 percent of our employees in management positions 
are female, including four of our nine executive officers. Additionally, 2020 Women on Boards has previously recognized our 
gender diversity, with three females among our eight directors who sit on our board. We have implemented methods to provide 
pay equity between our female and male employees performing equal or substantially similar work. We have engaged with a 
third party to review our pay equity between our male and female employees, share the results with our Board of Directors, and 
take corrective action as necessary. Our most recent study was performed in 2019, with no corrective action required. 

Health and Safety

As stewards of critical infrastructure, providers of energy service, and members of the communities we serve, our priority 
is the health and safety of our employees and customers. Safety and health are considered and integrated into all work activities. 
We monitor several different key areas relating to safety to review and evaluate our operations, to measure progress, and to 
enhance compliance with our safety philosophies and policies. These key metrics include the recordable incident rate (number 
of work-related injuries per 100 employees for a one-year period) and lost time incident rate (number of employees who lost 
time due to work-related injuries per 100 employees for a one-year period). During the years ended December 31, 2021 and 
December 31, 2020 our recordable incident rates were 1.64 and 1.36 and lost time incident rates were 0.46 and 0.39 on a 
company wide basis. Our five-year average safety record for the year ended December 31, 2021 was better than our industry 
peer group's five-year average. 

COVID-19

In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, we implemented a variety of protocols to help slow the spread of the virus, protect 
both our employees and the communities we serve, and enable us to continue to provide our customers with safe and reliable 
energy service. This effort, which has continued throughout the pandemic, provides safety and health measures to keep our 
employees on the job and able to perform their duties.

Specifically, we adopted benefit programs to provide additional paid time off due to pandemic related absences to 
encourage employees to remain home from work if sick. During the pandemic, we have not had to lay off or furlough any 
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employees. Personal protective equipment was procured and remains available, and enhanced facility cleaning and sanitation 
protocols have been implemented. We made arrangements for employees that are able to do so to work remotely, and we 
continue to support this practice as the pandemic progresses. We continue to encourage mask wearing and physical distancing 
as some employees have strategically returned to main work locations. We continue to contact trace employee illnesses to 
minimize exposure to co-workers, and employees consistently receive a “Covid Briefing” and other communication tools to 
keep them informed.
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INFORMATION ABOUT OUR EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

Executive Officer Current Title and Prior Employment Age(1)

Robert C. Rowe Chief Executive Officer and Director since February 2021; formerly President, Chief 
Executive Officer and Director since August 2008. Mr. Rowe also serves on the board of 
directors of a NorthWestern subsidiary.

66

Brian B. Bird President and Chief Operating Officer since February 2021; formerly Chief Financial Officer 
since December 2003. Mr. Bird serves on the board of directors of a NorthWestern 
subsidiary.

59

Crystal D. Lail Vice President and Chief Financial Officer since February 2021; formerly Vice President and 
Chief Accounting Officer since April 2020; and formerly Vice President and Controller since 
October 2015.

43

Michael R. Cashell Vice President - Transmission since May 2011. Mr. Cashell serves on the board of directors 
of a NorthWestern subsidiary.

59

Heather H. Grahame Vice President - General Counsel and Regulatory and Federal Government Affairs since 
January 2018; formerly Vice President and General Counsel since August 2010. 

66

John D. Hines Vice President - Supply and Montana Government Affairs since January 2018; formerly Vice 
President - Supply since May 2011.

63

Curtis T. Pohl Vice President - Distribution since May 2011. Mr. Pohl serves on the board of directors of a 
NorthWestern subsidiary.

57

Bobbi L. Schroeppel Vice President - Customer Care, Communications and Human Resources since May 2009. 53

Jeanne M. Vold Vice President - Technology since February 2021; formerly Business Technology Officer 
since 2012.

55

(1) As of February 4, 2022.

Officers are elected annually by, and hold office at the pleasure of the Board of Directors (Board), and do not serve a “term 
of office” as such.
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ITEM 1A.  RISK FACTORS 

You should carefully consider the risk factors described below, as well as all other information available to you, before 
making an investment in our common stock or other securities. Although the risks are organized by heading, and each risk is 
described separately, many of the risks are interrelated. You should not interpret the disclosure of any risk factor to imply that 
the risk has not already materialized. While we believe we have identified and discussed below the key risk factors affecting our 
business, there may be additional risks and uncertainties that are not presently known or that are not currently believed to be 
significant that may adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations or cash flows in the future.

Regulatory, Legislative and Legal Risks
 
Our profitability is dependent on our ability to recover the costs of providing energy and utility services to our 
customers and earn a return on our capital investment in our utility operations. We are subject to potential unfavorable 
state and federal regulatory outcomes. To the extent our incurred costs are deemed imprudent by the applicable 
regulatory commissions or certain regulatory mechanisms are not available, we may not recover some of our costs or 
collect them in a timely manner, which could adversely impact our results of operations and liquidity.

We provide service at rates established by several regulatory commissions. Rates are generally set through a process called 
a rate review (or rate case) in which the utility commission analyzes our costs incurred during a historical test year and decides 
whether they may be included in our rates. Rate reviews can be highly contested proceedings. There is no guarantee that the 
costs we seek to recover in future rates will be allowed. There is also typically a significant lag between the time we incur a cost 
and recover that cost in rates.

In addition to rate cases, our cost tracking mechanisms are a significant component of how we recover our costs. Trackers 
can also be highly contested dockets and, as with a rate case, there is no guarantee that the applicable regulatory commission 
will approve our request to recover costs. We have recently received, and may in the future receive, unfavorable rulings from 
the MPSC. For example, on December 2, 2021, the MPSC issued a final order rejecting our request to reset the PCCAM Base 
revenue amount outside of a formal rate case, which means that we will likely continue to under-collect our power costs until 
we are allowed to update the PCCAM Base in a rate case. There can be no assurance that the MPSC will allow recovery of 
costs in the future, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial results.

Rate regulation is premised on providing an opportunity to earn a reasonable rate of return on invested capital. There can 
be no assurance that the applicable regulatory commission will judge all of our costs to have been prudently incurred or that the 
regulatory process in which rates are determined will result in rates that allow us the opportunity to earn our authorized return 
or provide for timely and full recovery of such costs. In addition, each regulatory commission sets rates based in part upon their 
acceptance of an allocated share of total utility costs. When commissions adopt different methods to calculate inter-
jurisdictional cost allocations, some costs may not be recovered. For instance, our Montana electric utility is regulated by the 
MPSC and the FERC. Differing schedules and regulatory practices between the MPSC and FERC expose us to the risk that we 
may not recover our costs due to timing of filings, specific calculations and issues such as cost allocation methodologies. Thus, 
the rates we are allowed to charge may or may not match our costs at any given time. Adverse regulatory rulings could have an 
adverse impact on our results of operations and materially affect our ability to meet our financial obligations, including debt 
payments and the payment of dividends on our common stock.

Before we added Colstrip Unit 4, DGGS, hydroelectric and Spion Kop electric generation resources to our electric 
generation supply portfolio, we received a determination from the MPSC that these acquisitions were in the public interest and 
approval for cost recovery, subject to a prudence review. This advance approval process is established in Montana's 
"preapproval" statute. On May 28, 2021, a non-profit environmental advocacy organization, together with three individuals, 
filed suit in Montana District Court (Missoula) seeking a declaratory judgement that the Montana preapproval statute is 
unconstitutional. The case is fully briefed and we expect a decision from the court by the end of the first quarter of 2022. If the 
preapproval statute is found unconstitutional, there will be no explicit statutory mechanism that facilitates advanced approval of 
generating resource selection. Preapproval can affect credit ratings by reducing risk. The less risk that NorthWestern is 
perceived to face, the stronger its credit rating. An MPSC decision granting preapproval reduces risk and often ultimately 
results in lower debt costs and lower rates paid by customers. A decision by the MPSC also enables NorthWestern to take a 
more orderly approach to financing, which can also result in lower debt costs that benefit customers. The MPSC provides 
comments on our resource plan that we file every two to three years, but it does not provide a review and approval of this 
planning. 
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We are subject to changing federal and state laws and regulations. Congress and state legislatures may enact legislation 
that adversely affects our operations and financial results.

We are subject to regulations under a wide variety of U.S. federal and state regulations and policies. Regulation affects 
almost every aspect of our business. Changes to federal and state laws and regulations are continuous and ongoing and the 
federal administration, the U.S. Congress, state legislatures and state administrations may enact and implement new laws and 
regulations that could adversely and materially affect us. There can be no assurance that laws, regulations and policies will not 
be changed in ways that result in significant impacts to our business. We cannot predict future changes in laws and regulations, 
how they will be implemented and interpreted, or the ultimate effect that this changing environment will have on us. Any 
changes may have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows.

We are subject to extensive and changing energy, and environmental laws and regulations, including legislative and 
regulatory responses to climate change, with which compliance may be difficult and costly.

Our operations are subject to laws and regulations imposed by federal, state and local government authorities regarding 
energy policy, climate change, the environment, air and water quality, GHG emissions, protection of natural resources, 
migratory birds and other wildlife, solid waste disposal, coal ash and other environmental considerations. We believe that we 
are in compliance with environmental regulatory requirements.

However, laws and regulations to which we must adhere change, and the Biden Administration’s agenda represents a 
significant shift in environmental and energy policy, focusing on reducing GHG emissions and addressing climate change 
issues. This new direction is reflected in several Executive Orders that President Biden issued in January 2021 and subsequent 
executive actions that have been undertaken, such as methane emission regulations recently proposed by the EPA or federally 
driven initiatives to promote electrification over the use of natural gas for domestic purposes.. Together, these orders and 
regulatory proposals reflect climate change issues and GHG reductions as central areas of focus for domestic and international 
regulations, orders and policies. In addition, a parallel focus on reducing GHG emissions is reflected in legislation introduced in 
Congress. Representative examples include legislation introduced in March 2021 in the U.S. House of Representatives, called 
the CLEAN Future Act, tax reforms, methane fees, the Clean Electricity Performance Program, and Build Back Better Act. We 
expect other legislation to be introduced and considered by the U.S. House and the U.S. Senate focusing on GHG emission 
reduction, environmental and energy policy.

These initiatives could lead to new and revised energy and environmental laws and regulations, including tax reforms 
relating to energy and environmental issues. Any such changes, as well as any enforcement actions or judicial decisions 
regarding those laws and regulations, could affect our costs and the manner in which we conduct our business and could require 
us to make substantial additional capital expenditures or abandon certain projects.

Although previous attempts by the EPA to regulate GHG emissions from coal-fired plants have not succeeded, it is widely 
expected that the Biden Administration and/or the U.S. Congress will develop alternative plans for reducing GHG emissions 
from coal-fired plants and methane emissions from natural gas operations as demonstrated by the recently proposed methane 
emission regulations from the EPA. As GHG and/or methane regulations are implemented, it could result in additional 
compliance costs that could affect our future results of operations and financial position if such costs are not recovered through 
regulated rates. Complying with the CO2 emission performance standards, and with other future environmental rules, may make 
it economically impractical to continue operating all or a portion of our jointly owned facilities or for individual owners to 
participate in their proportionate ownership of the coal-fired generating units. This could lead to significant impacts to customer 
rates for recovery of plant improvements and / or closure related costs and costs to procure replacement power. In addition, 
these changes could impact system reliability due to changes in generation sources.

To the extent that costs exceed our estimated environmental liabilities, or we are not successful in recovering remediation 
costs or costs to comply with the proposed or any future changes in rules or regulations, our results of operations and financial 
position could be adversely affected. Certain environmental laws and regulations also provide for substantial civil and criminal 
fines for noncompliance which, if imposed, could result in material costs or liabilities. 

In addition, there is a risk of environmental damage claims from private parties or government entities. We may be 
required to make significant expenditures in connection with the investigation and remediation of alleged or actual spills, 
personal injury or property damage claims, and the repair, upgrade or expansion of our facilities to meet future requirements 
and obligations under environmental laws. 

Early closure of our owned and jointly owned electric generating facilities due to environmental risks, litigation or 
public policy changes could have a material adverse impact on our results of operations and liquidity. 
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While a majority of our Company-wide electric supply portfolio is carbon-free, it does include fossil-fuel resources. 
Environmental advocacy groups, certain investors and other third parties oppose the operation of fossil-fuel generation, 
expressing concerns about the environmental and climate-related impacts from fossil fuels. This opposition may increase in 
scope and frequency depending on a number of variables, including the course of Federal and State laws and environmental 
regulations and the financial resources devoted to opposition efforts. These risks include litigation against us due to GHG or 
other emissions or coal combustion residuals disposal and storage; activist shareholder proposals; and increased activism before 
our regulators. We cannot predict the effect that any such opposition may have on our ability to operate and recover the costs of 
our generating facilities. In addition, defense costs associated with litigation can be significant and an adverse outcome could 
require substantial capital expenditures and could possibly require payment of substantial penalties or damages. Such payments 
or expenditures could affect results of operations, financial condition or cash flows if such costs are not recovered through 
regulated rates.

Early closure of our generation facilities due to economic conditions, environmental regulations and / or litigation could 
result in regulatory impairments, increased cost of operations and inability to serve our customers in periods of peak demand. If 
recovery of our remaining investment in such facilities and the costs associated with early closure, including decommissioning, 
remediation, reclamation, and restoration are not recovered from customers, it could have a material adverse impact on our 
results of operations. 

Colstrip - As part of the settlement of litigation brought by the Sierra Club and the Montana Environmental Information 
Center against the owners and operator of Colstrip, the owners of Units 1 and 2 agreed to shut down those units no later than 
July 2022. In January 2020, the owners of Units 1 and 2 closed those two units. We do not have ownership in Units 1 and 2, and 
decisions regarding those units, including their shut down, were made by their respective owners. The six owners of Units 3 and 
4 currently share the operating costs pursuant to the terms of the Ownership and Operation Agreement (O&O Agreement). 
Costs of common facilities were historically shared among the owners of all four units. With the closure of Units 1 and 2, we 
are incurring additional operating costs with respect to our interest in Unit 4 and may experience a negative impact on our 
transmission revenue due to reduced amounts of energy transmitted across our transmission lines. We would expect to 
incorporate any reduction in revenue in our next general electric rate filing, resulting in lower revenue credits to certain 
customers. 

The remaining depreciable life of our investment in Colstrip Unit 4 is through 2042. Recovery of costs associated with the 
closure of the facility is subject to MPSC approval. Three of the joint owners of Units 3 and 4 are subject to regulation in 
Washington and in May 2019, the Washington state legislature enacted a statute mandating Washington electric utilities to 
“eliminate coal-fired resources from [their] allocation of electricity” on or before December 31, 2025, after which date they 
may no longer include their share of coal-fired resources in their regulated electric supply portfolio. As a result of the 
Washington legislation, four of the six joint owners of Units 3 and 4 requested the operator prepare a 2021 budget reflecting 
closure of Units 3 and 4 by 2025, and alternately a closure of Unit 3 by 2025 and a closure of Unit 4 by 2027. Differing 
viewpoints on closure dates delayed approval of the 2021 budget, until it was approved on March 22, 2021. Budgeting for 2022 
was also initially delayed, with the same four joint owners demanding substantial budget reductions. Ultimately agreement was 
reached and a budget approved on January 21, 2022. Such budgeting pressures may result in future budgets that may not be 
sufficient to maintain the reliability of Units 3 and 4.

While we believe closure requires each owner’s consent, there are differences among the owners as to this issue under the 
O&O Agreement. On March 12, 2021, we initiated the Arbitration under the O&O Agreement (the Arbitration), which seeks to 
resolve the primary issue of whether closure of Units 3 and 4 can be accomplished without each joint owner's consent and to 
clarify the obligations of the joint owners to continue to fund operations until all joint owners agree on closure. 

The Arbitration has given rise to three lawsuits, concerning the number of arbitrators, the venue and the applicable 
arbitration laws. The four joint owners from the Pacific Northwest assert the Arbitration must be conducted under the O&O 
Agreement, with one arbitrator, in Spokane County, Washington, and pursuant to the Washington Arbitration Act. The fifth 
joint owner asserts the Arbitration must be conducted per the terms of Montana Senate Bill 265, which requires the Arbitration 
must be conducted, with three arbitrators, in Montana and pursuant to the Montana Uniform Arbitration Act. The three initiated 
lawsuits do not make direct financial demands, and instead, are intended to address issues related to process for the Arbitration.

Since the Arbitration was initiated, and despite the litigation, we have worked and continue to work with the other joint 
owners to arrive at an agreed upon process for the Arbitration.

In addition, we have joint ownership in and operate the associated 500 kV transmission system. The closure of generation 
at Colstrip may impact the operation of this 500 kV system, and the joint owners may have differing needs with regard to 
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ongoing operation of this system. The 500 kV transmission system is an integral, essential part of our overall transmission 
system in Montana in order to maintain reliability, regardless of the status of the generation facilities.

Increased risks of regulatory penalties could negatively impact our business.

We must comply with established reliability standards and requirements including Critical Infrastructure Protection 
Reliability Standards, which apply to North American Electric Reliability Corporation (NERC) functions. NERC reliability 
standards protect the nations’ bulk power system against potential disruptions from cyber and physical security breaches. The 
FERC, NERC, or a regional reliability organization may assess penalties against any responsible entity that violates their rules, 
regulations or standards. Penalties for the most severe violations can reach as high as approximately $1.2 million per violation, 
per day. If a serious reliability incident or other incidence of noncompliance did occur, it could have a material adverse effect 
on our operating and financial results.

Additionally, the Pipeline and Hazardous Materials Safety Administration, Occupational Safety and Health Administration 
and other federal or state agencies have penalty authority. In the event of serious incidents, these agencies have become more 
active in pursuing penalties. Some states have the authority to impose substantial penalties. If a serious reliability or safety 
incident did occur, it could have a material effect on our results of operations, financial condition or cash flows.

Federally mandated purchases of power from QFs, and integration of power generated from those projects in our 
system, may increase costs to our customers and decrease system reliability, limit our ability to make generation 
investments and adversely affect our business.

We are generally obligated under federal law to purchase power from certain QF projects, regardless of current load 
demand, availability of lower cost generation resources, transmission availability or market prices. These resources are 
primarily intermittent, non-dispatchable generation whose prices may be in excess of market prices during times of lower 
customer demand, and may not be able to generate electricity during peak times. These resources typically do not meet the 
requirements set forth in our supply plans for resource procurement. These requirements to purchase supply that is inconsistent 
with customer need may have several impacts, including increasing the likelihood and frequency that we will be required to 
reduce output from owned generation resources and that we will need to upgrade or build additional transmission facilities to 
serve QF projects. Either of these results would increase costs to customers. Further, balancing load and power generation on 
our system is challenging, and we expect that operational costs will increase as a result of integration of these intermittent, non-
dispatchable generation projects. If we are unable to timely recover those costs, those increased costs may negatively affect our 
liquidity, results of operations and financial condition.

In addition, requirements to procure power from these sources could impact our ability to make generation investments 
depending upon the number and size of QF contracts we ultimately enter into. The cost to procure power from these QFs may 
not be a cost effective resource for customers, or the type of generation resource needed, resulting in increased supply costs that 
are inconsistent with resource plans developed based on a lowest cost and least risk basis while placing upward pressure on 
overall customer bills. This may impact our investment plans and financial condition. Finally, the requirement to procure power 
from these QF sources may impact our transmission system and require additional transmission facilities to be developed in 
order to integrate these resources, which also can impact overall customer bills.
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Operational Risks
  
The COVID-19 pandemic, or similar widespread public health concern, could have a material negative impact on our 
business, financial condition and results of operations. 

The actual or perceived effects of a disease outbreak, epidemic, pandemic or similar widespread public health concern, 
such as COVID-19, will likely negatively affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. The COVID-19 
pandemic has had widespread impacts on people, economies, businesses and financial markets. 

The financial impact of the COVID-19 pandemic eased during 2021, but our financial results in 2020 were impacted by 
lower sales volumes, an increase in reserves for uncollectible accounts and an increase in interest expense, partly offset by 
lowering operating, general and administrative expense. The long-term impact of the COVID-19 pandemic is highly uncertain 
and subject to change, and also depends on factors beyond our knowledge or control, including the ultimate duration and 
severity of this outbreak, third-party actions taken to contain its spread and mitigate its public health effects, and possible 
federal or state legislative actions related to utility operations, including disconnect moratoriums, or additional economic 
stimulus packages.

While the COVID-19 pandemic has not caused material disruptions to our operations it, or a similar widespread public 
health concern, could in the future as a result of, among other things, quarantines, increased cyber risk due to employees 
working from home, worker absenteeism as a result of illness or other factors, social distancing measures and other travel, 
health-related, business or other restrictions. If a significant percentage of our workforce is unable to work, including because 
of illness, travel restrictions, or government mandates in connection with pandemics or disease outbreaks, our operations may 
be negatively affected. 

For similar reasons, the COVID-19 pandemic has caused adverse impacts on our suppliers, their manufacturers and the 
overall global supply chain. Accordingly, we have experienced areas of increased costs and delays in obtaining certain supplies 
and services timely. During the third quarter of 2021, we decided to discontinue our plans to build a 30-40 MW electric 
generation plant near Aberdeen, South Dakota as a result of significant increases in estimated construction cost as a result of 
global supply chain challenges.

National, state and local governments have responded to the COVID-19 pandemic in a variety of ways, including, without 
limitation, by declaring states of emergency, restricting people from gathering in groups or interacting within a certain physical 
distance (i.e., social distancing), and in certain cases, ordering businesses to close or limit operations or people to stay at home. 
While there has been a general easing of restrictions through 2021, there can be no guarantee that this trend will continue. 
Although we provide critical infrastructure services and are permitted to continue to operate in each of our jurisdictions, there 
may be restrictions imposed on how we operate, such as disconnect moratoriums. 

In addition, the Biden Administration is seeking to require broad categories of employees to be fully vaccinated against 
COVID-19 through an OSHA Emergency Temporary Standard (ETS), and through Executive Order 14042. The OSHA ETS 
provides, generally, that all employers with 100 or more employees require that all workers be vaccinated or undergo weekly 
COVID-19 testing. On January 13, 2022, the U.S. Supreme Court issued an order halting the ETS’s implementation and 
enforcement while the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Sixth Circuit reviews the ETS on its merits. On January 25, 2022, OSHA 
withdrew the ETS. Executive Order 14042 provides, generally, that federal agencies ensure that covered contracts and contract-
like instruments include a clause that the federal contractor and any subcontractor be fully vaccinated against COVID-19 and 
comply with other COVID-related requirements. The Executive Order did not apply to all government contracts and we 
determined that the Executive Order did not apply to ours. On December 7, 2021, the U.S. District Court for the Southern 
District of Georgia issued an injunction, halting the enforcement of this Executive Order nationwide and that determination has 
been appealed to the U.S. Court of Appeals for the 11th Circuit. On January 21, 2022, the U.S. District Court clarified its 
December 7, 2021 Order, stating that the injunction applies only to the vaccine mandate and not to other COVID-related 
requirements such as masking and social distancing. As the OSHA ETS has been withdrawn and Executive Order 14042 does 
not apply to our existing contracts, we are not required to implement either at this time. However, our obligation to comply with 
Executive Order 14042 could change in the future depending on the execution of new federal contracts and the ultimate 
resolution of court challenges to that Order. 

Any such workforce implications, significant supply chain disruptions, and / or limitations or closures impact our ability to 
achieve our capital investment program and could have a material adverse impact on our ability to serve our customers and on 
our business, financial condition and results of operations. 
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Our electric and natural gas operations involve numerous activities that may result in accidents, fires, system outages 
and other operating risks and costs that are unique to our industry.

Inherent in our electric transmission and distribution and natural gas transmission and distribution operations are a variety 
of hazards and operating risks, such as breakdown or failure of equipment or processes, interruptions in fuel supply, labor 
disputes, operator error, and catastrophic events such as fires, electric contacts, leaks, explosions, floods and intentional acts of 
destruction. For our natural gas lines located near populated areas, including residential areas, commercial business centers, 
industrial sites and other public gathering areas, the level of potential damages resulting from these risks could be significant. 
These risks could cause a loss of human life, facility shutdown or significant damage to property, loss of customer load, 
environmental pollution, impairment of our operations, and substantial financial losses to us and others. 

During peak-load periods our electric and natural gas systems in Montana are constrained. These constraints limit our 
ability to transmit electric energy within Montana and access electric energy from outside the service area. Our electric 
transmission facilities are also interconnected with those of third parties, and thus operation of these facilities could be 
adversely affected by unexpected or uncontrollable events. Our natural gas system is also constrained, which limits our on-
system deliverability and the ability to transport gas. We are similarly exposed to risk of interconnection with third-party 
pipelines and are dependent upon their operation to serve customers. These transmission constraints and events could result in 
failure to provide reliable service to customers due to the inability to deliver energy supply resources, or could result in 
significant cost increases due to the inability to access lower cost sources of energy supply.

Our electric distribution and transmission lines and facilities are exposed to many threats that may impact our 
infrastructure, as discussed above. These include severe weather, along with accidental and intentional acts that may cause our 
lines to fail. 

Fire risk is significant in the western United States, including in our service territory. Various factors in recent years have 
contributed to increasing fire risk including dead and dying trees, warmer air temperatures, drought, wind, forest management 
practices, and land management practices. These factors increase the risk of a fire either from trees or grasslands. In forested 
areas, this issue has been heightened by mountain pine beetle and other infestations weakening and killing trees in our service 
territory. Worsening conditions as a result of climate change may increase the likelihood and magnitude of damages that may 
be caused by fires. Residential and commercial development into the wildland-urban interface has also led to an increasing 
trend in the degree of destruction from wildfires.

Fires alleged to have been caused by our equipment potentially expose us to significant penalties and/or damage awards 
based on claims of strict liability, negligence, gross negligence, inverse condemnation, nuisance, trespass and others. Our 
equipment has been alleged to be involved in igniting wildfires although none have had a material adverse effect on our 
financial condition or results of operations. In November 2021, during high wind conditions, one of our electric lines sparked a 
grassland fire west of Denton, Montana. The fire burned across approximately 18 miles of grassland to the town of Denton 
where the fire ignited a grain elevator and burned over 25 homes and structures. There was no loss of life or reported injuries. 
We have fire insurance and, at this time, expect any claims arising from the Denton fire over our insurance retention to be 
covered by insurance.

For our electric generating facilities, operational risks include facility shutdowns due to breakdown or failure of equipment 
or processes, interruptions in fuel supply, labor disputes, operator error, catastrophic events such as fires, explosions, floods, 
and intentional acts of destruction or other similar occurrences affecting the electric generating facilities; and operational 
changes necessitated by environmental legislation, litigation or regulation. The loss of a major electric generating facility would 
require us to find other sources of supply or ancillary services, if available, and expose us to higher purchased power costs and 
potential litigation which may not be recovered from customers. 

We maintain insurance against some, but not all, of these risks and losses. The occurrence of any of these events not fully 
covered by insurance could have a material adverse effect on our financial position and results of operations. 

We may have difficulty cost-effectively completing certain operations activities and construction projects due to 
inflationary pressures or if our third-party business partners are unable to deliver ordered supplies or complete 
contracted services timely, including workforce shortages or macro supply chain disruptions.

We place significant reliance on our third-party business partners to supply materials, equipment and labor necessary for us 
to operate our utility and reliably serve current customers and future customers. As a result of current macroeconomic 
conditions, both nationally and globally, we have recently experienced issues with our supply chain for materials and 
components used in our operations and capital project construction activities. Issues include higher prices, scarcities/shortages, 
longer fulfillment times for orders from our suppliers, workforce availability, and wage increases. Should these economic 
conditions and issues continue, we could have difficulty completing the operations activities necessary to serve our customers 
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safely and reliably, and/or achieving our capital investment program, which ultimately could result in higher customer utility 
rates, longer outages, and could have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition and operations. During the 
third quarter of 2021, we discontinued our plans to build a 30-40 MW electric generation plant near Aberdeen, South Dakota as 
a result of significant increases in estimated construction cost as a result of global supply chain challenges, and recorded a $1.6 
million pre-tax charge for the write-off of preliminary construction costs.

Cyber and physical attacks, threats of terrorism and catastrophic events that could result from terrorism, or individuals 
and/or groups attempting to disrupt our business, or the businesses of third parties, may affect our operations in 
unpredictable ways and could adversely affect our liquidity and results of operations. Failure to maintain the security of 
personally identifiable information could adversely affect us. 

Business Operations - We are subject to the potentially adverse operating and financial effects of terrorist acts and threats, 
as well as cyber attacks, physical security breaches and other disruptive activities of individuals or groups, and theft of our 
critical infrastructure information. Our generation, transmission and distribution facilities are deemed critical infrastructure and 
provide the framework for our service infrastructure. Cyber crime, which includes the use of malware, phishing attempts, 
computer viruses, and other means for disruption or unauthorized access has increased in frequency, scope, and potential impact 
in recent years. Our assets and the information technology systems on which they depend could be direct targets of, or 
indirectly affected by, cyber attacks and other disruptive activities, including those that impact third party facilities that are 
interconnected to us. Any significant interruption of these assets or systems could prevent us from fulfilling our critical business 
functions including delivering energy to our customers, and sensitive, confidential and other data could be compromised.

Security threats continue to evolve and adapt and the risk of cyber-based attacks is heightened with many of our 
employees working and accessing our technology infrastructure remotely as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. We and our 
third-party vendors have been subject to, and will likely continue to be subject to, attempts to gain unauthorized access to 
systems, to confidential data, or to disrupt operations. With the continuing rise in ransomware and other cyber-based threats we 
have been analyzing our technology platforms and monitoring for signs of potential intrusions. We have also been reaching out 
to our vendors, suppliers and contractors requesting that they take appropriate measures. None of these attempts has 
individually or in the aggregate resulted in a security incident with a material impact on our financial condition or results of 
operations. However, despite implementation of security and control measures, there can be no assurance that we will be able to 
prevent the unauthorized access of our systems and data, or the disruption of our operations, either of which could have a 
material impact. 

These events, and governmental actions in response, could result in a material decrease in revenues and significant 
additional costs to repair and insure assets, and could adversely affect our operations by contributing to the disruption of 
supplies and markets for electricity, natural gas, oil and other fuels. These events could also impair our ability to raise capital by 
contributing to financial instability and reduced economic activity.

Personally Identifiable Information - Our information systems and those of our third-party vendors contain confidential 
information, including information about customers and employees. Customers, shareholders, and employees expect that we 
will adequately protect their personal information. The regulatory environment surrounding information security and privacy is 
increasingly demanding. A data breach involving theft, improper disclosure, or other unauthorized access to or acquisition of 
confidential information could subject us to penalties for violation of applicable privacy laws, claims by third parties, and 
enforcement actions by government agencies. It could also reduce the value of proprietary information, and harm our 
reputation. 

We maintain insurance against some, but not all, of these risks and losses. The occurrence of any of these events not fully 
covered by insurance could have a material adverse effect on our financial position and results of operations.

Weather and weather patterns, including normal seasonal and quarterly fluctuations of weather, as well as extreme 
weather events that might be associated with climate change, could adversely affect our ability to manage our 
operational requirements to serve our customers, and ultimately adversely affect our results of operations and liquidity.

Our electric and natural gas utility business is seasonal, and weather patterns can have a material impact on our financial 
performance. Demand for electricity and natural gas is often greater in the summer and winter months associated with cooling 
and heating. Because natural gas is heavily used for residential and commercial heating, the demand for this product depends 
heavily upon weather patterns throughout our market areas, and a significant amount of natural gas revenues are recognized in 
the first and fourth quarters related to the heating season. Accordingly, our operations have historically generated less revenue 
and income when weather conditions are milder in the winter and cooler in the summer. Unusually mild winters or cool 
summers could adversely affect our results of operations and financial position. In addition, exceptionally hot summer weather 
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or unusually cold winter weather could add significantly to working capital needs to fund higher than normal supply purchases 
to meet customer demand for electricity and natural gas. Our sensitivity to weather volatility is significant due to the absence of 
regulatory mechanisms, such as those authorizing revenue decoupling, lost margin recovery, and other innovative rate designs. 

Severe weather impacts, including but not limited to, blizzards, thunderstorms, high winds, microbursts, fires, tornadoes 
and snow or ice storms can disrupt energy generation, transmission and distribution. We derive a significant portion of our 
energy supply from hydroelectric facilities, and the availability of water can significantly affect operations. Higher temperatures 
may decrease the Montana snowpack and impact the timing of run-off and may require us to purchase replacement power. Dry 
conditions, which exist in the West and in our service territory, also increase the threat of fires, which could threaten our 
communities and electric distribution and transmission lines and facilities. In addition, fires that are alleged to have been caused 
by our system could expose us to substantial property damage and other claims. Any damage caused as a result of fires could 
negatively impact our financial condition, results of operations or cash flows. 

There is also a concern that the physical risks of climate change could include changes in weather conditions, such as 
changes in the amount or type of precipitation and extreme weather events. Climate change and the costs that may be associated 
with its impacts have the potential to affect our business in many ways, including increasing the cost incurred in providing 
electricity and natural gas, impacting the demand for and consumption of electricity and natural gas (due to change in both costs 
and weather patterns), and affecting the economic health of the regions in which we operate. 

Extreme weather conditions, especially those of prolonged duration, create high energy demand on our own and/or other 
systems and increase the risk we may be unable to reliably serve customers, causing brownouts and/or blackouts of our electric 
systems, and loss of gas supply. Risk of losing electricity or gas supply during extreme weather carries significant consequences 
as without our services our customers may be subjected to dire circumstances. Additionally, extreme weather conditions may 
raise market prices as we buy short-term energy to serve our own system. To the extent the frequency of extreme weather 
events increase, this could increase our cost of providing service. In addition, we may not recover all costs related to mitigating 
these physical and financial risks.

Our electric and natural gas portfolios rely significantly on market purchases. This exposure adversely affects our 
ability to manage our operational requirements to reliably serve our customers, while exposing us to market volatility, 
which ultimately could adversely affect our results of operations and liquidity.

We are obligated to supply power to retail customers and certain wholesale customers and procure natural gas to supply 
fuel for our natural gas fired generation. Our need to acquire flexible energy supply and capacity in the market to meet our 
electric and natural gas load serving obligations exposes us to certain risks including the ability to reliably serve customers and 
significant uncertainty in the cost of supply, which may not be recoverable. We rely upon a combination of base-load supply 
from our owned generation and market purchases to serve customers. The accredited capacity of our Montana portfolio of 
owned and long-term contracted electric generation resources covers 70 percent of our recent peak electric requirements, with 
remaining needs, including additional reserve margin, served through market purchases. Montana has been a net exporter of 
electric generation and we have relied upon Montana's excess generation for grid reliability and to physically serve customers. 
A significant number of base-load generation facilities, which may also serve to meet peak requirements, in the state and region 
have been retired or are scheduled to be retired in the next five to ten years. This includes Colstrip Units 1 and 2, representing 
614 MWs of generation on a capacity basis, which ceased operations in January 2020. A decrease in the state and region’s 
electric capacity may impair the reliability of the grid, particularly during peak demand periods. There can be no assurance that 
there will be available counterparties to contract with to serve our customers' needs, or that these counterparties will fulfill their 
obligations to us. There is also no assurance that the transmission capacity required to import market purchases will be available 
on transmission systems owned by us or by third parties. In addition, the suppliers under these agreements may experience 
financial or operational problems that inhibit their ability to fulfill their obligations to us. These conditions could result in an 
inability to physically deliver electricity to our customers. Losing electric service during extreme conditions carries significant 
consequences, as without our services our customers may be subjected to dire circumstances.

Commodity pricing is an inherent risk component of our business operations and our financial results. Even though rate 
regulation is premised on full recovery of prudently incurred costs and a reasonable rate of return on invested capital, there can 
be no assurance that our costs are recoverable as discussed above. The prevailing market prices for electricity may fluctuate 
substantially over relatively short periods of time, potentially adversely impacting our results of operations, financial condition 
and cash flows due to our need for market purchases and the sharing component of the Montana PCCAM. During 2021, market 
prices for electricity and natural gas in peak periods were increasingly volatile, resulting in a significant under collection of 
these costs impacting our results of operations and cash flows.
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In addition, our natural gas system serves both retail customers and the needs of natural gas fired electric generation. The 
natural gas system has capacity constraints that expose us to risks to be able to deliver natural gas during periods of peak 
demand.

Fluctuations in actual weather conditions, generation availability, transmission constraints, and generation reserve margins 
may all have an impact on market prices for energy and capacity and the electricity consumption of our customers on a given 
day. Extreme weather conditions may force us to purchase electricity in the short-term market on days when weather is 
unexpectedly severe, and the pricing for market energy may be significantly higher on such days than the cost of electricity in 
our existing generation and contracts. Unusually mild weather conditions could leave us with excess power which may be sold 
in the market at a loss if the market price is lower than the cost of electricity in our existing contracts.

Our revenues, results of operations and financial condition are impacted by customer growth and usage in our service 
territories and may fluctuate with current economic conditions or response to price increases. We are also impacted by 
market conditions outside of our service territories related to demand for transmission capacity and wholesale electric 
pricing.

Our revenues, results of operations and financial condition are impacted by customer growth and usage, which can be 
impacted by a number of factors, including the voluntary reduction of consumption of electricity and natural gas by our 
customers in response to increases in prices and demand-side management programs, economic conditions impacting decreases 
in their disposable income, and the use of distributed generation resources or other emerging technologies for electricity. 
Advances in distributed generation technologies that produce power, including fuel cells, micro-turbines, wind turbines and 
solar cells, may reduce the cost of alternative methods of producing power to a level competitive with central power station 
electric production. Customer-owned generation itself reduces the amount of electricity purchased from utilities and may have 
the effect of inappropriately increasing rates generally and increasing rates for customers who do not own generation, unless 
retail rates are designed to collect distribution grid costs across all customers in a manner that reflects the benefit from their use. 
Such developments could affect the price of energy, could affect energy deliveries as customer-owned generation becomes 
more cost-effective, could require further improvements to our distribution systems to address changing load demands and 
could make portions of our electric system power supply and transmission and/or distribution facilities obsolete prior to the end 
of their useful lives. Such technologies could also result in further declines in commodity prices or demand for delivered 
energy. 

Decreasing use per customer (driven, for example, by appliance and lighting efficiency) and the availability of cost-
effective distributed generation, put downward pressure on load growth. Our most recent resource plans include an expected 
annual load growth assumption of 0.4 percent in Montana and 0.7 percent in South Dakota, which reflects low customer and 
usage increases, offset in part by these load reduction measures. Reductions in usage, attributable to various factors could 
materially affect our results of operations, financial position, and cash flows through, among other things, reduced operating 
revenues, increased operating and maintenance expenses, and increased capital expenditures, as well as potential asset 
impairment charges or accelerated depreciation and decommissioning expenses over shortened remaining asset useful lives.

Demand for our Montana transmission capacity fluctuates with regional demand, fuel prices and weather related 
conditions. The levels of wholesale sales depend on the wholesale market price, market participants, transmission availability, 
the availability of generation, and the ongoing development of the Western Energy Imbalance Market, among other factors. 
Declines in wholesale market price, availability of generation, transmission constraints in the wholesale markets, or low 
wholesale demand could reduce wholesale sales. These events could adversely affect our results of operations, financial 
position and cash flows.

Liquidity and Financial Risks
 
Our plans for future expansion through the acquisition of assets, capital improvements to existing assets, generation 
investments, and transmission grid expansion involve substantial risks.

Our business strategy includes significant investment in capital improvements and additions to modernize existing 
infrastructure, generation investments and transmission capacity expansion. The completion of generation and natural gas 
investments and transmission projects are subject to many construction and development risks, including, but not limited to, 
risks related to permitting, financing, regulatory recovery, escalating costs of materials and labor, meeting construction budgets 
and schedules, and environmental compliance. In addition, these capital projects may require a significant amount of capital 
expenditures. We cannot provide certainty that adequate external financing will be available to support such projects. 
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Additionally, borrowings incurred to finance construction may adversely impact our leverage, which could increase our cost of 
capital.

Acquisitions include a number of risks, including but not limited to, regulatory approval, regulatory conditions, additional 
costs, the assumption of material liabilities, the diversion of management’s attention from daily operations to the integration of 
the acquisition, difficulties in assimilation and retention of employees, and securing adequate capital to support the transaction. 
The regulatory process in which rates are determined may not result in rates that produce full recovery of our investments, or a 
reasonable rate of return. Uncertainties also exist in assessing the value, risks, profitability, and liabilities associated with 
certain businesses or assets and there is a possibility that anticipated operating and financial synergies expected to result from 
an acquisition do not develop. The failure to successfully integrate future acquisitions that we may choose to undertake could 
have an adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

We must meet certain credit quality standards. If we are unable to maintain investment grade credit ratings, our 
liquidity, access to capital and operations could be materially adversely affected.

A downgrade of our credit ratings to less than investment grade could adversely affect our liquidity. Moody’s Investors 
Service placed us on negative outlook in our 2021 review process. Certain of our credit agreements and other credit 
arrangements with counterparties require us to provide collateral in the form of letters of credit or cash to support our 
obligations if we fall below investment grade. Also, a downgrade below investment grade could hinder our ability to raise 
capital on favorable terms and would increase our borrowing costs. Higher interest rates on borrowings with variable interest 
rates could also have an adverse effect on our results of operations. 

Poor investment performance of plan assets of our defined benefit pension and postretirement benefit plans, in addition 
to other factors impacting these costs, could unfavorably impact our results of operations and liquidity.

Our costs for providing defined benefit retirement and postretirement benefit plans are dependent upon a number of 
factors. Assumptions related to future costs, return on investments and interest rates have a significant impact on our funding 
requirements related to these plans. These estimates and assumptions may change based on economic conditions, actual stock 
market performance and changes in governmental regulations. Without sustained growth in the plan assets over time and 
depending upon interest rate changes as well as other factors noted above, the costs of such plans reflected in our results of 
operations and financial position and cash funding obligations may change significantly from projections.

Our obligation to include a minimum annual quantity of power in our Montana electric supply portfolio at an agreed 
upon price per MWH could expose us to material commodity price risk if certain QFs under contract with us do not 
perform during a time of high commodity prices, as we are required to make up the difference. In addition, we are 
subject to price escalation risk with one of the largest QF contracts.

As part of a stipulation in 2002 with the MPSC and other parties, we agreed to include a minimum annual quantity of 
power in our Montana electric supply portfolio at an agreed upon price per MWH through June 2029. This obligation is 
reflected in the electric QF liability, which reflects the unrecoverable costs associated with these specific QF contracts per the 
stipulation. The annual minimum energy requirement is achievable under normal operations of these facilities, including normal 
periods of planned and forced outages. However, to the extent the supplied power for any year does not reach the minimum 
quantity set forth in the settlement, we are obligated to purchase the difference from other sources. The anticipated source for 
any shortfall is the wholesale market, which would subject us to commodity price risk if the cost of replacement power is higher 
than contracted rates.

In addition, we are subject to price escalation risk with one of the largest contracts included in the electric QF liability due 
to variable contract terms. In recording the electric QF liability, we estimated an annual escalation rate of three percent over the 
remaining term of the contract (through June 2024). To the extent the annual escalation rate exceeds three percent, our results of 
operations, cash flows and financial position could be adversely affected.
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ITEM 1B.  UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None

ITEM 2.  PROPERTIES

Our material properties include electric generating facilities, electric transmission and distribution lines, and natural gas 
production, transmission and distribution lines, which are described in Item 1 under Electric Operations and Natural Gas 
Operations. Substantially all of our Montana electric and natural gas assets are subject to the lien of our Montana First 
Mortgage Bond indenture. Substantially all of our South Dakota and Nebraska electric and natural gas assets are subject to the 
lien of our South Dakota Mortgage Bond indenture. 

ITEM 3.  LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We discuss details of our legal proceedings in Note 18 - Commitments and Contingencies, to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements. Some of this information is about costs or potential costs that may be material to our financial results.

ITEM 4.  MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

None
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Part II

ITEM 5.  MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND 
ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Our common stock, which is traded under the ticker symbol NWE, is listed on the Nasdaq Stock Market. As of February 4, 
2022, there were approximately 1,166 common stockholders of record.

ITEM 6. [RESERVED]
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ITEM 7.  MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF 
OPERATIONS

The following includes a discussion of our results of operations and cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2021 
compared to the year ended December 31, 2020, on both a consolidated basis and on a segment basis. For a discussion of our 
financial results and cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2020 compared with the year ended December 31, 2019, see 
Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations in our Annual Report on Form 10-K 
for the year ended December 31, 2020.

This discussion should be read in conjunction with our Consolidated Financial Statements and related notes contained 
elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. For additional information related to our segments, see Note 20 - Segment and 
Related Information, to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Non-GAAP Financial Measure

The following discussion includes financial information prepared in accordance with GAAP, as well as another financial 
measure, Utility Margin, that is considered a “non-GAAP financial measure.” Generally, a non-GAAP financial measure is a 
numerical measure of a company’s financial performance, financial position or cash flows that excludes (or includes) amounts 
that are included in (or excluded from) the most directly comparable measure calculated and presented in accordance with 
GAAP. We define Utility Margin as Operating Revenues less fuel, purchased supply and direct transmission expense (exclusive 
of depreciation and depletion) as presented in our Consolidated Statements of Income. This measure differs from the GAAP 
definition of Gross Margin due to the exclusion of Operating and maintenance, Property and other taxes, and Depreciation and 
depletion expenses, which are presented separately in our Consolidated Statements of Income. The following discussion 
includes a reconciliation of Utility Margin to Gross Margin, the most directly comparable GAAP measure.

Management believes that Utility Margin provides a useful measure for investors and other financial statement users to 
analyze our financial performance in that it excludes the effect on total revenues caused by volatility in energy costs and 
associated regulatory mechanisms. This information is intended to enhance an investor's overall understanding of results. Under 
our various state regulatory mechanisms, as detailed below, our supply costs are generally collected from customers. In 
addition, Utility Margin is used by us to determine whether we are collecting the appropriate amount of energy costs from 
customers to allow recovery of operating costs, as well as to analyze how changes in loads (due to weather, economic or other 
conditions), rates and other factors impact our results of operations. Our Utility Margin measure may not be comparable to that 
of other companies' presentations or more useful than the GAAP information provided elsewhere in this report. 

OVERVIEW

NorthWestern Corporation, doing business as NorthWestern Energy, provides electricity and/or natural gas to 
approximately 753,600 customers in Montana, South Dakota Nebraska, and Yellowstone National Park. As you read this 
discussion and analysis, refer to our Consolidated Statements of Income, which present the results of our operations for 2021, 
2020 and 2019. Following is a discussion of our strategy and significant trends.

We are working to deliver safe, reliable and innovative energy solutions that create value for customers, communities, 
employees and investors. This includes bridging our history as a regulated utility safely providing low-cost and reliable service 
with our future as a globally-aware company offering a broader array of services performed by highly-adaptable and skilled 
employees. We seek to deliver value to our customers by providing high reliability and customer service, and an 
environmentally sustainable generation mix at an affordable price. The energy landscape is changing and we are committed to 
meeting the changing demands of our customers through continued investment to enhance reliability, security and safety, grid 
modernization, and integrate even more renewables, while meeting our growing demand for capacity. We are focused on 
delivering long-term shareholder value through: 

• Infrastructure investment focused on a stronger and smarter grid to improve the customer experience, while enhancing 
grid reliability and safety. This includes automation in customer meters, distribution and substations that enables the 
use of proven new technologies.

• Investing in and integrating supply resources that balance reliability, cost, capacity, and sustainability considerations 
with more predictable long-term commodity prices. 
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• Continually improving our operating efficiency. Financial discipline is essential to earning our authorized return on 
invested capital and maintaining a strong balance sheet, stable cash flows, and quality credit ratings.

We expect to pursue these investment opportunities and manage our business in a manner that allows us to be flexible in 
adjusting to changing economic conditions by adjusting the timing and scale of the projects. 

In 2021, approximately 56 percent of our retail needs originated from carbon-free resources, compared to approximately 40 
percent for the total U.S. electric power industry. In December 2019, we announced a commitment to reduce the carbon 
intensity of our electric energy portfolio for Montana by 90 percent by 2045 as compared with our 2010 carbon intensity as a 
baseline. Since 2010, we have already reduced the carbon intensity of our energy generation in Montana by more than 50 
percent. Further, as part of our continued efforts in environmental stewardship, we are developing a comprehensive company-
wide carbon reduction plan we intend to announce during 2022. Our vision for the future builds on the progress we have made, 
including our hydroelectric system in Montana, which is 100 percent carbon free and is readily available capacity. For us, wind 
generation is a close second and continues to grow. While utility-scale solar energy has not been a significant portion of our 
energy mix today, we recently entered into two 80-megawatt solar power purchase agreements with two projects that are 
expected to begin delivering energy to our Montana customers in 2022. We expect solar to further evolve along with advances 
in energy storage. We are committed to working with our customers and communities to help them achieve their sustainability 
goals and add new technology on our system. 

 HOW WE PERFORMED IN 2021 COMPARED TO OUR 2020 RESULTS

Consolidated net income in 2021 was $186.8 million as compared with $155.2 million in 2020. This increase was primarily 
due to higher Montana transmission loads and rates, favorable weather, higher commercial demand as compared to the prior 
period which was impacted by COVID-19 pandemic related shutdowns, the prior period disallowance of supply costs, and a 
favorable electric QF liability adjustment as compared with the prior period, partly offset by higher operating costs, non-
recoverable Montana electric supply costs, and income tax expense.

Year Ended December 31, 2021 vs. 2020

Income Before 
Income Taxes

Income Tax 
Benefit 

(Expense) Net Income
(in millions)

Year ended December 31, 2020 $ 144.2 $ 11.0 $ 155.2 
Items increasing (decreasing) net income:

Higher Montana electric transmission revenue  25.1  (6.4)  18.7 
Higher electric retail volumes  17.1  (4.3)  12.8 
Prior period disallowance of supply costs  9.4  (2.4)  7.0 
Electric QF liability adjustment  4.4  (1.1)  3.3 
Higher Montana natural gas volumes  1.3  (0.3)  1.0 
Higher income tax expense  —  (2.1)  (2.1) 
Higher operating costs impacting net income  (15.0)  3.8  (11.2) 
Higher depreciation and depletion  (7.8)  2.0  (5.8) 
Higher non-recoverable Montana electric supply costs  (5.3)  1.3  (4.0) 
Other  16.8  (4.9)  11.9 

Year ended December 31, 2021 $ 190.2 $ (3.4) $ 186.8 
Change in Net Income $ 31.6 
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SIGNIFICANT TRENDS AND REGULATION

Electric Resource Planning - Montana

A shortage of critical 24/7 power capacity resources is jeopardizing reliability in the Western United States. The accredited 
capacity of our Montana portfolio of owned and long-term contracted electric generation resources covered approximately 70 
percent of our 2021 peak electric requirements, with the remaining capacity shortfall, including reserve margin, covered 
through market purchases. A significant number of base-load generation facilities in the state and region have been retired or 
are scheduled to be retired in the next several years, which may impair grid and customer service reliability and increase 
volatility in market prices. Accordingly, our continued exposure to market purchases is an increasing risk to the availability and 
affordability of service for our Montana customers. 

Future Integrated Resource Planning - We expect to submit an updated integrated resource plan by the end of 2022 or 
early 2023, followed by an all-source competitive solicitation request for capacity available in 2026. Due to the significant 
impact of our ownership in Colstrip Unit 4 to the capacity available in our portfolio, the outcome in the arbitration amongst the 
co-owners (See Note 18 - Commitments and Contingencies) may affect the timing of the submission of this plan. 

We remain concerned regarding an overall lack of capacity in the region and our resource adequacy deficit in the near term 
based on our projections of load by 2025, as a risk to customer reliability and affordability. As such, in addition to the 300 
MWs (325 MWs nameplate) of accredited capacity additions resulting from the prior integrated resource plan as discussed 
below, we have reduced our exposure to our projected 725 MW shortfall of accredited capacity by 2025 through a combination 
of executing short and medium term cost-competitive agreements for 225 MWs of existing capacity in the region. We also 
expect to have an incremental 200 MWs of capacity resource additions in this period through a combination of new and 
renewed QF contracts and increases to the forecasted capacity accreditation of existing intermittent resources. This reduction of 
risk in the near term allows for clarity on the Colstrip arbitration, further development in the western markets, and ongoing 
technological changes.

January 2020 Request for Proposal (RFP) - To help meet our critical power capacity and peak demands, as a result of our 
all-source competitive solicitation request for long-term capacity resources we entered into contracts for 325 MWs of 
dispatchable capacity resources. These contracts include:

• A 5-year power purchase agreement for 100 MWs of firm capacity and energy products originating predominately 
from the British Columbia Hydro system starting in January 2023 (Powerex Transaction);

• A 20-year agreement to purchase capacity and ancillary services produced from the 50 MW Beartooth Battery project 
near Billings, Montana, expected to be online by late 2023 or early 2024; and

• Contracts for the construction of a nameplate capacity 175 MW natural gas-fired generation plant in Montana, at a cost 
of approximately $275 million, including AFUDC, which we will own. 

We initially filed an application with the MPSC for advanced approval to construct the 175 MW generation plant in 
Montana. We subsequently made the difficult decision to withdraw our application in order to meet the targeted commercial 
operation date of the plant. The upheaval in the construction market and, specifically, timely availability of critical components 
and escalating labor and construction costs due to the COVID-19 pandemic, necessitates the flexibility to expend capital and 
make commercial decisions in advance of the timeline established by the MPSC approval docket. The schedule is expected to 
allow the plant to serve our Montana customers during the 2023-2024 winter season.

On October 21, 2021, the Montana Environmental Information Center and the Sierra Club filed a lawsuit in Montana State 
Court, against the Montana Department of Environmental Quality (MTDEQ) and us, alleging the environmental review of our 
Yellowstone County plant site project was unlawful. This lawsuit could delay the project if the Montana State Court were to 
require a full Environmental Impact Study regarding the project, set aside the air quality permit granted for the Yellowstone 
County project, or determine that the underlying environmental statute violates the Montana Constitutional guarantee of a 
“clean and healthful environment.”

On December 21, 2021, we filed an application with the MPSC for preapproval of the Beartooth Battery agreement as a 
new capacity resource. This agreement is contingent upon MPSC approval of our application. The MPSC has not yet 
established a procedural schedule in this docket but we anticipate an MPSC decision in the fourth quarter of 2022. Our 
application is subject to the risk of the District Court agreeing with the plaintiffs in the litigation challenging the 
constitutionality of the preapproval statute. 
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Electric Resource Supply - South Dakota

Construction on our new Bob Glanzer Generating Station is nearing completion. The 58 MW natural gas plant in Huron, 
South Dakota is expected to be online early in the second quarter of 2022 with total construction costs of approximately $80 
million ($77.8 million incurred through December 31, 2021). 

During the third quarter of 2021, we discontinued our plans to build a 30-40 MW natural gas plant near Aberdeen, South 
Dakota. Originally expected to be a $60 million project to be in service early in 2024, we were experiencing significant 
increases in estimated construction cost as a result of global supply chain challenges. As a result of the project discontinuance, 
we recorded a $1.6 million pre-tax charge for the write-off of preliminary construction costs. Our energy resource plans 
continue to identify portfolio requirements including potential investments resulting from a completed competitive solicitation 
process in South Dakota. We expect to file an updated integrated resource plan in late 2022.

Impact of Fuel and Purchase Power Costs

Montana PCCAM - In April 2021, we submitted a filing with the MPSC requesting approval to increase the PCCAM Base 
forecasted costs used to develop rates for the recovery of electric power costs by approximately $17 million, or potentially a 
greater increase to reflect current market prices and new capacity contracts. On June 29, 2021, the MPSC approved our request 
for interim rates reflecting the $17 million increase, subject to refund. The Montana Consumer Counsel (MCC) filed a motion 
arguing that the PCCAM Base cannot be updated except in a general rate case and asked the MPSC to dismiss the application. 
On October 5, 2021, the MPSC voted to grant the MCC’s motion to dismiss and on December 2, 2021, the MPSC issued a final 
order dismissing our application. 

In 2021, PCCAM costs exceeded base revenues by approximately $54.1 million, which are allocated 90% to Montana 
customers and 10% to shareholders. As a result, we deferred $48.7 million of costs during 2021 to be collected from customers 
(90% of the costs above base) and recorded a reduction in pre-tax earnings of $5.4 million (10% of the variance). These 
increased costs are not reflected in customer bills and recovered until the subsequent power cost adjustment year, adversely 
affecting our cash flows and liquidity. We expect to address an adjustment to the PCCAM base in our upcoming Montana 
electric general rate filing.

Regulatory Update

General Rate Filing – Rate cases are necessary to recover the cost of providing safe, reliable service, while contributing to 
earnings growth and achieving our financial objectives. We regularly review the need for electric and natural gas rate relief in 
each state in which we provide service. We anticipate making a Montana electric general rate filing (2021 test year) in 
mid-2022. 

FERC Financial Audit - We are subject to FERC’s jurisdiction and regulations with respect to rates for electric 
transmission service in interstate commerce and electricity sold at wholesale rates, the issuance of certain securities, and 
incurrence of certain long-term debt, among other things. The Division of Audits and Accounting in the Office of Enforcement 
of FERC has initiated a routine audit of NorthWestern Corporation for the period of January 1, 2018 to the present to evaluate 
our compliance with FERC accounting and financial reporting requirements. We have responded to several sets of data requests 
as part of the audit process. An audit report has not yet been received from FERC, but is expected during the first quarter of 
2022. Management is unable to predict the outcome or timing of the final resolution of the audit.

Supply Chain Challenges

We place significant reliance on our third-party business partners to supply materials, equipment and labor necessary for us 
to operate our utility and reliably serve current customers and future customers. As a result of current macroeconomic 
conditions, both nationally and globally, we have recently experienced issues with our supply chain for materials and 
components used in our operations and capital project construction activities. Issues include higher prices, scarcities/shortages, 
longer fulfillment times for orders from our suppliers, workforce availability, and wage increases. Should these conditions 
continue, we could have difficulty completing the operations activities necessary to serve our customers safely and reliably, 
and/or achieving our capital investment program, which ultimately could result in higher customer utility rates, longer outages, 
and could have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition and operations. 

See "Electric Resource Supply - South Dakota" section above for discussion of supply chain challenges that have already 
impacted our business activities. Also, as we developed our forecast of capital expenditures, we estimate that these supply chain 
challenges have, thus far, increased our 2022 capital spend by approximately 2 percent, and it may go higher.
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Financing Activities

We anticipate financing our ongoing maintenance and capital programs with a combination of cash flows from operations, 
first mortgage bonds and equity issuances. See "Liquidity and Capital Resources" for additional information regarding our debt 
and equity financing activities. Financing plans are subject to change, depending on capital expenditures, regulatory outcomes, 
internal cash generation, market conditions and other factors.

Fire Mitigation

With changing weather conditions which include more significant wind events, drought conditions, and warmer air 
temperatures, we do not consider the fire season specific to a time of year, but rather a condition that may exist at any time of 
year. Each year’s weather conditions impact these situations differently: early season rains encourage plant growth which fuels 
fires later in the growing season, and winters with little snow leave dry plant material available for late season fires. The threat 
is not only in forested areas, where insect infestations and resulting tree death has been severe, but across the entire system 
including rural areas where grassland fires could be ignited, along with urban areas where extreme weather conditions pose a 
great risk to heavily populated areas. 

Recognizing the risk of significant wildfires in Montana, we are proactively seeking to mitigate wildfire risk through 
development of a comprehensive Fire Mitigation Plan addressing four key areas: situational awareness, operational practices, 
system assessment repair and hardening programs, and public safety and communications. This plan builds upon several key 
initiatives that were initiated and executed over the past several years including our transmission and distribution system 
infrastructure programs and our hazard tree removal program. Because of ever-increasing wildfire risk, our plan includes 
greater focus on situational awareness to monitor changing environmental conditions, operational practices that are more 
reactive to changing conditions, increased frequency of patrol and repairs, and more robust system hardening programs that 
target higher risk segments in our transmission and distribution systems. We expect to include a request for costs associated 
with the plan in our 2022 Montana electric rate filing. 

41



SIGNIFICANT INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENTS AND INITIATIVES

Our estimated capital expenditures for the next five years, including our electric and natural gas transmission and 
distribution and electric generation infrastructure investment plan, are as follows (in millions):

Electric Supply Resource Plans - Our energy resource plans identify portfolio resource requirements including potential 
investments. As a result of a competitive solicitation process in Montana, we have included approximately $275 million of 
capital in our projections above to construct a 175 MW natural gas plant to be on line during the 2023 or 2024 winter season. 

Distribution and Transmission Modernization and Maintenance - The primary goals of our infrastructure investments are 
to reverse the trend in aging infrastructure, maintain reliability, proactively manage safety, build capacity into the system, and 
prepare our network for the adoption of new technologies. We are taking a proactive and pragmatic approach to replacing these 
assets while also evaluating the implementation of additional technologies to prepare the overall system for smart grid 
applications. Beginning in 2021, and continuing through 2025, we expect to install automated metering infrastructure in 
Montana at a total cost of approximately $125 million, of which, $100 million remains and is reflected in the five year capital 
forecast above.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Our consolidated results include the results of our divisions and subsidiaries constituting each of our business 
segments. The overall consolidated discussion is followed by a detailed discussion of utility margin by segment.

Factors Affecting Results of Operations

Our revenues may fluctuate substantially with changes in supply costs, which are generally collected in rates from 
customers. In addition, various regulatory agencies approve the prices for electric and natural gas utility service within their 
respective jurisdictions and regulate our ability to recover costs from customers.

Revenues are also impacted by customer growth and usage, the latter of which is primarily affected by weather. Very 
cold winters increase demand for natural gas and to a lesser extent, electricity, while warmer than normal summers increase 
demand for electricity, especially among our residential and commercial customers. We measure this effect using degree-
days, which is the difference between the average daily actual temperature and a baseline temperature of 65 degrees. 
Heating degree-days result when the average daily temperature is less than the baseline. Cooling degree-days result when 
the average daily temperature is greater than the baseline. The statistical weather information in our regulated segments 
represents a comparison of this data.

Fuel, purchased supply and direct transmission expenses are costs directly associated with the generation and 
procurement of electricity and natural gas. Among the most significant of these costs are those associated with fuel, 
purchased power, natural gas supply, and transmission expense. These costs are generally collected in rates from customers 
and may fluctuate substantially with market prices and customer usage. 

Operating and maintenance expenses are costs associated with the ongoing operation of our vertically-integrated utility 
facilities which provide electric and natural gas utility products and services to our customers. Among the most significant 
of these costs are those associated with direct labor and supervision, repair and maintenance expenses, and contract 
services. These costs are normally fairly stable across broad volume ranges and therefore do not normally increase or 
decrease significantly in the short term with increases or decreases in volumes.
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OVERALL CONSOLIDATED RESULTS

Year Ended December 31, 2021 Compared with Year Ended December 31, 2020 

Consolidated net income in 2021 was $186.8 million as compared with $155.2 million in 2020, an increase of $31.6 
million. As described in more detail below, this increase was primarily due to higher Montana transmission loads and rates, 
favorable weather, higher commercial demand as compared to the prior period due to the COVID-19 pandemic related 
shutdowns, the prior period disallowance of supply costs, and a favorable electric QF liability adjustment as compared with 
the prior period, partly offset by higher operating costs, non-recoverable Montana electric supply costs, and income tax 
expense.

Consolidated gross margin in 2021 was $377.7 million as compared with $330.3 million in 2020, an increase of $47.4 
million, or 14.4 percent. This increase was primarily due to higher Montana transmission loads and rates, favorable 
weather, higher commercial demand as compared to the prior period due to the COVID-19 pandemic related shutdowns, 
the prior period disallowance of supply costs, a favorable electric QF liability adjustment as compared with the prior 
period, and lower property and other taxes, partly offset by higher operating and maintenance expense, depreciation and 
depletion, and Montana non-recoverable electric supply costs. 

Electric Natural Gas Total
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

(in millions)
Reconciliation of gross margin to utility margin:
Operating Revenues $ 1,052.2 $ 940.8 $ 320.1 $ 257.9 $ 1,372.3 $ 1,198.7 
Less: Fuel, purchased supply and direct transmission 
expense (exclusive of depreciation and depletion 
shown separately below)  294.8  236.6  130.7  69.6  425.5  306.2 
Less: Operating and maintenance  156.4  149.2  51.9  53.8  208.3  203.0 
Less: Property and other taxes  134.9  140.6  38.5  38.9  173.4  179.5 
Less: Depreciation and depletion  154.6  148.0  32.8 31.7  187.4  179.7 
Gross Margin  311.5  266.4  66.2  63.9  377.7  330.3 
Operating and maintenance  156.4  149.2  51.9  53.8  208.3  203.0 
Property and other taxes  134.9  140.6  38.5  38.9  173.4  179.5 
Depreciation and depletion  154.6  148.0  32.8  31.7  187.4  179.7 
Utility Margin(1)

$ 757.4 $ 704.2 $ 189.4 $ 188.3 $ 946.8 $ 892.5 
(1) Non-GAAP financial measure. See "Non-GAAP Financial Measure" above.

 Year Ended December 31,
 2021 2020 Change % Change
 (in millions)
Utility Margin     
Electric $ 757.4 $ 704.2 $ 53.2  7.6 %
Natural Gas  189.4  188.3  1.1  0.6 
Total Utility Margin(1) $ 946.8 $ 892.5 $ 54.3  6.1 %

(1) Non-GAAP financial measure. See "Non-GAAP Financial Measure" above.

Consolidated utility margin in 2021 was $946.8 million as compared with $892.5 million in 2020, an increase of $54.3 
million, or 6.1 percent.
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Primary components of the change in utility margin include the following (in millions):

Utility Margin
2021 vs. 2020

Utility Margin Items Impacting Net Income
Higher transmission rates and demand due to market conditions and pricing and the 
recognition of approximately $4.7 million of deferred interim revenues $ 25.1 
Higher electric retail volumes  17.1 
Prior period MPSC disallowance of supply costs  9.4 
Electric QF liability adjustment  4.4 
Higher natural gas retail volumes  1.3 
Higher non-recoverable Montana electric supply costs compared to the prior period  (5.3) 
Reduction of rates from the step down of our Montana gas production assets  (1.2) 
Other  5.1 
Change in Utility Margin Impacting Net Income  55.9 

Utility Margin Items Offset Within Net Income
Property taxes recovered in revenue, offset in property tax expense  (4.8) 
Higher revenue from lower production tax credits, offset in income tax expense  2.5 
Gas production taxes recovered in revenue, offset in property and other taxes  0.5 
Operating expenses recovered in revenue, offset in operating and maintenance expense  0.2 
Change in Items Offset Within Net Income  (1.6) 
Increase in Consolidated Utility Margin(1) $ 54.3 

(1) Non-GAAP financial measure. See "Non-GAAP Financial Measure" above.

Higher electric retail volumes were driven by warmer summer weather in both Montana and South Dakota, customer 
growth, and increased commercial volume as compared to the prior year due to the COVID-19 pandemic related 
shutdowns, partly offset by warmer overall winter weather in Montana and South Dakota. The higher natural gas retail 
volumes were due to improved Montana commercial volumes as compared to the prior year due to the COVID-19 
pandemic related shutdowns and customer growth, partly offset by overall warmer weather in all jurisdictions. In addition, 
the favorable adjustment to our electric QF liability (unrecoverable costs associated with PURPA contracts as part of a 
2002 stipulation with the MPSC and other parties) reflects a $7.5 million gain in 2021, as compared with a $3.1 million 
gain for the same period in 2020, due to the combination of:

• A $2.6 million favorable reduction in costs for the current contract year to record the annual adjustment for actual 
output and pricing as compared with a $0.9 million favorable reduction in costs in the prior period; 

• A negative adjustment, increasing the QF liability by $2.1 million, reflecting annual actual contract price 
escalation, which was more than previously estimated, compared to a favorable adjustment of $2.2 million in the 
prior year due to lower actual price escalation; and

• A favorable adjustment of approximately $7.0 million decreasing the QF liability associated with a one-time 
clarification in contract term.

 Year Ended December 31,
 2021 2020 Change % Change
 (in millions)
Operating Expenses (excluding fuel, purchased 
supply and direct transmission expense)

    

Operating and maintenance $ 208.3 $ 203.0 $ 5.3  2.6 %
Administrative and general  101.9  94.1  7.8  8.3 
Property and other taxes  173.4  179.5  (6.1)  (3.4) 
Depreciation and depletion  187.5  179.6  7.9  4.4 
 $ 671.1 $ 656.2 $ 14.9  2.3 %
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Consolidated operating and maintenance expenses were $208.3 million in 2021, as compared with $203.0 million in 
2020. Primary components of the change include the following (in millions):

Operating & 
Maintenance 

Expenses
 2021 vs. 2020
Operating & Maintenance Expenses Impacting Net Income
Higher maintenance at our electric generation facilities $ 4.6 
Higher labor and benefits expenses due to increased compensation and medical costs  4.7 
Write off of preliminary construction costs  1.6 
Other  0.5 
Change in Items Impacting Net Income  11.4 

Operating & Maintenance Expenses Offset Within Net Income
Pension and other postretirement benefits, offset in other income  (6.3) 
Operating expenses recovered in trackers, offset in revenue  0.2 
Change in Items Offset Within Net Income  (6.1) 
Increase in Operating and Maintenance Expenses $ 5.3 

The write off of preliminary construction costs is associated with the 30-40MW flexible natural gas plant near 
Aberdeen, South Dakota.

Consolidated administrative and general expense was $101.9 million in 2021, as compared with $94.1 million in 
2020. Primary components of the change include the following (in millions):

Administrative & 
General Expenses

 2021 vs. 2020
Administrative & General Expenses Impacting Net Income
Higher technology implementation and maintenance expenses $ 2.4 
Higher litigation expenses  2.0 
Higher insurance expenses  1.5 
Higher labor and benefits expenses due to increased compensation and medical costs  1.0 
Decrease in uncollectible accounts expense  (4.5) 
Other  1.2 
Change in Items Impacting Net Income  3.6 

Administrative & General Expenses Offset Within Net Income
Non-employee directors deferred compensation, offset in other income  4.2 
Change in Items Offset Within Net Income  4.2 
Increase in Administrative & General Expenses $ 7.8 

Uncollectible accounts expense decreased due to collections of previously written off amounts in the current period. In 
the second quarter of 2020, we voluntarily suspended service disconnections for non-payment, to help customers who may 
be financially impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic. 

Property and other taxes were $173.4 million in 2021, as compared with $179.5 million in 2020. This decrease was 
primarily due to lower estimated property valuations in Montana partly offset by plant additions. 

Depreciation and depletion expense was $187.5 million in 2021, as compared with $179.6 million in 2020. This 
increase was primarily due to plant additions.
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Consolidated operating income in 2021 was $275.7 million as compared with $236.2 million in 2020. This increase 
was primarily driven by higher Montana transmission loads and rates, favorable weather, higher commercial demand as 
compared to the prior period due to the COVID-19 pandemic related shutdowns, the prior period disallowance of supply 
costs, a favorable electric QF liability adjustment as compared with the prior period, and lower property and other taxes, 
partly offset by higher operation and maintenance expense, depreciation expense, and administrative and general expense.

Consolidated interest expense in 2021 was $93.7 million, as compared with $96.8 million in 2020. This decrease was 
primarily due to higher capitalization of AFUDC and lower FERC deferrals, partly offset by higher borrowings. 

Consolidated other income in 2021 was $8.3 million, as compared with $4.9 million in 2020. This increase was 
primarily due to higher capitalization of AFUDC and higher interest income, partly offset by $2.1 million in items offset in 
operating expenses. Items offset in operating expenses include a $6.3 million increase in pension expenses and a $4.2 
million increase in the value of deferred shares held in trust for non-employee directors deferred compensation. 

Consolidated income tax expense in 2021 was $3.4 million, as compared to an income tax benefit of $11.0 million in 
2020. Our effective tax rate for the twelve months ended December 31, 2021 was 1.8 percent as compared with (7.6) 
percent for the same period of 2020. We currently estimate our effective tax rate will range between 0.0 percent to 3.0 
percent in 2022. The effective tax rate is expected to gradually increase to approximately 15 percent by 2026. 

The following table summarizes the differences between our effective tax rate and the federal statutory rate (in 
millions):

 Year Ended December 31,
2021 2020

Income Before Income Taxes $ 190.3 $ 144.2 

Income tax calculated at federal statutory rate  40.0  21.0 %  30.3  21.0 %

Permanent or flow through adjustments:
State income, net of federal provisions  0.4  0.1  (1.5)  (1.1) 
Flow-through repairs deductions  (21.9)  (11.5)  (23.8)  (16.5) 
Production tax credits  (11.5)  (6.1)  (13.1)  (9.1) 
Plant and depreciation of flow through items  (0.9)  (0.6)  0.1  0.1 
Amortization of excess deferred income taxes (DIT)  (0.6)  (0.3)  (1.0)  (0.7) 
Prior year permanent return to accrual adjustments  0.0  0.0  (1.7)  (1.2) 
Other, net  (2.1)  (0.8)  (0.3)  (0.1) 

 (36.6)  (19.2)  (41.3)  (28.6) 

Income Tax Expense (Benefit) $ 3.4  1.8 % $ (11.0)  (7.6) %
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ELECTRIC OPERATIONS

We have various classifications of electric revenues, defined as follows:

• Retail: Sales of electricity to residential, commercial and industrial customers, and the impact of regulatory 
mechanisms. 

• Regulatory amortization: Primarily represents timing differences for electric supply costs and property taxes between 
when we incur these costs and when we recover these costs in rates from our customers, which is also reflected in 
fuel, purchased supply and direct transmission expense and therefore has minimal impact on utility margin. The 
amortization of these amounts are offset in retail revenue.

• Transmission: Reflects transmission revenues regulated by the FERC.
• Wholesale and other are largely utility margin neutral as they are offset by changes in fuel, purchased supply and 

direct transmission expense.

Year Ended December 31, 2021 Compared with Year Ended December 31, 2020 

 
Revenues Change

Megawatt Hours 
(MWH) Avg. Customer Counts

 2021 2020 $ % 2021 2020 2021 2020
 (in thousands)   

Montana $ 334,581 $ 320,792 $ 13,789  4.3 %  2,729  2,635  311,922  307,390 

South Dakota  65,429  66,603  (1,174)  (1.8)  571  583  50,805  50,646 

   Residential  400,010  387,395  12,615  3.3  3,300  3,218  362,727  358,036 

Montana  356,669  338,269  18,400  5.4  3,176  3,036  71,605  70,145 

South Dakota  102,475  101,095  1,380  1.4  1,092  1,073  12,795  12,802 
Commercial  459,144  439,364  19,780  4.5  4,268  4,109  84,400  82,947 

Industrial  37,866  36,819  1,047  2.8  2,448  2,615  77  78 

Other  32,084  31,833  251  0.8  175  173  6,333  6,333 
Total Retail Electric $ 929,104 $ 895,411 $ 33,693  3.8 %  10,191  10,115  453,537  447,394 
Regulatory amortization  34,395  (11,455)  45,850  (400.3) 
Transmission  82,628  51,539  31,089  60.3 
Wholesale and Other  6,055  5,320  735  13.8 
Total Revenues $ 1,052,182 $ 940,815 $ 111,367  11.8 %
Fuel, purchased supply 
and direct transmission 
expense(1)  294,820  236,581  58,239  24.6 
Utility Margin(2) $ 757,362 $ 704,234 $ 53,128  7.5 %

(1) Exclusive of depreciation and depletion.
(2) Non-GAAP financial measure. See “Non-GAAP Financial Measure” above. Also see "Overall Consolidated Results" above for reconciliation of 
gross margin to utility margin.

 Cooling Degree Days 2021 as compared with:
2021 2020 Historic Average 2020 Historic Average

Montana 635 398 417 60% warmer 52% warmer
South Dakota 1,034 879 733 18% warmer 41% warmer

 Heating Degree Days 2021 as compared with:
2021 2020 Historic Average 2020 Historic Average

Montana 7,217 7,304 7,557 1% warmer 4% warmer
South Dakota 6,758 7,445 7,696 9% warmer 12% warmer
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The following summarizes the components of the changes in electric utility margin for the years ended December 31, 
2021 and 2020 (in millions):

 
Utility Margin
2021 vs. 2020

Utility Margin Items Impacting Net Income
Higher transmission rates and demand due to market conditions and pricing and the 
recognition of approximately $4.7 million of deferred interim revenues $ 25.1 
Higher retail volumes  17.1 
Prior period disallowance of supply costs  9.4 
QF liability adjustment  4.4 
Higher non-recoverable Montana electric supply costs compared to the prior period  (5.3) 
Other  3.3 
Change in Utility Margin Impacting Net Income  54.0 

Utility Margin Items Offset Within Net Income
Property taxes recovered in revenue, offset in property tax expense  (4.0) 
Higher revenue from lower production tax credits, offset in income tax expense  2.5 
Operating expenses recovered in revenue, offset in operating and maintenance expense  0.6 
Change in Items Offset Within Net Income  (0.9) 
Increase in Utility Margin(1) $ 53.1 

(1) Non-GAAP financial measure. See "Non-GAAP Financial Measure" above. Also see "Overall Consolidated Results" above for reconciliation of 
gross margin to utility margin.

Higher electric retail volumes were driven by warmer summer weather in both Montana and South Dakota, customer 
growth, and increased commercial volume as compared to the prior year due to the COVID-19 pandemic related shutdowns, 
partly offset by warmer overall winter weather in Montana and South Dakota. The favorable adjustment to our electric QF 
liability (unrecoverable costs associated with PURPA contracts as part of a 2002 stipulation with the MPSC and other parties) 
reflects a $7.5 million gain in 2021, as compared with a $3.1 million gain for the same period in 2020, due to the combination 
of:

• A $2.6 million favorable reduction in costs for the current contract year to record the annual adjustment for actual 
output and pricing as compared with a $0.9 million favorable reduction in costs in the prior period; 

• A negative adjustment, increasing the QF liability by $2.1 million, reflecting annual actual contract price escalation, 
which was more than previously estimated, compared to a favorable adjustment of $2.2 million in the prior year due 
to lower actual price escalation; and

• A favorable adjustment of approximately $7.0 million decreasing the QF liability associated with a one-time 
clarification in contract term.

The change in regulatory amortization revenue is due to timing differences between when we incur electric supply costs 
and when we recover these costs in rates from our customers, which has a minimal impact on utility margin. Our wholesale 
and other revenues are largely utility margin neutral as they are offset by changes in fuel, purchased supply and direct 
transmission expenses.
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NATURAL GAS OPERATIONS

We have various classifications of natural gas revenues, defined as follows:

• Retail: Sales of natural gas to residential, commercial and industrial customers, and the impact of regulatory 
mechanisms. 

• Regulatory amortization: Primarily represents timing differences for natural gas supply costs and property taxes 
between when we incur these costs and when we recover these costs in rates from our customers, which is also 
reflected in fuel, purchased supply and direct transmission expenses and therefore has minimal impact on utility 
margin. The amortization of these amounts are offset in retail revenue.

• Wholesale: Primarily represents transportation and storage for others.

Year Ended December 31, 2021 Compared with Year Ended December 31, 2020 

 Revenues Change Dekatherms Avg. Customer Counts
 2021 2020 $ % 2021 2020 2021 2020
 (in thousands)   

Montana $ 126,043 $ 103,457  22,586  21.8 %  13,885  13,893  179,637  177,335 
South Dakota  26,596  21,547  5,049  23.4  2,834  2,993  41,079  40,612 
Nebraska  20,964  16,861  4,103  24.3  2,480  2,561  37,603  37,576 

Residential  173,603  141,865  31,738  22.4  19,199  19,447  258,319  255,523 
Montana  64,681  51,349  13,332  26.0  7,446  7,166  24,927  24,497 
South Dakota  19,131  14,316  4,815  33.6  2,744  3,003  6,896  6,895 
Nebraska  11,371  8,066  3,305  41.0  1,755  1,784  4,963  4,974 

Commercial  95,183  73,731  21,452  29.1  11,945  11,953  36,786  36,366 
Industrial  1,134  840  294  35.0  135  122  229  231 
Other  1,417  923  494  53.5  187  152  166  153 

Total Retail Gas $ 271,337 $ 217,359 $ 53,978  24.8 %  31,466  31,674  295,500  292,273 
Regulatory amortization  12,048  5,043  7,005  138.9 
Wholesale and other  36,749  35,453  1,296  3.7 
Total Revenues $ 320,134 $ 257,855 $ 62,279  24.2 %
Fuel, purchased supply 
and direct 
transmission expense(1)  130,728  69,609  61,119  87.8 
Utility Margin(2) $ 189,406 $ 188,246 $ 1,160  0.6 %

(1) Exclusive of depreciation and depletion. 
(2) Non-GAAP financial measure. See “Non-GAAP Financial Measure” above. Also see "Overall Consolidated Results" above for reconciliation of gross 
margin to utility margin.

 Heating Degree Days 2021 as compared with:
2021 2020 Historic Average 2020 Historic Average

Montana 7,390 7,505 7,775 2% warmer 5% warmer
South Dakota 6,758 7,445 7,696 9% warmer 12% warmer
Nebraska 5,632 5,676 6,354 1% warmer 11% warmer
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The following summarizes the components of the changes in natural gas utility margin for the years ended December 31, 
2021 and 2020 (in millions):

 
Utility Margin
2021 vs. 2020

Utility Margin Items Impacting Net Income
Higher retail volumes $ 1.3 
Reduction of rates from the step down of our Montana gas production assets  (1.2) 
Other  1.8 
Change in Utility Margin Impacting Net Income  1.9 

Utility Margin Items Offset Within Net Income
Property taxes recovered in revenue, offset in property tax expense  (0.8) 
Operating expenses recovered in revenue, offset in operating and maintenance expense  (0.4) 
Gas production taxes recovered in revenue, offset in property and other taxes  0.5 
Change in Items Offset Within Net Income  (0.7) 
Increase in Utility Margin(1) $ 1.2 

(1) Non-GAAP financial measure. See "Non-GAAP Financial Measure" above. Also see "Overall Consolidated Results" above for reconciliation of gross 
margin to utility margin.

Higher retail volumes were driven by improved Montana commercial volumes as compared to the prior year due to the 
COVID-19 pandemic related shutdowns and customer growth, partly offset by overall warmer weather in all jurisdictions.

Our wholesale and other revenues are largely utility margin neutral as they are offset by changes in fuel, purchased supply 
and direct transmission expenses.
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 LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Liquidity

We require liquidity to support and grow our business, and use our liquidity for working capital needs, capital 
expenditures, investments in or acquisitions of assets, and to repay debt. We believe our cash flows from operations, existing 
borrowing capacity, debt and equity issuances and future rate increases should be sufficient to fund our operations, service 
existing debt, pay dividends, and fund capital expenditures (excluding strategic growth opportunities). We plan to maintain a 50 
- 55 percent debt to total capital ratio excluding finance leases, and expect to continue targeting a long-term dividend payout 
ratio of 60 - 70 percent of earnings per share; however, there can be no assurance that we will be able to meet these targets.

As of December 31, 2021, our total net liquidity was approximately $79.8 million, including $2.8 million of cash, $77.0 
million of revolving credit facility availability with no letters of credit outstanding. In addition, our liquidity was further 
enhanced by the forward equity sale agreements noted below, which could have been physically settled with common shares in 
exchange for cash of $286.1 million.

Cash Flows

The primary sources and uses of cash and cash equivalents are summarized in the following condensed statement of cash 
flows for 2021 and 2020 (in millions):

 Year Ended December 31,
 2021 2020

Operating Activities   
Net income $ 186.8 $ 155.2 
Non-cash adjustments to net income  187.5  174.3 
Changes in working capital  (120.6)  48.1 
Other noncurrent assets and liabilities  (33.7)  (25.5) 
Cash Provided by Operating Activities  220.0  352.1 

Investing Activities   
Property, plant and equipment additions  (434.3)  (405.8) 
Investment in equity securities  (1.5)  — 
Cash Used in Investing Activities  (435.8)  (405.8) 

Financing Activities   
Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net  196.2  — 
Issuance of long-term debt  99.9  150.0 
(Repayments) issuances of short-term borrowings  (100.0)  100.0 
Dividends on common stock  (128.5)  (120.4) 
Line of credit borrowings (repayments), net  151.0  (67.0) 
Financing costs  (0.9)  (2.6) 
Other  (0.2)  (1.3) 
Cash Provided by Financing Activities  217.5  58.7 

Net Increase in Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Restricted Cash $ 1.7 $ 5.0 
Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Restricted Cash, beginning of period $ 17.1 $ 12.1 
Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Restricted Cash, end of period $ 18.8 $ 17.1 

Operating Activities

Cash provided by operating activities totaled $220.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2021 as compared with 
$352.1 million during 2020. This decrease in operating cash flows is primarily due to a $122.3 million ($80.0 million from 
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electric operations and $42.3 million from natural gas operations) net increase in under collection of energy supply costs from 
customers in the current period, which includes costs incurred during a February 2021 prolonged cold weather event, the under-
collected position of Montana's PCCAM, and a refund of approximately $20.5 million to our FERC regulated customers and 
approximately $6.1 to our Montana electric retail customers. These reductions were offset in part by an improvement in net 
income.

As of December 31, 2021, we have under collected our supply costs recovered through tracking mechanisms by 
approximately $97.8 million. We have various regulatory mechanisms that support our recovery of the energy supply costs 
incurred by our utilities. Through these mechanisms and the regulatory agreements for recovery of the costs incurred during the 
February 2021 cold weather event, we anticipate recovering a significant portion of these costs during 2022, improving our cash 
flows from operations. Conversely, a prolonged spike in energy market prices in our operating jurisdictions, which could be 
caused by further extreme weather events, could create additional costs with deferred recovery that would offset these 
anticipated cash flow improvements.

Investing Activities

Cash used in investing activities totaled $435.8 million during the year ended December 31, 2021, as compared with 
$405.8 million during 2020. Plant additions during 2021 include capital maintenance additions of approximately $314.1 
million, and capacity related capital expenditures of approximately $120.2 million. Plant additions during 2020 included capital 
maintenance additions of approximately $269.5 million, and capacity related capital expenditures of approximately $136.3 
million. As discussed above in the “Significant Infrastructure Investments and Initiatives” section, our capital expenditures are 
forecasted to increase to $582 million in 2022.

Financing Activities

Cash provided by financing activities totaled $217.5 million during 2021 as compared with $58.7 million during 2020. 
During 2021, the increase in cash provided by financing activities reflected the transactions noted below, which were 
undertaken primarily to fund capital expenditures in excess of our cash from operations, while maintaining our credit ratings. 

We issue debt and equity securities from time to time to refinance retiring debt maturities, reduce balances on our revolving 
credit facilities, fund capital expenditure programs, maintain credit ratings, and for other general corporate purposes. 

In March 2021, we issued and sold $100 million aggregate principal amount of Montana First Mortgage Bonds (the bonds) 
at a fixed interest rate of 1.00% maturing in March 26, 2024. The net proceeds were used to repay in full our outstanding $100 
million term loan that was due April 2, 2021. We may redeem some or all of the bonds at any time in whole, or from time 
to time in part, at our option, on or after March 26, 2022, at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the 
bonds to be redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid interest on the principal amount of the bonds being redeemed to, but excluding, 
the redemption date. The bonds are secured by our electric and natural gas assets in Montana and Wyoming. 

In April 2021, we entered into an Equity Distribution Agreement with BofA Securities, Inc., CIBC World Markets Corp, 
Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC, and J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, collectively the sales agents, pursuant to which we may 
offer and sell shares of our common stock from time to time, having an aggregate gross sales price of up to $200.0 million, 
through an At-the-Market (ATM) offering program, including an equity forward sales component. This is a three-year 
agreement, expiring on February 11, 2024. During the three months ended December 31, 2021, we issued 46,723 shares of our 
common stock under the ATM program at an average price of $58.49, for net proceeds of $2.7 million, which is net of sales 
commissions and other fees paid of less than $0.1 million. During the twelve months ended December 31, 2021, we issued 
1,966,117 shares of our common stock under the ATM program at an average price of $63.81, for net proceeds of $124.2 
million, which is net of sales commissions and other fees paid of approximately $1.3 million. We do not expect to utilize the 
ATM program during 2022. 

In November 2021, we entered into forward equity agreements in connection with a completed $373.8 million public 
offering of approximately 7.0 million shares of our common stock. The initial forward agreement was for 6.1 million shares 
with an additional 0.9 million shares exercised at the option of the banking counterparty. Of the total 7.0 million shares of 
common stock offered, we initially sold 1.4 million shares, for $75.0 million in gross proceeds, directly to the underwriters in 
the offering, with cash proceeds received at closing.

At December 31, 2021, the forward agreements could have been settled with physical delivery of approximately 5.6 million 
common shares to the banking counterparty in exchange for cash of $286.1 million. The forward instruments could have also 
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been settled at December 31, 2021, with delivery of approximately $24.4 million of cash or approximately 0.4 million shares of 
common stock to the counterparty, if we unilaterally elected to net cash or net share settlement, respectively. 

The forward price used to determine amounts due at settlement is calculated based on the November 2021 public offering 
price for our common stock of $53.50, net of underwriting discount, for an initial forward settlement price of $51.895, per 
share. The initial forward settlement price is increased for the overnight bank funding rate, less a spread of 0.75 percent and less 
expected dividends on our common stock during the period the instruments are outstanding. 

We may settle the agreements at any time up to the maturity date of February 28, 2023. Depending on settlement timing, if 
we elect to physically settle by delivering shares of common stock, cash proceeds are expected to be approximately $269.8 
million to $286.1 million. Forward equity instruments were recognized within stockholders’ equity at fair value at the execution 
of the agreements and will not be subsequently adjusted until settlement.

Cash Requirements and Capital Resources

The Company believes its cash flows from operations, existing borrowing capacity, debt and equity issuances and future 
rate increases should be sufficient to satisfy its material cash requirements over the short-term and the long-term. As a rate-
regulated utility our customer rates are generally structured to recover expected operating costs, with an opportunity to earn a 
return on our invested capital. This structure supports timely recovery for many our operating expenses, although there are 
situations where the timing of our cash outlays results in increased working capital requirements. Due to the seasonality of our 
utility business, our short-term working capital requirements typically peak during the coldest winter months and warmest 
summer months when we cover the lag between when purchasing energy supplies and when customers pay for these costs. Our 
credit facilities may also be utilized for funding cash requirements during seasonally active construction periods, with peak 
activity during warmer months. Our cash requirements also include a variety of contractual obligations as outlined below in the 
“Contractual Obligations and Other Commitments” section. 

Our material cash requirements are also related to investment in our business through our capital expenditure program, 
which is discussed above in the “Significant Infrastructure Investments and Initiatives” section. Our capital expenditures are 
forecasted to increase to $582 million in 2022, $563 million in 2023, and $465 million in 2024. We anticipate funding capital 
expenditures through cash flows from operations, available credit sources, debt and equity issuances and future rate increases. 
The actual amount of capital expenditures is subject to certain factors including the impact that a material change in operations 
or available financing could impact our current liquidity and ability to fund capital resource requirements. Events such as these 
could cause us to defer a portion of our planned capital expenditures, as necessary. To fund our strategic growth opportunities 
we evaluate the additional capital need in balance with, debt capacity and equity issuances that would be intended to allow us to 
maintain investment grade ratings.

Credit Facilities 

Liquidity is generally provided by internal cash flows and the use of our unsecured revolving credit facilities. This 
includes the $425 million Credit Facility and a $25 million revolving credit facility to provide swingline borrowing capability. 
We utilize availability under our revolving credit facilities to manage our cash flows due to the seasonality of our business and 
to fund capital investment. Cash on hand in excess of current operating requirements is generally used to invest in our business 
and reduce borrowings.

Our $425 million Credit Facility was entered into in September 2020 and has a maturity date of September 2, 2023. The 
Credit Facility includes uncommitted features that allow us to request up to two one-year extensions to the maturity date and 
increase the size by an additional $75 million with the consent of the lenders. The Credit Facility does not amortize and is 
unsecured. Borrowings may be made at interest rates equal to the Eurodollar rate, plus a margin of 112.5 to 175.0 basis points, 
or a base rate, plus a margin of 12.5 to 75.0 basis points. A total of ten banks participate in the facility, with no one bank 
providing more than 13 percent of the total availability.

The following table presents additional information about borrowings under our revolving credit facilities during the year 
ended December 31, 2021 (in millions):

Amount outstanding at year end $ 373.0 
Daily average amount outstanding $ 260.3 
Maximum amount outstanding $ 373.0 
Minimum amount outstanding $ 171.0 
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As of February 4, 2022, our availability under our revolving credit facilities was approximately $112.0 million, and there 
were no letters of credit outstanding.

Long-term Debt and Equity

We generally issue long-term debt to refinance other long-term debt maturities and borrowings under our revolving credit 
facilities, as well as to fund long-term capital investments and strategic opportunities. We do not have any long-term debt 
maturities in 2022. 

We generally issue equity securities to fund long-term investment in our business. We evaluate our equity issuance needs 
to support our plan to maintain a 50 - 55 percent debt to total capital ratio excluding finance leases. 

As described above, during 2021 we entered into a three-year ATM equity offering program whereby we can offer to sell 
up to $200.0 million of common shares. During 2021 we raised nearly $125 million under the program, but do not anticipate 
needing to issue equity through this program in 2022. We also initiated a public offering of $373.8 million of our common 
stock in November 2021. We received approximately $75 million of cash proceeds for a portion of this offering and entered 
into forward equity agreements for the balance of the shares. We may settle the forward sale agreements at any time up to the 
maturity date of February 28, 2023. We anticipate physically settling these agreements to meet our equity capital needs for 
2022. Depending on settlement timing, if we physically settle by delivering our shares of common stock, cash proceeds are 
expected to be approximately $269.8 million to $286.1 million.

Credit Ratings

In general, less favorable credit ratings make debt financing more costly and more difficult to obtain on terms that are 
favorable to us and our customers, may impact our trade credit availability, and could result in the need to issue additional 
equity securities. Fitch Ratings (Fitch), Moody's Investors Service (Moody's), and S&P Global Ratings (S&P) are independent 
credit-rating agencies that rate our debt securities. These ratings indicate the agencies’ assessment of our ability to pay interest 
and principal when due on our debt. As of February 4, 2022, our current ratings with these agencies are as follows:

 
Senior Secured 

Rating
Senior Unsecured 

Rating Commercial Paper Outlook
Fitch A A- F2 Stable
Moody’s A3 Baa2 Prime-2 Negative
S&P A- BBB A-2 Stable

_________________________

A security rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities. Such rating may be subject to revision or 
withdrawal at any time by the credit rating agency and each rating should be evaluated independently of any other rating.

Contractual Obligations and Other Commitments

We have a variety of contractual obligations and other commitments that require payment of cash at certain specified 
periods. With the exception of maturities of long-term debt, we anticipate funding these obligations through cash flows from 
operations. The following table summarizes our contractual cash obligations and commitments as of December 31, 2021. See 
additional discussion in Note 18 - Commitments and Contingencies to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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 Total 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 Thereafter
 (in thousands)

Long-term debt(1) $ 2,552,660 $ — $ 517,660 $ 100,000 $ 300,000 $ 105,000 $ 1,530,000 
Finance leases  14,772  2,875  3,099  3,337  3,596  1,865  — 
Estimated pension and 
other postretirement 
obligations(2)  58,805  12,775  11,658  11,658  11,357  11,357 N/A
Qualifying facilities 
liability(3)  466,872  80,355  82,452  75,113  60,360  55,393  113,199 
Supply and capacity 
contracts(4)  2,640,393  283,212  269,700  221,758  219,443  172,227  1,474,053 
Contractual interest 
payments on debt(5)  1,480,783  88,457  86,270  79,760  70,791  64,701  1,090,804 
Commitments for 
significant capital 
projects(6)  268,372  192,239  69,533  6,600  —  — $ — 
Total Commitments(7) $ 7,482,657 $ 659,913 $ 1,040,372 $ 498,226 $ 665,547 $ 410,543 $ 4,208,056 

___________________________

(1) Represents cash payments for long-term debt and excludes $11.2 million of debt discounts and debt issuance costs, net.
(2) We have estimated cash obligations related to our pension and other postretirement benefit programs for five years, as it is 

not practicable to estimate thereafter. The pension and other postretirement benefit estimates reflect our expected cash 
contributions, which may be in excess of minimum funding requirements.

(3) Certain QFs require us to purchase minimum amounts of energy at prices ranging from $64 to $136 per MWH through 
2029. Our estimated gross contractual obligation related to these QFs is approximately $466.9 million. A portion of the 
costs incurred to purchase this energy is recoverable through rates authorized by the MPSC, totaling approximately $388.4 
million.

(4) We have entered into various purchase commitments, largely purchased power, electric transmission, coal and natural gas 
supply and natural gas transportation contracts (exclusive of the qualifying facilities liability discussed above). These 
commitments range from one to 24 years and exclude contract payments associated with the Beartooth Battery agreement, 
which is subject to approval by the MPSC. The energy supply costs incurred under these contracts are generally 
recoverable through rate mechanisms approved by the MPSC, as further described in Note 3 - Regulatory Matters.

(5) Contractual interest payments include our revolving credit facilities, which have a variable interest rate. We have assumed 
an average interest rate of 1.35 percent on the outstanding balance through maturity of the facilities.

(6) Represents significant firm purchase commitments for construction of planned capital projects.
(7) The table above excludes potential tax payments related to uncertain tax positions as they are not practicable to estimate. 

Additionally, the table above excludes reserves for environmental remediation (See Note 18 - Commitments and 
Contingencies) and asset retirement obligations (AROs) (see Note 6 - Asset Retirement Obligations) as the amount and 
timing of cash payments may be uncertain.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

Management's discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations is based on our Consolidated 
Financial Statements, which have been prepared in accordance with GAAP. The preparation of these Consolidated Financial 
Statements requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and 
expenses, and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. We base our estimates on historical experience and other 
assumptions that are believed to be proper and reasonable under the circumstances. We continually evaluate the appropriateness 
of our estimates and assumptions. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 

We have identified the policies and related procedures below that contain accounting estimates that involve a significant 
level of estimation uncertainty and have had or are reasonably likely to have a material impact on our financial condition or 
results of operations. 

Regulatory Assets and Liabilities

Our operations are subject to the provisions of ASC 980, Regulated Operations (ASC 980). Our regulatory assets are the 
probable future revenues associated with certain costs to be recovered from customers through the ratemaking process, 
including our estimate of amounts recoverable for natural gas and electric supply purchases. Regulatory liabilities are the 
probable future reductions in revenues associated with amounts to be credited to customers through the ratemaking process. We 
determine which costs are recoverable by consulting previous rulings by state regulatory authorities in jurisdictions where we 
operate or other factors that lead us to believe that cost recovery is probable. This accounting treatment is impacted by the 
uncertainties of our regulatory environment, anticipated future regulatory decisions and their impact. If any part of our 
operations becomes no longer subject to the provisions of ASC 980, or facts and circumstances lead us to conclude that a 
recorded regulatory asset is no longer probable of recovery, we would record a charge to earnings, which could be material. In 
addition, we would need to determine if there was any impairment to the carrying costs of the associated plant and inventory 
assets.

While we believe that our assumptions regarding future regulatory actions are reasonable, different assumptions could 
materially affect our results. See Note 4 - Regulatory Assets and Liabilities, to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further 
discussion.

Pension and Postretirement Benefit Plans

We sponsor and/or contribute to pension, postretirement health care and life insurance benefits for eligible employees. Our 
reported costs of providing pension and other postretirement benefits, as described in Note 14 - Employee Benefit Plans, to the 
Consolidated Financial Statements, are dependent upon numerous factors including the provisions of the plans, changing 
employee demographics, rate of return on plan assets and other economic conditions, and various actuarial calculations, 
assumptions, and accounting mechanisms. As a result of these factors, significant portions of pension and other postretirement 
benefit costs recorded in any period do not reflect (and are generally greater than) the actual benefits provided to plan 
participants. Due to the complexity of these calculations, the long-term nature of the obligations, and the importance of the 
assumptions utilized, the determination of these costs is considered a critical accounting estimate.

Assumptions

Key actuarial assumptions utilized in determining these costs include:
 

• Discount rates used in determining the future benefit obligations;
• Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets; and
• Mortality assumptions.

We review these assumptions on an annual basis and adjust them as necessary. The assumptions are based upon market 
interest rates, past experience and management's best estimate of future economic conditions.

We set the discount rate using a yield curve analysis, which projects benefit cash flows into the future and then discounts 
those cash flows to the measurement date using a yield curve. This is done by constructing a hypothetical bond portfolio whose 
cash flow from coupons and maturities matches the year-by-year projected benefit cash flow from our plans. Based on this 
analysis as of December 31, 2021, our discount rate on the NorthWestern Corporation pension plan is 2.65 percent and on the 
NorthWestern Energy pension plan is 2.75 percent.
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In determining the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets, we review historical returns, the future expectations for 
returns for each asset class weighted by the target asset allocation of the pension and postretirement portfolios, and long-term 
inflation assumptions. Our expected long-term rate of return on assets assumptions are 3.01 percent and 4.17 percent on the 
NorthWestern Corporation and NorthWestern Energy pension plan, respectively, for 2022.

Cost Sensitivity

The following table reflects the sensitivity of pension costs to changes in certain actuarial assumptions (in thousands):

Actuarial Assumption (1) Change in Assumption Impact on Pension Cost
Impact on Projected
Benefit Obligation

Discount rate increase  0.25 % $ (2,232) $ (23,069) 
Discount rate decrease  (0.25) %  2,415  24,377 
Rate of return on plan assets increase  0.25 %  (1,670) N/A
Rate of return on plan assets decrease  (0.25) %  1,670 N/A

(1) Reflects sensitivity to the period pension cost only and excludes the $11.3 million settlement charge during 2021, which 
was associated with the partial pension annuitization described in Note 14 - Employee Benefit Plans.

Accounting Treatment

We recognize the funded status of each plan as an asset or liability in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Differences 
between actuarial assumptions and actual plan results are deferred and are recognized into earnings only when the accumulated 
differences exceed 10 percent of the greater of the projected benefit obligation or the market-related value of plan assets, which 
reduces the volatility of reported pension costs. If necessary, the excess is amortized over the average remaining service period 
of active employees.

Due to the various regulatory treatments of the plans, our Consolidated Financial Statements reflect the effects of the 
different rate making principles followed by the jurisdictions regulating us. Pension costs in Montana and other postretirement 
benefit costs in South Dakota are included in rates on a pay as you go basis for regulatory purposes. Pension costs in South 
Dakota and other postretirement benefit costs in Montana are included in rates on an accrual basis for regulatory purposes. 
Regulatory assets have been recognized for the obligations that will be included in future cost of service.

Income Taxes

Judgment and the use of estimates are required in developing the provision for income taxes and reporting of tax-related 
assets and liabilities. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities represent the future effects on income taxes from temporary 
differences between the bases of assets and liabilities for financial reporting and tax purposes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities 
are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are 
expected to reverse. The probability of realizing deferred tax assets is based on forecasts of future taxable income and the 
availability of tax planning strategies that can be implemented, if necessary, to realize deferred tax assets. We establish a 
valuation allowance when it is more likely than not that all, or a portion of, a deferred tax asset will not be realized. Exposures 
exist related to various tax filing positions, which may require an extended period of time to resolve and may result in income 
tax adjustments by taxing authorities. We have reduced deferred tax assets or established liabilities based on our best estimate 
of future probable adjustments related to these exposures. On a quarterly basis, we evaluate exposures in light of any additional 
information and make adjustments as necessary to reflect the best estimate of the future outcomes. We believe our deferred tax 
assets and established liabilities are appropriate for estimated exposures; however, actual results may differ significantly from 
these estimates.

The interpretation of tax laws involves uncertainty. Ultimate resolution of income tax matters may result in favorable or 
unfavorable impacts to net income and cash flows and adjustments to tax-related assets and liabilities could be material. The 
uncertainty and judgment involved in the determination and filing of income taxes is accounted for by prescribing a minimum 
recognition threshold that a tax position is required to meet before being recognized in the Consolidated Financial Statements. 
We recognize tax positions that meet the more-likely-than-not threshold as the largest amount of tax benefit that is greater than 
50 percent likely of being realized upon ultimate settlement with a taxing authority that has full knowledge of all relevant 
information. We have unrecognized tax benefits of approximately $32.0 million as of December 31, 2021. The resolution of tax 
matters in a particular future period could have a material impact on our provision for income taxes, results of operations and 
our cash flows. See Note 12 - Income Taxes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion. 
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Qualifying Facilities Liability

Our electric QF liability consists of unrecoverable costs associated with contracts covered under PURPA that are part of a 
2002 stipulation with the MPSC and other parties. Under the terms of these contracts, we are required to purchase minimum 
amounts of energy at prices ranging from $64 to $136 per MWH through June 2029. Our estimated gross contractual obligation 
is approximately $466.9 million through June 2029. A portion of the costs incurred to purchase this energy is recoverable 
through rates, totaling approximately $388.4 million through June 2029. We maintain an electric QF liability based on the net 
present value (discounted at 7.75 percent) of the difference between our estimated obligations under the QFs and the fixed 
amounts recoverable in rates.

The liability was established based on certain assumptions and projections over the contract terms related to pricing, 
estimated output and recoverable amounts. Since the liability is based on projections over the next several years, actual output, 
changes in pricing, contract amendments and regulatory decisions relating to these facilities could significantly impact the 
liability and our results of operations in any given year. In assessing the liability each reporting period, we compare our 
assumptions to actual results and make adjustments as necessary for that period.

One of the contracts contains variable pricing terms, which exposes us to price escalation risks. The estimated annual 
escalation rate for this contract is a key assumption and is based on a combination of historical actual results and market data 
available for future projections. In recording the electric QF liability, we estimated an annual escalation rate of 3 percent over 
the remaining term of the contract (through June 2024). The actual escalation rate changes annually, which could significantly 
impact the liability and our results of operations. See Note 18 - Commitments and Contingencies to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements for further discussion. 

NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

See Note 2 - Significant Accounting Policies, to the Consolidated Financial Statements, included in Item 8 herein for a 
discussion of new accounting standards.
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ITEM 7A.  QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We are exposed to market risks, including, but not limited to, interest rates, energy commodity price volatility, and credit 
exposure. Management has established comprehensive risk management policies and procedures to manage these market risks.
 
Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risks include exposure to adverse interest rate movements for outstanding variable rate debt and for future 
anticipated financings. We manage our interest rate risk by issuing fixed-rate long-term debt with varying maturities, 
refinancing certain debt and, at times, hedging the interest rate on anticipated borrowings. All of our debt has fixed interest 
rates, with the exception of our revolving credit facilities. The $425 million revolving credit facility bears interest at rates equal 
to the Eurodollar rate, plus a margin of 112.5 to 175.0 basis points, or a base rate, plus a margin of 12.5 to 75.0 basis points. In 
addition, we have a $25 million revolving credit facility, to provide swingline borrowing capability. The $25 million revolving 
credit facility bears interest at the lower of prime plus a credit spread of 0.13 percent, or available rates tied to the Eurodollar 
rate plus a credit spread of 0.65 percent. As of December 31, 2021, we had approximately $373 million in borrowings under our 
revolving credit facilities. A 1.0 percent increase in interest rates would increase our annual interest expense by approximately 
$3.7 million. 

Commodity Price Risk

We are exposed to commodity price risk due to our reliance on market purchases to fulfill a portion of our electric and 
natural gas supply requirements. We also participate in the wholesale electric market to balance our supply of power from our 
own generating resources. Several factors influence price levels and volatility. These factors include, but are not limited to, 
seasonal changes in demand, weather conditions, available generating assets within regions, transportation availability and 
reliability within and between regions, fuel availability, market liquidity, and the nature and extent of current and potential 
federal and state regulations.

As part of our overall strategy for fulfilling our electric and natural gas supply requirements, we employ the use of market 
purchases and sales, including forward contracts. These types of contracts are included in our supply portfolios and in some 
instances, are used to manage price volatility risk by taking advantage of seasonal fluctuations in market prices. These contracts 
are part of an overall portfolio approach intended to provide price stability for consumers. As a regulated utility, our exposure to 
market risk caused by changes in commodity prices is mitigated because these commodity costs are included in our Montana, 
South Dakota and Nebraska cost tracking mechanisms and are recoverable from customers subject to a regulatory review for 
prudency and, in Montana, a sharing mechanism.

Counterparty Credit Risk

We are exposed to counterparty credit risk related to the ability of counterparties to meet their contractual payment 
obligations, and the potential non-performance of counterparties to deliver contracted commodities or services at the contracted 
price. If counterparties seek financial protection under bankruptcy laws, we are exposed to greater financial risks. We are also 
exposed to counterparty credit risk related to providing transmission service to our customers under our Open Access 
Transmission Tariff and under gas transportation agreements. We have risk management policies in place to limit our 
transactions to high quality counterparties. We monitor closely the status of our counterparties and take action, as appropriate, 
to further manage this risk. This includes, but is not limited to, requiring letters of credit or prepayment terms. There can be no 
assurance, however, that the management tools we employ will eliminate the risk of loss.

ITEM 8.  FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

The consolidated financial information, including the reports of independent registered public accounting firm and the 
quarterly financial information, required by this Item 8 is set forth on pages F-1 to F-46 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K 
and is hereby incorporated into this Item 8 by reference.
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ITEM 9.  CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL 
DISCLOSURE 

None.

ITEM 9A.  CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We have established disclosure controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the 
reports we file or submit under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 is recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within 
the time periods specified in the SEC's rules and forms and accumulated and reported to management, including the principal 
executive officer and principal financial officer, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

We conducted an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our principal executive officer and 
principal financial officer, of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934). Based on this evaluation our principal executive officer and principal financial officer have 
concluded that, as of December 31, 2021, our disclosure controls and procedures are effective.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the most recent fiscal quarter that have 
materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Management's Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

The management of NorthWestern is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial 
reporting. Our internal control system was designed to provide reasonable assurance to our management and Board regarding 
the preparation and fair presentation of published financial statements.

All internal controls over financial reporting, no matter how well designed, have inherent limitations, including the 
possibility of human error and the circumvention or overriding of controls. Therefore, even effective internal control over 
financial reporting can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement preparation and presentation. 
Further, because of changes in conditions, the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting may vary over time.

Our management, including our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, assessed the effectiveness of our internal 
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021. In making its assessment of internal control over financial reporting, 
management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in 
Internal Control—Integrated Framework (2013). Based on our evaluation, management concluded that, as of December 31, 
2021, our internal control over financial reporting was effective based on those criteria.

Our independent registered public accounting firm has issued an attestation report on our internal control over financial 
reporting. Their report appears on page F-2.

ITEM 9B.  OTHER INFORMATION

As previously reported, on April 22, 2021 at the 2021 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, the stockholders approved the 
NorthWestern Corporation Amended and Restated Equity Compensation Plan (the Plan), including the issuance of an additional 
700,000 shares of common stock. The Plan permits a committee of the Board to grant to designated officers, employees and 
non-employee directors of NorthWestern and its affiliates incentive awards in the form of performance units, restricted shares, 
restricted share units, unrestricted shares, deferred share units, options, share appreciation rights and other awards including the 
payment of stock in lieu of cash under our other incentive or bonus programs or otherwise and payment of cash based on 
attainment of performance goals. A more detailed summary of the material features of the Plan is set forth in our proxy 
statement for the 2021 Annual Meeting of Stockholders filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 5, 2021. 
A copy of the Plan is included as an Appendix to such proxy statement.

ITEM 9C. DISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS THAT PREVENT INSPECTIONS

Not applicable.
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Part III

ITEM 10.  DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The information required by this item with respect to directors and corporate governance will be set forth in NorthWestern 
Corporation's Proxy Statement for its 2022 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, which is incorporated by reference. Information 
with respect to our Executive Officers is included under "Information about our Executive Officers" in Item 1 of this report.

ITEM 11.  EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Information required by this item will be set forth in NorthWestern Corporation's Proxy Statement for its 2022 Annual 
Meeting of Shareholders, which is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 12.  SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND 
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Information required by this item will be set forth in NorthWestern Corporation's Proxy Statement for its 2022 Annual 
Meeting of Shareholders, which is incorporated herein by reference. 

ITEM 13.  CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE
 

Information concerning relationships and related transactions of the directors and officers of NorthWestern Corporation 
and director independence will be set forth in NorthWestern Corporation's Proxy Statement for its 2022 Annual Meeting of 
Shareholders, which is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 14.  PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

Information concerning fees paid to the principal accountant, Deloitte & Touche LLP (PCAOB ID No. 34), for each of the 
last two years will be set forth in NorthWestern Corporation's Proxy Statement for its 2022 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, 
which is incorporated herein by reference.
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Part IV

ITEM 15.  EXHIBIT AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

The following documents are filed as part of this report:

(1) Consolidated Financial Statements.

The following items are included in Part II, Item 8 of this annual report on Form 10-K:

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS:

 Page
  
Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm F-2
  
Consolidated Statements of Income for the Years Ended December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019 F-5

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the Years Ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 F-6
  
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2021 and 2020 F-7

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019 F-8
  
Consolidated Statements of Common Shareholders' Equity for the Years Ended December 31, 2021, 2020, and 
2019 F-9
  
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements F-10
  
Fourth Quarter Unaudited Financial Data for the Years Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 F-49

All schedules are omitted because they are not applicable or the required information is shown in the Consolidated Financial 
Statements or the Notes thereto.
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(2) Exhibits.

The exhibits listed below are hereby filed with the SEC, as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Certain of the 
following exhibits have been previously filed with the SEC pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933 or the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Such exhibits are identified by the parenthetical references following the listing of each such 
exhibit and are incorporated by reference. We will furnish a copy of any exhibit upon request, but a reasonable fee may be 
charged to cover our expenses in furnishing such exhibit. 

Exhibit
Number  Description of Document
2.1(a)

 

Second Amended and Restated Plan of Reorganization of NorthWestern Corporation (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 2.1 of NorthWestern Corporation's Current Report on Form 8-K, dated October 20, 2004, 
Commission File No. 1-10499).

2.1(b)

 

Order Confirming the Second Amended and Restated Plan of Reorganization of NorthWestern Corporation 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.2 of NorthWestern Corporation's Current Report on Form 8-K, dated 
October 20, 2004, Commission File No. 1-10499).

3.1(a) Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of NorthWestern Corporation, dated May 3, 2016 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of NorthWestern Corporation's Current Report on Form 8-K, dated 
May 18, 2016, Commission File No. 1-10499).

3.2(a) Amended and Restated Bylaws of NorthWestern Corporation, dated May 12, 2016 (incorporated by reference 
to Exhibit 3.2 of NorthWestern Corporation's Current Report on Form 8-K, dated May 18, 2016, Commission 
File No. 1-10499).

4.1(a)

 

First Mortgage and Deed of Trust, dated as of October 1, 1945, by The Montana Power Company in favor of 
Guaranty Trust Company of New York and Arthur E. Burke, as trustees (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 7(e) of The Montana Power Company's Registration Statement, Commission File No. 002-05927).

4.1(b)

 

Eighteenth Supplemental Indenture to the Mortgage and Deed of Trust, dated as of August 5, 1994 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99(b) of The Montana Power Company's Registration Statement on 
Form S-3, dated December 5, 1994, Commission File No. 033-56739).

4.1(c)

 

Twenty-Eighth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of October 1, 2009, by and between NorthWestern 
Corporation and The Bank of New York Mellon, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of 
NorthWestern Corporation’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2009, 
Commission File No. 1-10499).

4.1(d) Twenty-Ninth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of May 1, 2010, among NorthWestern Corporation and The 
Bank of New York Mellon and Ming Ryan, as trustees (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of 
NorthWestern Corporation’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2010, 
Commission File No. 1-10499).

4.1(e) Thirtieth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of August 1, 2012, between NorthWestern Corporation and The 
Bank of New York Mellon and Philip L. Watson, as trustees under the Mortgage and Deed of Trust dated as 
of October 1, 1945 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of NorthWestern Corporation's Current Report 
on Form 8-K, dated August 10, 2012, Commission File No. 1-10499).

4.1(f)

 

Thirty-First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of December 1, 2013, among NorthWestern Corporation and 
The Bank of New York Mellon and Phillip L. Watson, as trustees (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of 
NorthWestern Corporation’s Current Report on Form 8-K, dated December 19, 2013, Commission File No. 
1-10499).

4.1(g) Thirty-Second Supplemental Indenture, dated as of November 1, 2014, among NorthWestern Corporation and 
The Bank of New York Mellon and Phillip L. Watson, as trustees (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 4.4(n) of the Company's Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2014, Commission 
File No. 1-10499).

4.1(h) Thirty-Third Supplemental Indenture, dated as of November 1, 2014, among NorthWestern Corporation and 
The Bank of New York Mellon and Phillip L. Watson, as trustees (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of 
NorthWestern Corporation’s Current Report on Form 8-K, dated November 14, 2014, Commission File No. 
1-10499).

4.1(i) Thirty-Fourth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of January 1, 2015, among NorthWestern Corporation and 
The Bank of New York Mellon and Phillip L. Watson, as trustees (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 4.4(p) of the Company's Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2014, Commission 
File No. 1-10499).

4.1(j) Thirty-Fifth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of June 1, 2015, among NorthWestern Corporation and The 
Bank of New York Mellon and Beata Harvin, as trustees (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of 
NorthWestern Corporation's Current Report on Form 8-K, dated June 29, 2015, Commission File No. 
1-10499).
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4.1(k) Thirty-Seventh Supplemental Indenture, dated as of November 1, 2017, among NorthWestern Corporation 
and The Bank of New York Mellon and Beata Harvin, as trustees (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of 
NorthWestern Corporation's Current Report on Form 8-K, dated November 8, 2017, Commission File No. 
1-10499).

4.1(l) Thirty-Eighth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of June 1, 2019, among NorthWestern Corporation and The 
Bank of New York Mellon and Beata Harvin, as trustees (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of 
NorthWestern Corporation's Current Report on Form 8-K, dated July 2, 2019, Commission File No. 1-10499).

4.1(m) Thirty-Ninth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of September 1, 2019, among NorthWestern Corporation and 
The Bank of New York Mellon and Beata Harvin, as trustees (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of 
NorthWestern Corporation's Current Report on Form 8-K, dated September 20, 2019, Commission File No. 
1-10499).

4.1(n) Fortieth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of April 1, 2020, among NorthWestern Corporation and The Bank 
of New York Mellon and Beata Harvin, as trustees (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of NorthWestern 
Corporation's Current Report on Form 8-K, dated May 15, 2020, Commission File No. 1-10499). 

4.2(a)

 

General Mortgage Indenture and Deed of Trust, dated as of August 1, 1993, from NorthWestern Corporation 
to The Chase Manhattan Bank (National Association), as Trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4(a) of 
NorthWestern Corporation's Current Report on Form 8-K, dated August 16, 1993, Commission File 
No. 1-10499).

4.2(b)

 

Supplemental Indenture, dated as of November 1, 2004, by and between NorthWestern Corporation (formerly 
known as Northwestern Public Service Company) and JPMorgan Chase Bank (successor by merger to The 
Chase Manhattan Bank (National Association)), as Trustee under the General Mortgage Indenture and Deed 
of Trust dated as of August 1, 1993 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.5 of NorthWestern Corporation's 
Current Report on Form 8-K, dated November 1, 2004, Commission File No. 1-10499).

4.2(c) Ninth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of May 1, 2010, by and between NorthWestern Corporation and The 
Bank of New York Mellon, as trustee under the General Mortgage Indenture and Deed of Trust dated as of 
August 1, 1993 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 of NorthWestern Corporation’s Current Report on 
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2010, Commission File No. 1-10499).

4.2(d) Tenth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of August 1, 2012, between NorthWestern Corporation and The Bank 
of New York Mellon, as trustees under the General Mortgage Indenture and Deed of Trust dated as of August 
1, 1993 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 of NorthWestern Corporation's Current Report on Form 8-K, 
dated August 10, 2012, Commission File No. 1-10499).

4.2(e)

 

Eleventh Supplemental Indenture, dated as of December 1, 2013, among NorthWestern Corporation and The 
Bank of New York Mellon, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 of NorthWestern 
Corporation’s Current Report on Form 8-K, dated December 19, 2013, Commission File No. 1-10499).

4.2(f) Twelfth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of December 1, 2014, among NorthWestern Corporation and The 
Bank of New York Mellon, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of NorthWestern 
Corporation’s Current Report on Form 8-K, dated December 19, 2014, Commission File No. 1-10499).

4.2(g) Thirteenth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of September 1, 2015, among NorthWestern Corporation and 
The Bank of New York Mellon, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of NorthWestern 
Corporation’s Current Report on Form 8-K, dated September 29, 2015, Commission File No. 1-10499).

4.2(h) Fourteenth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of June 1, 2016, between the NorthWestern Corporation and The 
Bank of New York Mellon, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of NorthWestern Corporation's 
Current Report on Form 8-K, dated June 21, 2016, Commission File No. 1-10499).

4.2(i) Fifteenth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of September 1, 2016, among NorthWestern Corporation and The 
Bank of New York Mellon, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of NorthWestern 
Corporation’s Current Report on Form 8-K, dated October 6, 2016, Commission File No. 1-10499).

4.2(j) Sixteenth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of April 1, 2020, among NorthWestern Corporation and The Bank 
of New York Mellon, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 of NorthWestern Corporation's 
Current Report on Form 8-K, dated May 15, 2020, Commission File No. 1-10499).

4.3(a) Indenture, dated as of August 1, 2016, between City of Forsyth, Rosebud County, Montana and U.S. Bank 
National Association, as trustee agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of NorthWestern 
Corporation's Current Report on Form 8-K, dated August 16, 2016, Commission File No. 1-10499).

4.3(b) Loan Agreement, dated as of August 1, 2016, between NorthWestern Corporation and the City of Forsyth, 
Montana, related to the issuance of City of Forsyth Pollution Control Revenue Bonds Series 2016 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 of the Company's Report on Form 8-K, dated August 16, 2016, 
Commission File No. 1-10499).

4.3(c) Bond Delivery Agreement, dated as of August 1, 2016, between NorthWestern Corporation and U.S. Bank 
National Association, as trustee agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 of NorthWestern 
Corporation's Current Report on Form 8-K, dated August 16, 2016, Commission File No. 1-10499).
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4.3(d) Thirty-Sixth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of August 1, 2016, among NorthWestern Corporation and The 
Bank of New York Mellon and Beata Harvin, as trustees (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 of 
NorthWestern Corporation's Current Report on Form 8-K, dated August 16, 2016, Commission File No. 
1-10499).

4.3(e) Forty-First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of March 1, 2021, among NorthWestern Corporation and The 
Bank of New York Mellon and Beata Harvin, as trustees (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of 
NorthWestern Corporation's Current Report on Form 8-K, dated March 26, 2021, Commission File No. 
1-10499).

4.5* Description of Securities

10.1(a) † NorthWestern Corporation 2005 Deferred Compensation Plan for Non-Employee Directors, as amended April 
21, 2010 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of NorthWestern Corporation's Quarterly Report on Form 
10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2010, Commission File No. 1-10499).

10.1(b) † NorthWestern Corporation 2009 Officers Deferred Compensation Plan, as amended April 21, 2010 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of NorthWestern Corporation's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for 
the quarter ended June 30, 2010, Commission File No. 1-10499).

10.1(c) † Form of NorthWestern Corporation Executive Retirement/Retention Program Restricted Share Unit Award 
Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.2 of NorthWestern Corporation's Current Report on Form 
8-K, dated December 5, 2011, Commission File No. 1-10499).

10.1(d) † Form of NorthWestern Corporation Executive Retirement/Retention Program Restricted Share Unit Award 
Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.2 of NorthWestern Corporation's Current Report on Form 
8-K, dated December 12, 2012, Commission File No. 1-10499).

10.1(e) † Form of NorthWestern Corporation Executive Retirement/Retention Program Restricted Share Unit Award 
Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.2 of NorthWestern Corporation's Current Report on Form 
8-K, dated December 10, 2013, Commission File No. 1-10499).

10.1(f) † Form of NorthWestern Corporation Performance Unit Award Agreement (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 99.1 of NorthWestern Corporation's Current Report on Form 8-K, dated February 18, 2014, 
Commission File No. 1-10499).

10.1(g) † NorthWestern Corporation Amended and Restated Equity Compensation Plan, as amended effective July 1, 
2014 (incorporated by reference to Appendix A to NorthWestern Corporation's Proxy Statement for the 2014 
Annual Meeting of Shareholders filed on March 7, 2014, Commission File No. 1-10499).

10.1(h) † Form of NorthWestern Corporation Executive Retirement/Retention Program Restricted Share Unit Award 
Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.2 of NorthWestern Corporation's Current Report on Form 
8-K, dated December 22, 2014, Commission File No. 1-10499).

10.1(i) † NorthWestern Corporation Key Employee Severance Plan 2016 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of 
NorthWestern Corporation's Current Report on Form 8-K, dated October 25, 2016, Commission File 
No. 1-10499).

10.1(j) † Form of NorthWestern Corporation Executive Retirement/Retention Program Restricted Share Unit Award 
Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.2 of NorthWestern Corporation's Current Report on Form 
8-K, dated December 13, 2016, Commission File No. 1-10499).

10.1(k) † Form of NorthWestern Corporation Performance Unit Award Agreement (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 99.1 of NorthWestern Corporation's Current Report on Form 8-K, dated February 23, 2017, 
Commission File No. 1-10499).

10.1(l) † Form of NorthWestern Corporation Performance Unit Award Agreement (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 99.1 of NorthWestern Corporation's Current Report on Form 8-K, dated February 16, 2018, 
Commission File No. 1-10499).

10.1(m) † Form of NorthWestern Corporation Executive Retirement/Retention Program Restricted Share Unit Award 
Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.2 of NorthWestern Corporation's Current Report on Form 
8-K, dated December 19, 2018, Commission File No. 1-10499).

10.1(n) † Form of NorthWestern Corporation Performance Unit Award Agreement (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 99.1 of NorthWestern Corporation's Current Report on Form 8-K, dated February 15, 2019, 
Commission File No. 1-10499).

10.1(o) † NorthWestern Energy 2020 Annual Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 of 
NorthWestern Corporation's Current Report on Form 8-K, dated December 23, 2019, Commission File No. 
1-10499).

10.1(p) † Form of NorthWestern Corporation Executive Retirement/Retention Program Restricted Share Unit Award 
Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.2 of NorthWestern Corporation's Current Report on Form 
8-K, dated December 23, 2019, Commission File No. 1-10499).

10.1(q) † NorthWestern Energy 2021 Annual Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 of 
NorthWestern Corporation's Current Report on Form 8-K, dated December 22, 2020, Commission File No. 
1-10499).
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10.1(r) † Form of NorthWestern Corporation Executive Retirement/Retention Program Restricted Share Unit Award 
Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.2 of NorthWestern Corporation's Current Report on Form 
8-K, dated December 22, 2020, Commission File No. 1-10499).

10.1(s) † Form of NorthWestern Corporation Performance Unit Award Agreement (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 99.1 of NorthWestern Corporation’s Current Report on Form 8-K, dated February 11, 2021, 
Commission File No. 1-10499).

10.1(t) † NorthWestern Corporation Amended and Restated Equity Compensation Plan, as amended effective May 1, 
2021 (incorporated by reference to Appendix A to NorthWestern Corporation's Proxy Statement for the 2014 
Annual Meeting of Shareholders filed on March 5, 2021, Commission File No. 1-10499).

10.1(u) † NorthWestern Energy 2022 Annual Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 of 
NorthWestern Corporation's Current Report on Form 8-K, dated December 22, 2021, Commission File No. 
1-10499).

10.1(v) † Form of NorthWestern Corporation Executive Retirement/Retention Program Restricted Share Unit Award 
Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.2 of NorthWestern Corporation's Current Report on Form 
8-K, dated December 22, 2021, Commission File No. 1-10499).

10.2(a) Commercial Paper Dealer Agreement between NorthWestern Corporation and Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner 
& Smith Incorporated, dated as of February 3, 2011 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of 
NorthWestern Corporation's Current Report on Form 8-K, dated February 8, 2011, Commission File No. 
1-10499).

10.2(b) Bond Purchase Agreement, dated as of October 31, 2017, between NorthWestern Corporation and initial 
purchasers (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 of NorthWestern Corporation’s Current Report on form 
10-Q, dated November 2, 2017, Commission File No. 1-10499).

10.2(c) Credit Agreement, dated September 2, 2020, among NorthWestern Corporation, as borrower; the several 
banks and other financial institutions or entities from time to time parties to the agreement, as lenders; BofA 
Securities, Inc., Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC, and U.S. Bank National Association as joint lead 
arrangers; Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC, and U.S. Bank National Association as co-syndication agents; 
Keybank National Association as documentation agent; and Bank of America, N.A., as administrative agent 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of NorthWestern Corporation's Current Report on Form 8-K, dated 
September 4, 2020, Commission File No. 1-10499).

10.3(a) Equity Distribution Agreement, dated April 23, 2021, between NorthWestern Corporation and J.P. Morgan 
Securities LLC, BofA Securities, Inc., CIBC World Markets Corp. and Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC, 
as sales agents and forward sellers; and JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association, Bank of America N.A, 
Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce and Credit Suisse Capital LLC, as forward purchasers. (incorporated 
by reference to Exhibit 1.1 of NorthWestern Corporation's Current Report on Form 8-K, dated April 23, 2021, 
Commission File No. 1-10499).

10.3(b) Form of Master Forward Sale Confirmation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1.2 of Northwestern 
Corporation's Current Report on Form 8-K, dated April 23, 2021, Commission File No. 1-10499)

10.3(c) Forward Sale Agreement, dated November 16, 2021, between NorthWestern Corporation and Bank of 
America, N.A., as forward purchaser (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of NorthWestern 
Corporation's Current Report on Form 8-K, dated November 15, 2021, Commission File No. 1-10499).

10.3(d) Additional Forward Sale Agreement, dated November 17, 2021, between NorthWestern Corporation and 
Bank of America, N.A., as forward purchaser (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of NorthWestern 
Corporation's Current Report on Form 8-K, dated November 15, 2021, Commission File No. 1-10499).

10.4(a) Engineering, Procurement, and Construction Contract, dated April 19, 2021, between Northwestern Energy 
and Burns & McDonnell Engineering Company, Inc (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of 
NorthWestern Corporation's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2021, 
Commission File No. 1-10499).

10.4(b) Procurement Contract, dated April 19, 2021, between Northwestern Energy and Caterpillar Power Generation 
Systems, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of NorthWestern Corporation's Quarterly Report on 
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2021, Commission File No. 1-10499).

21* Subsidiaries of NorthWestern Corporation.
23* Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
24* Power of Attorney (included on the signature page of this Annual Report on Form 10-K)
31.1* Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002
31.2* Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002
32.1* Certification of Robert C. Rowe pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
32.2* Certification of Crystal Lail pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
101.INS* Inline XBRL Instance Document - the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because 

its XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL document.
101.SCH* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
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101.CAL* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
101.DEF* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
101.LAB* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Label Linkbase Document
101.PRE* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101)

† Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
* Filed herewith.

All schedules for which provision is made in the applicable accounting regulations of the SEC are not required under the related 
instructions or are not applicable, and, therefore, have been omitted.

ITEM 16.  FORM 10-K SUMMARY

Not applicable.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused 
this Annual Report on Form 10-K to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

 NORTHWESTERN CORPORATION
  

February 11, 2022 By: /s/ ROBERT C. ROWE  
  Robert C. Rowe
  Chief Executive Officer
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POWER OF ATTORNEY

We, the undersigned directors and/or officers of NorthWestern Corporation, hereby severally constitute and appoint 
Robert C. Rowe and Crystal D. Lail, and each of them with full power to act alone, our true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and 
agents, with full power of substitution and resubstitution and revocation, for each of us and in our name, place, and stead, in any 
and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and to file or cause to be filed the same, 
with all exhibits thereto, and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, and 
hereby grant unto such attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, the full power and authority to do each and every act and 
thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the foregoing, as fully to all intents and purposes as each of us might or 
could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents, or any of them, or their respective 
substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Annual Report on Form 10-K has been signed 
below by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature  Title  Date
     

/s/ DANA J. DYKHOUSE  Chairman of the Board  February 11, 2022
Dana J. Dykhouse     

     

/s/ ROBERT C. ROWE  Chief Executive Officer and Director  February 11, 2022
Robert C. Rowe  (Principal Executive Officer)   

     

/s/ CRYSTAL D. LAIL  Vice President and Chief Financial Officer  February 11, 2022
Crystal D. Lail  (Principal Financial Officer)   

     

/s/ JEFFREY B. BERZINA  Controller  February 11, 2022
Jeffrey B. Berzina  (Principal Accounting Officer)   

     

/s/ ANTHONY T. CLARK Director February 11, 2022
Anthony T. Clark

     

/s/ JAN R. HORSFALL  Director  February 11, 2022
Jan R. Horsfall     

/s/ BRITT E. IDE Director February 11, 2022
Britt E. Ide

/s/ LINDA G. SULLIVAN  Director  February 11, 2022
Linda G. Sullivan     

     

/s/ MAHVASH YAZDI  Director  February 11, 2022
Mahvash Yazdi     

/s/ JEFFREY W. YINGLING Director  February 11, 2022
Jeffrey W. Yingling
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the shareholders and the Board of Directors of NorthWestern Corporation

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of NorthWestern Corporation and subsidiaries (the 
"Company") as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, cash 
flows and common shareholders' equity, for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2021, and the related 
notes (collectively, referred to as the "financial statements"). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all 
material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, and the results of its operations and 
its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2021, in conformity with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) 
(PCAOB), the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021, based on criteria established in 
Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission and our report dated February 10, 2022, expressed an unqualified opinion on the Company's internal control over 
financial reporting.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on 
the Company's financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are 
required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable 
rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the 
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to 
error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included 
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included 
evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matter

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current-period audit of the financial statements that 
was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that 
are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The 
communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the financial statements, taken as a whole, and 
we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the 
accounts or disclosures to which it relates.

Regulatory Matters - Impact of Rate Regulation on the Financial Statements-Refer to Notes 2, 3, and 4 to the financial 
statements

Critical Audit Matter Description

The Company is subject to rate regulation by federal and state utility regulatory agencies (collectively, the “Commissions”), 
which have jurisdiction over the Company’s electric and natural gas distribution rates in Montana, South Dakota and Nebraska. 
Management has determined regulated accounting is appropriate provided that (i) rates are established by or subject to approval 
by independent, third-party regulators, (ii) rates are designed to recover the specific enterprise's cost of service, and (iii) in view 
of demand for service, it is reasonable to assume that rates are set at levels that will recover costs and can be charged to and 
collected from customers. Accounting for the economics of rate regulation affects multiple financial statement line items and 
disclosures, including property, plant, and equipment; regulatory assets and liabilities; operating revenues and expenses; 
depreciation expense; income taxes; and multiple disclosures in the notes to the financial statements.

Rates are determined and approved in regulatory proceedings based on an analysis of the Company’s costs to provide utility 
service and a return on, and recovery of, the Company’s capital investment in its utility operations. The economic effects of 
regulation can result in regulated companies recording costs that have been, or are deemed probable to be, allowed in the 
ratemaking process in a period different from the period in which the costs would be charged to expense by an unregulated 
enterprise. When this occurs, costs are deferred as regulatory assets and recorded as expenses in the periods when those same 
amounts are reflected in rates. Additionally, regulators can impose liabilities upon a regulated company for amounts previously 
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collected from customers and for amounts that are expected to be refunded to customers (regulatory liabilities). The 
Commissions’ regulation of rates is premised on the full recovery of prudently incurred costs and a reasonable rate of return on 
invested capital. While the Company has indicated it expects to recover costs from customers through regulated rates, there is a 
risk that the Commissions will not approve: (1) full recovery of the costs of providing utility service or (2) full recovery of all 
amounts invested in the utility business and a reasonable return on that investment.

We identified the impact of rate regulation as a critical audit matter due to the significant judgments made by management to 
support its assertions about affected account balances and disclosures and the high degree of subjectivity involved in assessing 
the impact of future regulatory orders on the financial statements. Management judgments include assessing the likelihood of 
(1) recovery in future rates of incurred costs, (2) a disallowance of capital expenditures or operating costs that management 
believes were prudently incurred, and (3) refunds to be provided to customers. Given that management’s accounting judgments 
are based on assumptions about the outcome of future decisions by the Commissions, auditing these judgments requires 
specialized knowledge of accounting for rate regulation and the rate setting process due to its inherent complexities.

How the Critical Audit Matter Was Addressed in the Audit

Our audit procedures related to the uncertainty of future decisions by the Commissions included the following, among others:

•   We tested the effectiveness of management’s controls over the evaluation of the likelihood of (1) the recovery in future rates 
of costs incurred as regulatory assets, and (2) a refund or a future reduction in rates that should be reported as regulatory 
liabilities. We also tested the effectiveness of management’s controls over the recognition of amounts as property, plant, and 
equipment; regulatory assets or liabilities; and the monitoring and evaluation of regulatory developments that may affect the 
likelihood of recovering costs in future rates or of a future reduction in rates.

•   We evaluated the Company’s disclosures related to the impacts of rate regulation, including the balances recorded and 
regulatory developments.

•   We read relevant regulatory orders issued by the Commissions, regulatory statutes, interpretations, procedural 
memorandums, filings made by intervenors, filings made by the Company, and other publicly available information to assess 
the likelihood of recovery in future rates or of a future reduction in rates based on precedents of the Commissions’ treatment of 
similar costs under similar circumstances. We evaluated the external information and compared to management’s recorded 
regulatory asset and liability balances for completeness.

•   We evaluated regulatory filings and testimony for any evidence that intervenors are challenging full recovery of the cost of 
any capital projects or operating costs. If full recovery of project costs is being challenged by intervenors, we evaluated 
management’s assessment of the probability of a disallowance.

•   We assessed management’s conclusion regarding probability of recovery for regulatory assets or refund or future reduction 
in rates for regulatory liabilities not yet addressed in a regulatory order to assess management’s assertion that amounts are 
probable of recovery or a future reduction in rates.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP  
 
Minneapolis, Minnesota
February 10, 2022
We have served as the Company's auditor since 2002.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the shareholders and the Board of Directors of NorthWestern Corporation

Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of NorthWestern Corporation and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as 
of December 31, 2021, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the 
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all 
material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021, based on criteria established in 
Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by COSO. 

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) 
(PCAOB), the consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2021, of the Company and our 
report dated February 10, 2022, expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its 
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying "Management's 
Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting." Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s 
internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are 
required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable 
rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the 
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all 
material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk 
that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the 
assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit 
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the 
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures 
that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and 
dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit 
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and 
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the 
company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or 
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, 
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate 
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP  
 
Minneapolis, Minnesota
February 10, 2022
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NORTHWESTERN CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

(in thousands, except per share amounts)

 Year Ended December 31,
 2021 2020 2019
Revenues    

Electric $ 1,052,182 $ 940,815 $ 981,178 
Gas  320,134  257,855  276,732 
Total Revenues  1,372,316  1,198,670  1,257,910 

Operating Expenses    
Fuel, purchased supply and direct transmission expense (exclusive of 
depreciation and depletion shown separately below)  425,548  306,190  318,020 
Operating and maintenance  208,303  202,991  209,052 
Administrative and general  101,873  94,124  109,177 
Property and other taxes  173,444  179,517  171,888 
Depreciation and depletion  187,467  179,644  172,923 
Total Operating Expenses  1,096,635  962,466  981,060 

Operating Income  275,681  236,204  276,850 
Interest Expense, net  (93,674)  (96,812)  (95,068) 
Other Income, net  8,252  4,853  413 
Income Before Income Taxes  190,259  144,245  182,195 
Income Tax (Expense) Benefit  (3,419)  10,970  19,925 
Net Income $ 186,840 $ 155,215 $ 202,120 

Average Common Shares Outstanding  51,709  50,559  50,429 
Basic Earnings per Average Common Share $ 3.61 $ 3.07 $ 4.01 
Diluted Earnings per Average Common Share $ 3.60 $ 3.06 $ 3.98 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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NORTHWESTERN CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
 

(in thousands)
 

 Year Ended December 31,
 2021 2020 2019
Net Income $ 186,840 $ 155,215 $ 202,120 
Other comprehensive (loss) income, net of tax:

Reclassification of net losses on derivative instruments  452  452  452 
Postretirement medical liability adjustment  (436)  1,840  (131) 
Foreign currency translation  (57)  87  (35) 
Total Other Comprehensive (Loss) Income  (41)  2,379  286 

Comprehensive Income $ 186,799 $ 157,594 $ 202,406 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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NORTHWESTERN CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(in thousands, except per share amounts)

 Year Ended December 31,
 2021 2020
ASSETS   
Current Assets:   

Cash and cash equivalents $ 2,820 $ 5,811 
Restricted cash  15,942  11,285 
Accounts receivable, net  198,671  168,229 
Inventories  80,614  61,010 
Regulatory assets  115,541  44,973 
Prepaid expenses and other  24,207  17,372 

      Total current assets  437,795  308,680 
Property, plant, and equipment, net  5,247,232  4,952,935 
Goodwill  357,586  357,586 
Regulatory assets  690,686  701,444 
Other noncurrent assets  47,144  68,804 
      Total Assets $ 6,780,443 $ 6,389,449 
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY   
Current Liabilities:   

Current maturities of finance leases $ 2,875 $ 2,668 
Short-term borrowings  —  100,000 
Accounts payable  115,237  100,388 
Accrued expenses  233,351  207,514 
Regulatory liabilities  28,179  55,853 

      Total current liabilities  379,642  466,423 
Long-term finance leases  11,897  14,771 
Long-term debt  2,541,478  2,315,261 
Deferred income taxes  499,634  471,777 
Noncurrent regulatory liabilities  638,760  631,419 
Other noncurrent liabilities  369,319  410,703 
      Total Liabilities  4,440,730  4,310,354 
Commitments and Contingencies (Note 18)
Shareholders' Equity:   
   Common stock, par value $0.01; authorized 200,000,000 shares; issued and outstanding 
57,606,252 and 54,060,608, respectively; Preferred stock, par value $0.01; authorized 
50,000,000 shares; none issued  576  541 

Treasury stock at cost  (98,248)  (98,075) 
Paid-in capital  1,716,227  1,513,787 
Retained earnings  728,468  670,111 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss  (7,310)  (7,269) 

Total Shareholders' Equity  2,339,713  2,079,095 
Total Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity $ 6,780,443 $ 6,389,449 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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NORTHWESTERN CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(in thousands)

 Year Ended December 31,
 2021 2020 2019
OPERATING ACTIVITIES:    

Net Income $ 186,840 $ 155,215 $ 202,120 
Items not affecting cash:    
Depreciation and depletion  187,467  179,644  172,923 
Amortization of debt issuance costs, discount and deferred hedge gain  5,250  4,911  4,648 
Stock-based compensation costs  5,350  4,149  8,007 
Equity portion of allowance for funds used during construction  (11,092)  (6,895)  (5,768) 
(Gain) loss on disposition of assets  (47)  37  (188) 
Deferred income taxes  525  (7,574)  (13,864) 

Changes in current assets and liabilities:   
Accounts receivable  (30,442)  (824)  (5,032) 
Inventories  (19,604)  (7,085)  (3,110) 
Other current assets  (6,835)  (3,477)  (3,140) 
Accounts payable  7,494  16,043  (1,821) 
Accrued expenses  26,055  5,909  (16,023) 
Regulatory assets  (69,616)  14,749  (16,028) 
Regulatory liabilities  (27,674)  22,773  (7,796) 

Other noncurrent assets  2,313  (5,396)  (22,841) 
Other noncurrent liabilities  (36,006)  (20,030)  4,633 

Cash Provided by Operating Activities  219,978  352,149  296,720 
INVESTING ACTIVITIES:    

Property, plant, and equipment additions  (434,328)  (405,762)  (316,016) 
Investment in equity securities  (1,505)  (42)  (135) 

Cash Used in Investing Activities  (435,833)  (405,804)  (316,151) 
FINANCING ACTIVITIES:    

Dividends on common stock  (128,483)  (120,350)  (115,127) 
Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net  196,246  —  — 
Issuance of long-term debt  99,915  150,000  150,000 
Repayments on long-term debt  (955)  —  — 
Line of credit borrowings (repayments), net  151,000  (67,000)  (19,000) 
(Repayments) issuances of short-term borrowings  (100,000)  100,000  — 
Treasury stock activity  707  (1,391)  1,432 
Financing costs  (909)  (2,578)  (1,115) 

Cash Provided by Financing Activities  217,521  58,681  16,190 
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash, Cash Equivalents, and
Restricted Cash  1,666  5,026  (3,241) 

Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Restricted Cash, beginning of period  17,096  12,070  15,311 
  Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Restricted Cash, end of period $ 18,762 $ 17,096 $ 12,070 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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NORTHWESTERN CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMMON SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
(in thousands, except per share data)

 

Number of 
Common

Shares

Number of
Treasury

Shares
Common

Stock
Paid in
Capital

Treasury
Stock

Retained
Earnings

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive 
Loss

Total 
Shareholders' 

Equity
Balance at December 31, 2018  53,889  3,566 $ 539 $ 1,499,070 $ (95,546) $ 548,253 $ (9,934) $ 1,942,382 

Net income  —  —  —  —  —  202,120  —  202,120 
Foreign currency translation 
adjustment, net of tax  —  —  —  —  —  —  (35)  (35) 
Reclassification of net gains on 
derivative instruments from OCI 
to net income, net of tax  —  —  —  —  —  —  452  452 
Postretirement medical liability 
adjustment, net of tax  —  —  —  —  —  —  (131)  (131) 
Stock based compensation  110  25  2  7,964  (1,657)  —  —  6,309 
Issuance of shares  —  (44)  —  1,936  1,188  —  —  3,124 
Dividends on common stock 
($2.30 per share)  —  —  —  —  —  (115,127)  —  (115,127) 
Balance at December 31, 2019  53,999  3,547 $ 541 $ 1,508,970 $ (96,015) $ 635,246 $ (9,648) $ 2,039,094 

Net income  —  —  —  —  —  155,215  —  155,215 
Foreign currency translation 
adjustment, net of tax  —  —  —  —  —  —  87  87 
Reclassification of net losses on 
derivative instruments from OCI 
to net income, net of tax  —  —  —  —  —  —  452  452 
Postretirement medical liability 
adjustment, net of tax  —  —  —  —  —  —  1,840  1,840 
Stock based compensation  146  35  —  4,100  (2,741)  —  —  1,359 
Issuance of shares  —  (24)  —  717  681  —  —  1,398 
Dividends on common stock 
($2.40 per share)  —  —  —  —  —  (120,350)  —  (120,350) 
Balance at December 31, 2020  54,145  3,558 $ 541 $ 1,513,787 $ (98,075) $ 670,111 $ (7,269) $ 2,079,095 

Net income  —  —  —  —  —  186,840  —  186,840 
Foreign currency translation 
adjustment, net of tax  —  —  —  —  —  —  (57)  (57) 
Reclassification of net losses on 
derivative instruments from OCI 
to net income, net of tax  —  —  —  —  —  —  452  452 
Postretirement medical liability 
adjustment, net of tax  —  —  —  —  —  —  (436)  (436) 
Stock based compensation  93  17  1  5,298  (971)  —  —  4,328 
Issuance of shares  3,368  (29)  34  197,142  798  —  —  197,974 
Dividends on common stock 
($2.48 per share)  —  —  —  —  —  (128,483)  —  (128,483) 
Balance at December 31, 2021  57,606  3,546 $ 576 $ 1,716,227 $ (98,248) $ 728,468 $ (7,310) $ 2,339,713 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(1)           Nature of Operations and Basis of Consolidation

NorthWestern Corporation, doing business as NorthWestern Energy, provides electricity and / or natural gas to 
approximately 753,600 customers in Montana, South Dakota, Nebraska and Yellowstone National Park. We have generated and 
distributed electricity in South Dakota and distributed natural gas in South Dakota and Nebraska since 1923 and have generated 
and distributed electricity and distributed natural gas in Montana since 2002.

The Consolidated Financial Statements for the periods included herein have been prepared by NorthWestern Corporation 
(NorthWestern, we or us), pursuant to the rules and regulations of the SEC. The preparation of financial statements in 
conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that may affect the reported amounts of 
assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. The 
accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements include our accounts together with those of our wholly and majority-owned 
or controlled subsidiaries. All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated from the Consolidated Financial 
Statements. Events occurring subsequent to December 31, 2021, have been evaluated as to their potential impact to the 
Consolidated Financial Statements through the date of issuance. 

Reclassification

In 2021, we renamed the line item "Cost of sales" as previously shown on the Consolidated Statements of Income, and used 
elsewhere within our filing, to "Fuel, purchased supply and direct transmission expense." Additionally, we disaggregated the 
line item "Operating, general and administrative" as previously shown on the Consolidated Statements of Income, and used 
elsewhere within our filing, to two line items, "Operating and maintenance" and "Administrative and general." These 
reclassifications were done in an effort to better convey the nature of these costs.

Variable Interest Entities

A reporting company is required to consolidate a variable interest entity (VIE) as its primary beneficiary, which means it 
has a controlling financial interest, when it has both the power to direct the activities of the VIE that most significantly impact 
the VIE's economic performance, and the obligation to absorb losses or the right to receive benefits from the VIE that could 
potentially be significant to the VIE. An entity is considered to be a VIE when its total equity investment at risk is not sufficient 
to permit the entity to finance its activities without additional subordinated financial support, or its equity investors, as a group, 
lack the characteristics of having a controlling financial interest. The determination of whether a company is required to 
consolidate an entity is based on, among other things, an entity's purpose and design and a company's ability to direct the 
activities of the entity that most significantly impact the entity's economic performance. 

 
Certain long-term purchase power and tolling contracts may be considered variable interests. We have various long-term 

purchase power contracts with other utilities and certain QF plants. We identified one QF contract that may constitute a VIE. 
We entered into a power purchase contract in 1984 with this 35 MW coal-fired QF to purchase substantially all of the facility's 
capacity and electrical output over a substantial portion of its estimated useful life. We absorb a portion of the facility's 
variability through annual changes to the price we pay per MWH (energy payment). After making exhaustive efforts, we have 
been unable to obtain the information from the facility necessary to determine whether the facility is a VIE or whether we are 
the primary beneficiary of the facility. The contract with the facility contains no provision which legally obligates the facility to 
release this information. We have accounted for this QF contract as an executory contract. Based on the current contract terms 
with this QF, our estimated gross contractual payments aggregate to approximately $67.6 million through 2024. For further 
discussion of our gross QF liability, see Note 18 - Commitments and Contingencies. During the years ended December 31, 
2021, 2020 and 2019 purchases from this QF were approximately $26.1 million, $22.2 million, and $23.4 million, respectively. 

(2)           Significant Accounting Policies

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires us to make estimates and assumptions that 
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Estimates 
are used for such items as long-lived asset values and impairment charges, long-lived asset useful lives, tax provisions, 
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uncertain tax position reserves, asset retirement obligations, regulatory assets and liabilities, allowances for uncollectible 
accounts, our QF liability, environmental liabilities, unbilled revenues and actuarially determined benefit costs and liabilities. 
We revise the recorded estimates when we receive better information or when we can determine actual amounts. Those 
revisions can affect operating results.

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue as customers obtain control of promised goods and services in an amount that reflects 
consideration expected in exchange for those goods or services. Generally, the delivery of electricity and natural gas results in 
the transfer of control to customers at the time the commodity is delivered and the amount of revenue recognized is equal to the 
amount billed to each customer, including estimated volumes delivered when billings have not yet occurred.

Cash Equivalents

We consider all highly liquid investments with maturities of three months or less at the time of purchase to be cash 
equivalents.

Restricted Cash

Restricted cash consists primarily of funds held in trust accounts to satisfy the requirements of certain stipulation 
agreements and insurance reserve requirements.

Accounts Receivable, Net

Accounts receivable are net of allowances for uncollectible accounts of $2.3 million and $5.6 million at December 31, 
2021 and December 31, 2020. Receivables include unbilled revenues of $98.1 million and $80.5 million at December 31, 2021 
and December 31, 2020, respectively.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at average cost. Inventory consisted of the following (in thousands):

 December 31,
 2021 2020
Materials and supplies $ 54,137 $ 44,311 
Storage gas and fuel  26,477  16,699 
Total Inventories $ 80,614 $ 61,010 

Regulation of Utility Operations

Our regulated operations are subject to the provisions of ASC 980, Regulated Operations. Regulated accounting is 
appropriate provided that (i) rates are established by or subject to approval by independent, third-party regulators, (ii) rates are 
designed to recover the specific enterprise's cost of service, and (iii) in view of demand for service, it is reasonable to assume 
that rates are set at levels that will recover costs and can be charged to and collected from customers.

Our Consolidated Financial Statements reflect the effects of the different rate making principles followed by the 
jurisdictions regulating us. The economic effects of regulation can result in regulated companies recording costs that have been, 
or are deemed probable to be, allowed in the ratemaking process in a period different from the period in which the costs would 
be charged to expense by an unregulated enterprise. When this occurs, costs are deferred as regulatory assets and recorded as 
expenses in the periods when those same amounts are reflected in rates. Additionally, regulators can impose liabilities upon a 
regulated company for amounts previously collected from customers and for amounts that are expected to be refunded to 
customers (regulatory liabilities).

If we were required to terminate the application of these provisions to our regulated operations, all such deferred amounts 
would be recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Income at that time. This would result in a charge to earnings and 
accumulated other comprehensive loss (AOCL), net of applicable income taxes, which could be material. In addition, we would 
determine any impairment to the carrying costs of deregulated plant and inventory assets.
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Derivative Financial Instruments

We account for derivative instruments in accordance with ASC 815, Derivatives and Hedging. All derivatives are 
recognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheets at their fair value unless they qualify for certain exceptions, including the 
normal purchases and normal sales exception. Additionally, derivatives that qualify and are designated for hedge accounting are 
classified as either hedges of the fair value of a recognized asset or liability or of an unrecognized firm commitment (fair-value 
hedge) or hedges of a forecasted transaction or the variability of cash flows to be received or paid related to a recognized asset 
or liability (cash-flow hedge). For fair-value hedges, changes in fair values for both the derivative and the underlying hedged 
exposure are recognized in earnings each period. For cash-flow hedges, the portion of the derivative gain or loss that is effective 
in offsetting the change in the cost or value of the underlying exposure is deferred in AOCL and later reclassified into earnings 
when the underlying transaction occurs. Gains and losses from the ineffective portion of any hedge are recognized in earnings 
immediately. For other derivative contracts that do not qualify or are not designated for hedge accounting, changes in the fair 
value of the derivatives are recognized in earnings each period. Cash inflows and outflows related to derivative instruments are 
included as a component of operating, investing or financing cash flows in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, 
depending on the underlying nature of the hedged items.

 
Revenues and expenses on contracts that are designated as normal purchases and normal sales are recognized when the 

underlying physical transaction is completed. While these contracts are considered derivative financial instruments, they are not 
required to be recorded at fair value, but on an accrual basis of accounting. Normal purchases and normal sales are contracts 
where physical delivery is probable, quantities are expected to be used or sold in the normal course of business over a 
reasonable period of time, and price is not tied to an unrelated underlying derivative. As part of our regulated electric and gas 
operations, we enter into contracts to buy and sell energy to meet the requirements of our customers. These contracts include 
short-term and long-term commitments to purchase and sell energy in the retail and wholesale markets with the intent and 
ability to deliver or take delivery. If it were determined that a transaction designated as a normal purchase or a normal sale no 
longer met the exceptions, the fair value of the related contract would be reflected as an asset or liability and immediately 
recognized through earnings. See Note 8 - Risk Management and Hedging Activities, for further discussion of our derivative 
activity.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at original cost, including contracted services, direct labor and material, AFUDC, 
and indirect charges for engineering, supervision and similar overhead items. All expenditures for maintenance and repairs of 
utility property, plant and equipment are charged to the appropriate maintenance expense accounts. A betterment or 
replacement of a unit of property is accounted for as an addition and retirement of utility plant. At the time of such a retirement, 
the accumulated provision for depreciation is charged with the original cost of the property retired and also for the net cost of 
removal. Also included in plant and equipment are assets under finance lease, which are stated at the present value of minimum 
lease payments.

AFUDC represents the cost of financing construction projects with borrowed funds and equity funds. While cash is not 
realized currently from such allowance, it is realized under the ratemaking process over the service life of the related property 
through increased revenues resulting from a higher rate base and higher depreciation expense. The component of AFUDC 
attributable to borrowed funds is included as a reduction to interest expense, while the equity component is included in other 
income. This rate averaged 6.6%, 6.7%, and 6.9% for Montana for 2021, 2020, and 2019, respectively. This rate averaged 
6.4%, 6.7%, and 6.6% for South Dakota for 2021, 2020, and 2019, respectively. AFUDC capitalized totaled $15.9 million, $9.8 
million, and $8.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019, respectively, for Montana and South Dakota 
combined.

We record provisions for depreciation at amounts substantially equivalent to calculations made on a straight-line method by 
applying various rates based on useful lives of the various classes of properties (ranging from 2 to 96 years) determined from 
engineering studies. As a percentage of the depreciable utility plant at the beginning of the year, our provision for depreciation 
of utility plant was approximately 2.8% for 2021, 2020, and 2019. 

Depreciation rates include a provision for our share of the estimated costs to decommission our jointly owned plants at the 
end of the useful life. The annual provision for such costs is included in depreciation expense, while the accumulated provisions 
are included in noncurrent regulatory liabilities.
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Pension and Postretirement Benefits

We have liabilities under defined benefit retirement plans and a postretirement plan that offers certain health care and life 
insurance benefits to eligible employees and their dependents. The costs of these plans are dependent upon numerous factors, 
assumptions and estimates, including determination of discount rate, expected return on plan assets, rate of future compensation 
increases, age and mortality and employment periods. In determining the projected benefit obligations and costs, assumptions 
can change from period to period and may result in material changes in the cost and liabilities we recognize.

Accrued Expenses

Accrued expenses consisted of the following (in thousands):
December 31,

2021 2020
Property taxes $ 86,168 $ 89,425 
Employee compensation, benefits, and withholdings  44,743  40,538 
Customer advances  29,013  16,015 
Interest  18,568  18,074 
Other (none of which is individually significant)  54,859  43,462 
Total Accrued Expenses $ 233,351 $ 207,514 

Other Noncurrent Liabilities

Other noncurrent liabilities consisted of the following (in thousands):

 December 31,
 2021 2020
Pension and other employee benefits $ 96,151 $ 136,632 
Customer advances  80,780  65,186 
Future QF obligation, net  64,943  81,379 
Asset retirement obligations  38,350  45,355 
Environmental  23,395  25,049 
Other (none of which is individually significant)  65,700  57,102 
 Total Noncurrent Liabilities $ 369,319 $ 410,703 

Income Taxes

We follow the liability method in accounting for income taxes. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities represent the 
future effects on income taxes from temporary differences between the bases of assets and liabilities for financial reporting and 
tax purposes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the 
years in which those temporary differences are expected to reverse. The probability of realizing deferred tax assets is based on 
forecasts of future taxable income and the availability of tax planning strategies that can be implemented, if necessary, to realize 
deferred tax assets. We establish a valuation allowance when it is more likely than not that all, or a portion of, a deferred tax 
asset will not be realized. 

Exposures exist related to various tax filing positions, which may require an extended period of time to resolve and may 
result in income tax adjustments by taxing authorities. We have reduced deferred tax assets or established liabilities based on 
our best estimate of future probable adjustments related to these exposures. On a quarterly basis, we evaluate exposures in light 
of any additional information and make adjustments as necessary to reflect the best estimate of the future outcomes. We believe 
our deferred tax assets and established liabilities are appropriate for estimated exposures; however, actual results may differ 
from these estimates. The resolution of tax matters in a particular future period could have a material impact on our 
Consolidated Income Statements and provision for income taxes.
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Environmental Costs

We record environmental costs when it is probable we are liable for the costs and we can reasonably estimate the liability. 
We may defer costs as a regulatory asset if there is precedent for recovering similar costs from customers in rates. Otherwise, 
we expense the costs. If an environmental cost is related to facilities we currently use, such as pollution control equipment, then 
we may capitalize and depreciate the costs over the remaining life of the asset, assuming the costs are recoverable in future rates 
or future cash flows.

Our remediation cost estimates are based on the use of an environmental consultant, our experience, our assessment of the 
current situation and the technology currently available for use in the remediation. We regularly adjust the recorded costs as we 
revise estimates and as remediation proceeds. If we are one of several designated responsible parties, then we estimate and 
record only our share of the cost. 

Supplemental Cash Flow Information

 Year Ended December 31,
 2021 2020 2019

(in thousands)

Cash paid (received) for:    
Income taxes $ 4,330 $ 115 $ (6,737) 
Interest  87,221  84,922  83,776 

Significant non-cash transactions:   
Capital expenditures included in trade accounts payable  29,034  21,430  33,473 
NMTC debt extinguishment included in other noncurrent assets(1)  18,169  —  — 
NMTC debt extinguishment included in property, plant and 
equipment, net(1)  6,594  —  — 
NMTC debt extinguishment included in long-term debt(1)  1,259  —  — 

(1) See Note 11 - Long-Term Debt and Finance Leases for further information regarding these non-cash transactions.

The following table provides a reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash reported within the 
Consolidated Balance Sheets that sum to the total of the same such amounts shown in the Consolidated Statements of Cash 
Flows (in thousands):

December 31,
2021 2020 2019

Cash and cash equivalents $ 2,820 $ 5,811 $ 5,145 
Restricted cash  15,942  11,285  6,925 

Total cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash shown in the 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows $ 18,762 $ 17,096 $ 12,070 

Restricted cash consists primarily of funds held in trust accounts to satisfy the requirements of certain stipulation 
agreements and insurance reserve requirements.

Accounting Standards Issued

At this time, we are not expecting the adoption of recently issued accounting standards to have a material impact to our 
financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows.
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(3)           Regulatory Matters

Power Costs and Credits Adjustment Mechanism (PCCAM) - Montana

We track electric supply costs for our Montana electric utility, such as purchased power and fuel, against a forecast of costs 
approved by the MPSC. This forecast is referred to as the power costs and credits adjustment mechanism base (PCCAM Base). 
If our actual costs exceed the approved PCCAM Base revenues on an annual basis, we can recover 90% of the excess costs, 
with the non-recoverable 10% impacting net income. Our QF power purchase costs are recoverable through rates separate from 
the PCCAM Base. The MPSC reviews these costs annually, with NorthWestern receiving an automatic adjustment through 
interim rates, subject to refund, effective on October 1 of each year. During the twelve months ended December 31, 2021 we 
recognized $5.4 million of non-recoverable excess PCCAM supply costs, compared to $0.8 million of non-recoverable excess 
PCCAM supply costs for the twelve months ended December 31, 2020.

The current PCCAM Base, approved in 2019, no longer reflects an accurate current forecast of our fuel and power costs. In 
April 2021, we filed an application with the MPSC for approval to increase the PCCAM Base by approximately $17.0 million. 
On June 29, 2021, the MPSC approved interim rates reflecting our request, subject to refund. On August 2, 2021, the MCC 
filed a motion asking the MPSC to dismiss the application arguing that the MPSC issued a Final Order in 2018 prohibiting 
NorthWestern from requesting an update to the PCCAM Base, except in a general rate case. NorthWestern argued that the 
tariff, which the MPSC approved as implementing the Final Order, allows us to file an application outside of a general rate 
case. On October 5, 2021, the MPSC voted to grant the MCC’s motion to dismiss. The MPSC issued the final written order on 
December 2, 2021, dismissing our application. As of December 31, 2021, we had deferred revenue of approximately $8.2 
million, which we expect to refund in 2022, associated with these interim rates, including interest. 

 
Montana Community Renewable Energy Projects (CREPs)

We were required to acquire, as of December 31, 2020, approximately 65 MW of CREPs. While we made progress 
towards meeting this obligation by acquiring approximately 50 MW of CREPs, we were unable to acquire the remaining MWs 
required for various reasons, including the fact that proposed projects fail to qualify as CREPs or do not meet the statutory cost 
cap. The MPSC granted us waivers for 2012 through 2016. The validity of the MPSC’s action as it related to waivers granted 
for 2015 and 2016 has been challenged legally and was fully briefed before the Montana Supreme Court. 

On May 14, 2021, the Montana Governor signed a bill that eliminated the state's Renewable Portfolio Standard, including 
repeal of the CREP requirement. We notified the Montana Supreme Court of the repeal. We also dismissed our pending 
application filed with the MPSC for a waiver from full compliance for years 2017 through 2020.

On September 7, 2021, the Montana Supreme Court remanded the case challenging the 2015 and 2016 waivers to the 
District Court to determine whether the repeal of the CREP requirement made the petition moot. The matter has been fully 
briefed before the District Court. In that briefing, the Montana Environmental Information Center requested the District Court 
to amend its previous judgment and penalize us $2.5 million for failure to comply with the CREP requirement in 2015 and 
2016. We responded to this request arguing that it was unlawful for the District Court to penalize us. We expect a decision from 
the District Court in the first half of 2022.

 If the Montana Courts and/or MPSC determine that the repeal should not be applied retroactively and find that waivers 
should not be granted, we could be liable for penalties. However, we do not believe any such penalties would be material.

FERC Financial Audit

We are subject to FERC’s jurisdiction and regulations with respect to rates for electric transmission service in interstate 
commerce and electricity sold at wholesale rates, the issuance of certain securities, and incurrence of certain long-term debt, 
among other things. The Division of Audits and Accounting in the Office of Enforcement of FERC has initiated a routine audit 
of NorthWestern Corporation for the period of January 1, 2018 to the present to evaluate our compliance with FERC accounting 
and financial reporting requirements. We have responded to several sets of data requests as part of the audit process. An audit 
report has not yet been received from FERC, but is expected during the first quarter of 2022. Management is unable to predict 
the outcome or timing of the final resolution of the audit.
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(4)           Regulatory Assets and Liabilities

We prepare our Consolidated Financial Statements in accordance with the provisions of ASC 980, as discussed in Note 2 - 
Significant Accounting Policies. Pursuant to this guidance, certain expenses and credits, normally reflected in income as 
incurred, are deferred and recognized when included in rates and recovered from or refunded to customers. Regulatory assets 
and liabilities are recorded based on management's assessment that it is probable that a cost will be recovered or that an 
obligation has been incurred. Accordingly, we have recorded the following major classifications of regulatory assets and 
liabilities that will be recognized in expenses and revenues in future periods when the matching revenues are collected or 
refunded. Of these regulatory assets and liabilities, energy supply costs are the only items earning a rate of return. The 
remaining regulatory items have corresponding assets and liabilities that will be paid for or refunded in future periods. 

 

Note 
Reference

Remaining 
Amortization 

Period

December 31,
 2021 2020

(in thousands)
Flow-through income taxes 12 Plant Lives $ 464,663 $ 420,925 
Excess deferred income taxes 12 Plant Lives  60,813  67,256 
Pension 14 See Note 14  98,336  138,567 
Deferred financing costs  Various  25,636  28,350 
Employee related benefits 14 Various  21,648  22,516 
Supply costs  18 months  88,329  8,116 
State & local taxes & fees Various  6,520  17,910 
Environmental clean-up 18 Various  11,262  11,127 
Other Various  29,020  31,650 
   Total Regulatory Assets  $ 806,227 $ 746,417 
Removal cost 6 Various $ 479,294 $ 464,669 
Excess deferred income taxes 12 Plant Lives  158,047  165,279 
Supply costs 1 Year  16,430  13,847 
Gas storage sales 18 years  7,466  7,887 
Rates subject to refund 1 Year  1,971  32,496 
State & local taxes & fees 1 Year  3,021  1,783 
Environmental clean-up Various  508  656 
Other Various  202  655 
   Total Regulatory Liabilities   $ 666,939 $ 687,272 

Income Taxes

Flow-through income taxes primarily reflect the effects of plant related temporary differences such as flow-through of 
depreciation, repairs related deductions, and removal costs that we will recover or refund in future rates. We amortize these 
amounts as temporary differences reverse. Excess deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recorded as a result of the Tax 
Cuts and Jobs Act and will be recovered or refunded in future rates. See Note 12 - Income Taxes for further discussion.

Pension and Employee Related Benefits

We recognize the unfunded portion of plan benefit obligations in the Consolidated Balance Sheets, which is remeasured at 
each year end, with a corresponding adjustment to regulatory assets/liabilities as the costs associated with these plans are 
recovered in rates. The MPSC allows recovery of pension costs on a cash funding basis. The portion of the regulatory asset 
related to our Montana pension plan will amortize as cash funding amounts exceed accrual expense under GAAP. The SDPUC 
allows recovery of pension costs on an accrual basis. The MPSC allows recovery of postretirement benefit costs on an accrual 
basis. 
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Deferred Financing Costs

Consistent with our historical regulatory treatment, a regulatory asset has been established to reflect the remaining deferred 
financing costs on long-term debt that has been replaced through the issuance of new debt. These amounts are amortized over 
the life of the new debt.

Rates Subject to Refund

In May 2019, we submitted a filing with the FERC for our Montana transmission assets. In June 2019, the FERC issued an 
order accepting our filing, and granting interim rates (subject to refund) effective July 1, 2019. In November 2020, we filed a 
settlement and implemented settlement rates on December 1, 2020. In January 2021, the FERC approved our settlement and 
during the first quarter of 2021 we refunded approximately $20.5 million to our FERC regulated customers.

Revenues from FERC regulated customers associated with our Montana FERC assets are reflected in our MPSC 
jurisdictional rates as a credit to retail customers. In March 2021, we submitted a compliance filing with the MPSC adjusting 
the revenue credit in our Montana retail rates to reflect the FERC approved settlement rates and a refund to retail customers of 
the difference between the FERC interim rates and the FERC approved settlement rates that were collected during the period 
from July 1, 2019 through March 31, 2021. On May 19, 2021, the MPSC approved the proposed tariffs and rates on a final 
basis. During the second quarter of 2021, we recognized a $4.7 million favorable adjustment related to excess deferred revenues 
based on the final MPSC approval. As of December 31, 2021, we had cumulative deferred revenue remaining of approximately 
$2.0 million recorded as a regulatory liability on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Supply Costs

The MPSC, SDPUC and NPSC have authorized the use of electric and natural gas supply cost trackers that enable us to 
track actual supply costs and either recover the under collection or refund the over collection to our customers. Accordingly, we 
have recorded a regulatory asset and liability to reflect the future recovery of under collections and refunding of over collections 
through the ratemaking process. We earn interest on natural gas supply costs under collected, or apply interest to an over 
collection, of 7.0 percent in Montana; 7.2 percent and 7.8 percent for electric and natural gas, respectively, in South Dakota; 
and 8.5 percent for natural gas in Nebraska. We do not earn interest on our electric supply tracker, the PCCAM, in Montana.

State & Local Taxes & Fees (Montana Property Tax Tracker)

Under Montana law, we are allowed to track the changes in the actual level of state and local taxes and fees and recover the 
increase in rates, less the amount allocated to FERC jurisdictional customers and net of the related income tax benefit.

Environmental Clean-up

Environmental clean-up costs are the estimated costs of investigating and cleaning up contaminated sites we own. We 
discuss the specific sites and clean-up requirements further in Note 18 - Commitments and Contingencies. Environmental clean-
up costs are typically recoverable in customer rates when they are actually incurred. When cost projections become known and 
measurable, we coordinate with the appropriate regulatory authority to determine a recovery period. 

Removal Cost

The anticipated costs of removing assets upon retirement are collected from customers in advance of removal activity as a 
component of depreciation expense. Our depreciation method, including cost of removal, is established by the respective 
regulatory commissions. Therefore, consistent with this regulated treatment, we reflect this accrual of removal costs for our 
regulated assets by increasing our regulatory liability. See Note 6 - Asset Retirement Obligations, for further information 
regarding this item.

Gas Storage Sales

A regulatory liability was established in 2000 and 2001 based on gains on cushion gas sales in Montana. This gain is being 
flowed to customers over a period that matches the depreciable life of surface facilities that were added to maintain 
deliverability from the field after the withdrawal of the gas. This regulatory liability is a reduction of rate base.
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(5)           Property, Plant and Equipment

The following table presents the major classifications of our property, plant and equipment (in thousands):

 Estimated 
Useful Life

December 31,
 2021 2020
 (years) (in thousands)

Transmission, distribution, and storage 15 – 95 $ 4,004,819 $ 3,771,023 
Generation 23 – 72  1,287,517  1,252,805 
Plant acquisition adjustment(1) 25 – 50  686,328  686,328 
Building and improvements 23 – 73  296,955  303,099 
Land, land rights and easements 53 – 96  161,585  157,379 
Other 2 – 45  585,448  571,981 
Construction work in process –—  294,617  173,492 
Total property, plant and equipment   7,317,269  6,916,107 
Less accumulated depreciation   (1,787,550)  (1,703,016) 
Less accumulated amortization  (282,487)  (260,156) 
Net property, plant and equipment  $ 5,247,232 $ 4,952,935 

___________________________
(1) The plant acquisition adjustment balance above includes our Beethoven wind project acquired in 2015, our hydro 

generating assets acquired in 2014, and the inclusion of our interest in Colstrip Unit 4 in rate base in 2009. The acquisition 
adjustment is amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated remaining useful life of each related asset in depreciation 
expense.

Net plant and equipment under finance lease were $9.2 million and $11.3 million as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, 
respectively, which included $9.0 million and $11.1 million as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively, related to a long-
term power supply contract with the owners of a natural gas fired peaking plant, which has been accounted for as a finance 
lease.

Jointly Owned Electric Generating Plant

We have an ownership interest in four base-load electric generating plants, all of which are coal fired and operated by other 
companies. We have an undivided interest in these facilities and are responsible for our proportionate share of the capital and 
operating costs while being entitled to our proportionate share of the power generated. Our interest in each plant is reflected in 
the Consolidated Balance Sheets on a pro rata basis and our share of operating expenses is reflected in the Consolidated 
Statements of Income. The participants each finance their own investment.

Information relating to our ownership interest in these facilities is as follows (in thousands):

 
Big Stone

(SD)
Neal #4

(IA)
Coyote
(ND)

Colstrip Unit 4 
(MT)

December 31, 2021     
Ownership percentages  23.4 %  8.7 %  10.0 %  30.0 %
Plant in service $ 154,375 $ 62,865 $ 51,652 $ 324,433 
Accumulated depreciation  42,102  34,629  38,453  113,805 
December 31, 2020     
Ownership percentages  23.4 %  8.7 %  10.0 %  30.0 %
Plant in service $ 153,632 $ 62,927 $ 51,586 $ 317,438 
Accumulated depreciation  40,665  33,942  37,980  105,738 
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(6)           Asset Retirement Obligations

We are obligated to dispose of certain long-lived assets upon their abandonment. We recognize a liability for the legal 
obligation to perform an asset retirement activity in which the timing and/or method of settlement are conditional on a future 
event. We measure the liability at fair value when incurred and capitalize a corresponding amount as part of the book value of 
the related assets, which increases our property, plant and equipment and other noncurrent liabilities. The increase in the 
capitalized cost is included in determining depreciation expense over the estimated useful life of these assets. Since the fair 
value of the asset retirement obligation (ARO) is determined using a present value approach, accretion of the liability due to the 
passage of time is recognized each period and recorded as a regulatory asset until the settlement of the liability. Revisions to 
estimated AROs can result from changes in retirement cost estimates, revisions to estimated inflation rates, and changes in the 
estimated timing of abandonment. If the obligation is settled for an amount other than the carrying amount of the liability, we 
will recognize a regulatory asset or liability for the difference, which will be surcharged/refunded to customers through the rate 
making process. We record regulatory assets and liabilities for differences in timing of asset retirement costs recovered in rates 
and AROs recorded since asset retirement costs are recovered through rates charged to customers.

Our AROs relate to the reclamation and removal costs at our jointly-owned coal-fired generation facilities, U.S. 
Department of Transportation requirements to cut, purge and cap retired natural gas pipeline segments, our obligation to plug 
and abandon oil and gas wells at the end of their life, and to remove all above-ground wind power facilities and restore the soil 
surface at the end of their life. The following table presents the change in our ARO (in thousands):

December 31,
2021 2020 2019

Liability at January 1, $ 45,355 $ 42,449 $ 40,659 
Accretion expense  2,233  2,070  2,051 
Liabilities incurred  —  —  — 
Liabilities settled  (2,906)  (4,061)  (46) 
Revisions to cash flows  (4,051)  4,897  (215) 

Liability at December 31, $ 40,631 $ 45,355 $ 42,449 

During the twelve months ended December 31, 2021 our ARO liability decreased $2.9 million for partial settlement of the 
legal obligations at our jointly-owned coal-fired generation facilities. Additionally, during the twelve months ended December 
31, 2021, our ARO liability decreased $4.1 million related to changes in both the timing and amount of retirement cost 
estimates.

In addition, we have identified removal liabilities related to our electric and natural gas transmission and distribution assets 
that have been installed on easements over property not owned by us. The easements are generally perpetual and only require 
remediation action upon abandonment or cessation of use of the property for the specified purpose. The ARO liability is not 
estimable for such easements as we intend to utilize these properties indefinitely. In the event we decide to abandon or cease the 
use of a particular easement, an ARO liability would be recorded at that time. We also identified AROs associated with our 
hydroelectric generating facilities; however, due to the indeterminate removal date, the fair value of the associated liabilities 
currently cannot be estimated and no amounts are recognized in the Consolidated Financial Statements.

We collect removal costs in rates for certain transmission and distribution assets that do not have associated AROs. 
Generally, the accrual of future non-ARO removal obligations is not required; however, long-standing ratemaking practices 
approved by applicable state and federal regulatory commissions have allowed provisions for such costs in historical 
depreciation rates. The recorded amounts of costs collected from customers through depreciation rates are classified as a 
regulatory liability in recognition of the fact that we have collected these amounts that will be used in the future to fund asset 
retirement costs and do not represent legal retirement obligations. See Note 4 - Regulatory Assets and Liabilities for removal 
costs recorded as regulatory liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2021 and 2020.
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(7)           Goodwill

We completed our annual goodwill impairment test as of April 1, 2021 and no impairment was identified. We calculate the 
fair value of our reporting units by considering various factors, including valuation studies based primarily on a discounted cash 
flow analysis, with published industry valuations and market data as supporting information. Key assumptions in the 
determination of fair value include the use of an appropriate discount rate and estimated future cash flows. In estimating cash 
flows, we incorporate expected long-term growth rates in our service territory, regulatory stability, and commodity prices 
(where appropriate), as well as other factors that affect our revenue, expense and capital expenditure projections. 

Goodwill by segment is as follows (in thousands): 

 December 31,
 2021 2020
Electric $ 243,558 $ 243,558 
Natural gas  114,028  114,028 
Total Goodwill $ 357,586 $ 357,586 

(8)           Risk Management and Hedging Activities

Nature of Our Business and Associated Risks
 

We are exposed to certain risks related to the ongoing operations of our business, including the impact of market 
fluctuations in the price of electricity and natural gas commodities and changes in interest rates. We rely on market purchases to 
fulfill a portion of our electric and natural gas supply requirements. Several factors influence price levels and volatility. These 
factors include, but are not limited to, seasonal changes in demand, weather conditions, available generating assets within 
regions, transportation availability and reliability within and between regions, fuel availability, market liquidity, and the nature 
and extent of current and potential federal and state regulations.

Objectives and Strategies for Using Derivatives

To manage our exposure to fluctuations in commodity prices we routinely enter into derivative contracts. These types of 
contracts are included in our electric and natural gas supply portfolios and are used to manage price volatility risk by taking 
advantage of fluctuations in market prices. While individual contracts may be above or below market value, the overall 
portfolio approach is intended to provide greater price stability for consumers. We do not maintain a trading portfolio, and our 
derivative transactions are only used for risk management purposes consistent with regulatory guidelines. 

In addition, we may use interest rate swaps to manage our interest rate exposures associated with new debt issuances or to 
manage our exposure to fluctuations in interest rates on variable rate debt.

Accounting for Derivative Instruments

We evaluate new and existing transactions and agreements to determine whether they are derivatives. The permitted 
accounting treatments include: normal purchase normal sale (NPNS); cash flow hedge; fair value hedge; and mark-to-market.
Mark-to-market accounting is the default accounting treatment for all derivatives unless they qualify, and we specifically 
designate them, for one of the other accounting treatments. Derivatives designated for any of the elective accounting treatments 
must meet specific, restrictive criteria both at the time of designation and on an ongoing basis. The changes in the fair value of 
recognized derivatives are recorded each period in current earnings or other comprehensive income, depending on whether a 
derivative is designated as part of a hedge transaction and the type of hedge transaction.

Normal Purchases and Normal Sales

We have applied the NPNS scope exception to our contracts involving the physical purchase and sale of gas and electricity 
at fixed prices in future periods. During our normal course of business, we enter into full-requirement energy contracts, power 
purchase agreements and physical capacity contracts, which qualify for NPNS. All of these contracts are accounted for using 
the accrual method of accounting; therefore, there were no unrealized amounts recorded in the Consolidated Financial 
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Statements at December 31, 2021 and 2020. Revenues and expenses from these contracts are reported on a gross basis in the 
appropriate revenue and expense categories as the commodities are received or delivered.

Credit Risk

Credit risk is the potential loss resulting from counterparty non-performance under an agreement. We manage credit risk 
with policies and procedures for, among other things, counterparty analysis and exposure measurement, monitoring and 
mitigation. We limit credit risk in our commodity and interest rate derivatives activities by assessing the creditworthiness of 
potential counterparties before entering into transactions with them and continuing to evaluate their creditworthiness on an 
ongoing basis. 

We are exposed to credit risk through buying and selling electricity and natural gas to serve customers. We may request 
collateral or other security from our counterparties based on the assessment of creditworthiness and expected credit exposure. It 
is possible that volatility in commodity prices could cause us to have material credit risk exposures with one or more 
counterparties. We enter into commodity master enabling agreements with our counterparties to mitigate credit exposure, as 
these agreements reduce the risk of default by allowing us or our counterparty the ability to make net payments. The agreements 
generally are: (1) Western Systems Power Pool agreements – standardized power purchase and sales contracts in the electric 
industry; (2) International Swaps and Derivatives Association agreements – standardized financial gas and electric contracts; (3) 
North American Energy Standards Board agreements – standardized physical gas contracts; and (4) Edison Electric Institute 
Master Purchase and Sale Agreements – standardized power sales contracts in the electric industry.

Many of our forward purchase contracts contain provisions that require us to maintain an investment grade credit rating 
from each of the major credit rating agencies. If our credit rating were to fall below investment grade, the counterparties could 
require immediate payment or demand immediate and ongoing full overnight collateralization on contracts in net liability 
positions.

Interest Rate Swaps Designated as Cash Flow Hedges

We have previously used interest rate swaps designated as cash flow hedges to manage our interest rate exposures 
associated with new debt issuances. We have no interest rate swaps outstanding. These swaps were designated as cash flow 
hedges with the effective portion of gains and losses, net of associated deferred income tax effects, recorded in AOCL. We 
reclassify these gains from AOCL into interest expense during the periods in which the hedged interest payments occur. The 
following table shows the effect of these interest rate swaps previously terminated on the Consolidated Financial Statements (in 
thousands):

Cash Flow Hedges

Location of Amount 
Reclassified from AOCL 

to Income

Amount Reclassified from 
AOCL into Income 

during the Year Ended 
December 31, 2021

Interest rate contracts Interest Expense $ 614 

A pre-tax loss of approximately $14.0 million is remaining in AOCL as of December 31, 2021, and we expect to reclassify 
approximately $0.6 million of pre-tax losses from AOCL into interest expense during the next twelve months. These amounts 
relate to terminated swaps.

(9)           Fair Value Measurements

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date (i.e., an exit price). Measuring fair value requires the use of 
market data or assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability, including assumptions about risk 
and the risks inherent in the inputs to the valuation technique. These inputs can be readily observable, corroborated by market 
data, or generally unobservable. Valuation techniques are required to maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the 
use of unobservable inputs.

Applicable accounting guidance establishes a hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs used to measure fair value, and requires 
fair value measurements to be categorized based on the observability of those inputs. The hierarchy gives the highest priority to 
unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1 inputs) and the lowest priority to 
unobservable inputs (Level 3 inputs). The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are as follows:
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• Level 1 – Unadjusted quoted prices available in active markets at the measurement date for identical assets or 
liabilities;

• Level 2 – Pricing inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, which are either directly or indirectly 
observable as of the reporting date; and

• Level 3 – Significant inputs that are generally not observable from market activity.

We classify assets and liabilities within the fair value hierarchy based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the 
fair value measurement of each individual asset and liability taken as a whole. Due to the short-term nature of cash and cash 
equivalents, accounts receivable, net, accounts payable, and short-term borrowings, the carrying amount of each such items 
approximates fair value. The table below sets forth by level within the fair value hierarchy the gross components of our assets 
and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis. NPNS transactions are not included in the fair values by source table 
as they are not recorded at fair value. See Note 8 - Risk Management and Hedging Activities for further discussion.

We record transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy, if necessary, at the end of the reporting period. There were 
no transfers between levels for the periods presented.

December 31, 2021

Quoted Prices in 
Active Markets for 
Identical Assets or
Liabilities (Level 1)

Significant Other 
Observable Inputs 

(Level 2)

Significant 
Unobservable Inputs 

(Level 3)
Margin Cash 

Collateral Offset Total Net Fair Value
 (in thousands)

Restricted cash 
equivalents $ 14,967 $ — $ — $ — $ 14,967 
Rabbi trust 
investments  18,234  —  —  —  18,234 
Total $ 33,201 $ — $ — $ — $ 33,201 

December 31, 2020      

Restricted cash 
equivalents $ 10,055 $ — $ — $ — $ 10,055 
Rabbi trust 
investments  27,027  —  —  —  27,027 
Total $ 37,082 $ — $ — $ — $ 37,082 

Restricted cash equivalents represents amounts held in money market mutual funds. Rabbi trust investments represent 
assets held for non-qualified deferred compensation plans, which consist of our common stock and actively traded mutual funds 
with quoted prices in active markets. 

Financial Instruments

The estimated fair value of financial instruments is summarized as follows (in thousands):

 December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020

 
Carrying 
Amount Fair Value

Carrying 
Amount Fair Value

Liabilities:     
Long-term debt $ 2,541,478 $ 2,827,336 $ 2,315,261 $ 2,629,755 

The estimated fair value amounts have been determined using available market information and appropriate valuation 
methodologies; however, considerable judgment is required in interpreting market data to develop estimates of fair value. 
Accordingly, the estimates presented herein are not necessarily indicative of the amounts that we would realize in a current 
market exchange.

 
We determined fair value for long-term debt based on interest rates that are currently available to us for issuance of debt 

with similar terms and remaining maturities, except for publicly traded debt, for which fair value is based on market prices for 
the same or similar issues or upon the quoted market prices of U.S. treasury issues having a similar term to maturity, adjusted 
for our bond issuance rating and the present value of future cash flows. These are significant other observable inputs, or level 2 
inputs, in the fair value hierarchy.
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(10)           Unsecured Credit Facilities

Credit Facility

We have a $425 million Credit Facility which matures September 2, 2023. The Credit Facility includes uncommitted 
features that allow us to request up to two one-year extensions to the maturity date and increase the size by an additional $75 
million with the consent of the lenders. The facility does not amortize and is unsecured. Borrowings may be made at interest 
rates equal to the Eurodollar rate, plus a margin of 112.5 to 175.0 basis points, or a base rate, plus a margin of 12.5 to 75.0 basis 
points. A total of ten banks participate in the facility, with no one bank providing more than 16 percent of the total availability. 
Commitment fees for the Credit Facility were $0.4 million and $0.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020. 

 
The availability under the facilities in place for the years ended December 31 is shown in the following table (in millions):

2021 2020
Unsecured revolving line of credit, expiring September 2023 $ 425.0 $ 425.0 
Unsecured revolving line of credit, expiring March 2023  25.0  25.0 

 450.0  450.0 

Amounts outstanding at December 31:
Eurodollar borrowings  373.0  222.0 
Letters of credit  —  — 

 373.0  222.0 

Net availability as of December 31 $ 77.0 $ 228.0 

The Credit Facility includes covenants that require us to meet certain financial tests, including a maximum debt to 
capitalization ratio not to exceed 65 percent. The facility also contains covenants which, among other things, limit our ability to 
engage in any consolidation or merger or otherwise liquidate or dissolve, dispose of property, and enter into transactions with 
affiliates. A default on the South Dakota or Montana First Mortgage Bonds would trigger a cross default on the Credit Facility; 
however a default on the Credit Facility would not trigger a default on the South Dakota or Montana First Mortgage Bonds.
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(11)           Long-Term Debt and Finance Leases

Long-term debt and finance leases consisted of the following (in thousands):
  December 31,
 Due 2021 2020
Unsecured Debt:    
Unsecured Revolving Line of Credit 2023 $ 373,000 $ 222,000 
Secured Debt:    
Mortgage bonds—    
South Dakota—5.01% 2025  64,000  64,000 
South Dakota—4.15% 2042  30,000  30,000 
South Dakota—4.30% 2052  20,000  20,000 
South Dakota—4.85% 2043  50,000  50,000 
South Dakota—4.22% 2044  30,000  30,000 
South Dakota—4.26% 2040  70,000  70,000 
South Dakota—3.21% 2030  50,000  50,000 
South Dakota—2.80% 2026  60,000  60,000 
South Dakota—2.66% 2026  45,000  45,000 
Montana—5.71% 2039  55,000  55,000 
Montana—5.01% 2025  161,000  161,000 
Montana—4.15% 2042  60,000  60,000 
Montana—4.30% 2052  40,000  40,000 
Montana—4.85% 2043  15,000  15,000 
Montana—3.99% 2028  35,000  35,000 
Montana—4.176% 2044  450,000  450,000 
Montana—3.11% 2025  75,000  75,000 
Montana—4.11% 2045  125,000  125,000 
Montana—4.03% 2047  250,000  250,000 
Montana—3.98% 2049  150,000  150,000 
Montana—3.21% 2030  100,000  100,000 
Montana—1.00% 2024  100,000  — 
Pollution control obligations—    
Montana—2.00% 2023  144,660  144,660 
Other Long Term Debt:    
New Market Tax Credit Financing—1.146% 2046  —  26,977 
Discount on Notes and Bonds and Debt Issuance Costs, Net  —  (11,182)  (13,376) 
Total Long-Term Debt  $ 2,541,478 $ 2,315,261 

Finance Leases:    
Total Finance Leases Various $ 14,772 $ 17,439 
Less current maturities   (2,875)  (2,668) 
Total Long-Term Finance Leases  $ 11,897 $ 14,771 
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Secured Debt

First Mortgage Bonds and Pollution Control Obligations

The South Dakota First Mortgage Bonds are a series of general obligation bonds issued under our South Dakota indenture. 
These bonds are secured by substantially all of our South Dakota and Nebraska electric and natural gas assets.

The Montana First Mortgage Bonds and Montana Pollution Control Obligations are secured by substantially all of our 
Montana electric and natural gas assets. 

In May 2020, we issued $100 million principal amount of Montana First Mortgage Bonds and $50 million principal 
amount of South Dakota First Mortgage Bonds, each at a fixed interest rate of 3.21 percent maturing on May 15, 2030. These 
bonds were issued in a transaction exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities Act of 1933. Proceeds were used 
to repay a portion of our outstanding borrowings under our revolving credit facilities and for other general corporate purposes. 
The bonds are secured by our electric and natural gas assets in Montana and South Dakota.

In March 2021, we issued and sold $100.0 million aggregate principal amount of Montana First Mortgage Bonds (the 
bonds) at a fixed interest rate of 1.00 percent maturing on March 26, 2024. The net proceeds were used to repay in full our 
outstanding $100.0 million term loan that was due April 2, 2021. We may redeem some or all of the bonds at any time in whole, 
or from time to time in part, at our option, on or after March 26, 2022, at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal 
amount of the bonds to be redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid interest on the principal amount of the bonds being redeemed to, 
but excluding, the redemption date. The bonds are secured by our electric and natural gas assets in Montana and Wyoming. 

As of December 31, 2021, we were in compliance with our financial debt covenants.

Other Long-Term Debt

In July 2021, our two loans totaling $27.0 million associated with the New Market Tax Credit (NMTC) financing 
agreement were extinguished. These loans were satisfied with our $18.2 million investment in the entities created in relation to 
the NMTC transaction, investor forgiveness of $7.9 million for substantially all of the benefits derived from the tax credits, and 
cash payment of $0.9 million. In accordance with our last rate case filing in the state of Montana, the portion of the loan 
forgiven, less unamortized debt issuance costs of $1.3 million, was recorded as a reduction to the cost of the office building 
associated with the NMTC financing agreement. This cash payment is reflected within the financing activities section of our 
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended December 31, 2021; however, the remaining reduction to Long-term 
debt, Other noncurrent assets, and Property, plant and equipment are non-cash financing activities that are not reflected within 
our Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended December 31, 2021.

Maturities of Long-Term Debt

The aggregate minimum principal maturities of long-term debt and finance leases, during the next five years are $2.9 
million in 2022, $520.8 million in 2023, $103.3 million in 2024, $303.6 million in 2025 and $106.9 million in 2026.
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(12)           Income Taxes

Income tax expense (benefit) is comprised of the following (in thousands):

 Year Ended December 31,
 2021 2020 2019
Federal    

Current $ 722 $ (3,396) $ (6,076) 
Deferred  2,626  (4,006)  (15,169) 
Investment tax credits  (130)  (3)  (12) 

State
Current  2,172  3  27 
Deferred  (1,971)  (3,568)  1,305 

Income Tax Expense (Benefit) $ 3,419 $ (10,970) $ (19,925) 

Our effective tax rate typically differs from the federal statutory tax rate primarily due to the regulatory impact of flowing 
through the federal and state tax benefit of repairs deductions, state tax benefit of accelerated tax depreciation deductions 
(including bonus depreciation when applicable) and production tax credits. The regulatory accounting treatment of these 
deductions requires immediate income recognition for temporary tax differences of this type, which is referred to as the flow-
through method. When the flow-through method of accounting for temporary differences is reflected in regulated revenues, we 
record deferred income taxes and establish related regulatory assets and liabilities. 

The following table reconciles our effective income tax rate to the federal statutory rate:

 Year Ended December 31,
 2021 2020 2019
Federal statutory rate  21.0 %  21.0 %  21.0 %
State income tax, net of federal provisions  0.1  (1.1)  0.7 
Flow-through repairs deductions  (11.5)  (16.5)  (10.8) 
Production tax credits  (6.1)  (9.1)  (6.3) 
Plant and depreciation of flow through items  (0.6)  0.1  (2.2) 
Amortization of excess DIT  (0.3)  (0.7)  (0.9) 
Recognition of unrecognized tax benefit  —  —  (12.5) 
Impact of Tax Cuts and Jobs Act  —  —  (0.1) 
Prior year permanent return to accrual adjustments  0.0  (1.2)  0.3 
Other, net  (0.8)  (0.1)  (0.1) 
Effective tax rate  1.8 %  (7.6) %  (10.9) %

The table below summarizes the significant differences in income tax expense (benefit) based on the differences between 
our effective tax rate and the federal statutory rate (in thousands).
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Year Ended December 31,
2021 2020 2019

Income Before Income Taxes $ 190,259 $ 144,245 $ 182,195 

Income tax calculated at federal statutory rate  39,954  30,292  38,261 

Permanent or flow through adjustments:
State income, net of federal provisions  354  (1,477)  1,251 
Flow-through repairs deductions  (21,888)  (23,828)  (19,706) 
Production tax credits  (11,532)  (13,103)  (11,483) 
Plant and depreciation of flow through items  (941)  121  (3,952) 
Amortization of excess DIT  (635)  (968)  (1,688) 
Prior year permanent return to accrual adjustments  (12)  (1,728)  559 
Recognition of unrecognized tax benefit  —  —  (22,825) 
Impact of Tax Cuts and Jobs Act  —  —  (198) 
Other, net  (1,881)  (279)  (144) 

 (36,535)  (41,262)  (58,186) 

Income Tax Expense (Benefit) $ 3,419 $ (10,970) $ (19,925) 

The income tax benefit during the twelve months ended December 31, 2019, reflects the release of approximately $22.8 
million of unrecognized tax benefits, including approximately $2.7 million of accrued interest and penalties, net of tax, due to 
the lapse of statutes of limitation in the second quarter of 2019. 

The components of the net deferred income tax liability recognized in our Consolidated Balance Sheets are related to the 
following temporary differences (in thousands): 

 December 31,
 2021 2020
Production tax credit $ 75,092 $ 63,542 
Pension / postretirement benefits  21,435  31,866 
Customer advances  21,271  17,165 
Unbilled revenue  10,704  14,429 
Compensation accruals  10,612  11,748 
Reserves and accruals  5,106  6,266 
Environmental liability  5,704  6,039 
Interest rate hedges  3,158  3,171 
NOL carryforward  —  393 
Other, net  1,738  2,490 
Deferred Tax Asset  154,820  157,109 
Excess tax depreciation  (425,202)  (412,774) 
Goodwill amortization  (85,425)  (83,991) 
Flow through depreciation  (94,616)  (83,545) 
Regulatory assets and other  (49,211)  (48,576) 
Deferred Tax Liability  (654,454)  (628,886) 
Deferred Tax Liability, net $ (499,634) $ (471,777) 
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Uncertain Tax Positions

We recognize tax positions that meet the more-likely-than-not threshold as the largest amount of tax benefit that is greater 
than 50 percent likely of being realized upon ultimate settlement with a taxing authority that has full knowledge of all relevant 
information. The change in unrecognized tax benefits is as follows (in thousands):

 2021 2020 2019
Unrecognized Tax Benefits at January 1 $ 33,491 $ 35,085 $ 56,150 

Gross increases - tax positions in prior period  293  120  539 
Gross increases - tax positions in current period  —  —  — 
Gross decreases - tax positions in current period  (1,735)  (1,714)  (1,489) 
Lapse of statute of limitations  —  —  (20,115) 

Unrecognized Tax Benefits at December 31 $ 32,049 $ 33,491 $ 35,085 

Our unrecognized tax benefits include approximately $28.1 million and $28.0 million related to tax positions as of 
December 31, 2021 and 2020, that if recognized, would impact our annual effective tax rate. We do not anticipate that total 
unrecognized tax benefits will significantly change due to the settlement of audits or the expiration of statutes of limitation 
within the next twelve months. 

Our policy is to recognize interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions in income tax expense. As of 
December 31, 2021, we have accrued $0.5 million for the payment of interest and penalties in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. 
As of December 31, 2020, we did not have any amounts accrued for the payment of interest and penalties.

Tax years 2018 and forward remain subject to examination by the IRS and state taxing authorities. 
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(13)           Comprehensive Income (Loss)

The following tables display the components of Other Comprehensive Income (Loss), after-tax, and the related tax effects 
(in thousands):

December 31,
2021 2020 2019

Before-
Tax 

Amount

Tax 
Expense 
(Benefit)

Net-of-
Tax 

Amount

Before-
Tax 

Amount
Tax 

Expense 

Net-of-
Tax 

Amount

Before-
Tax 

Amount
Tax 

Expense 

Net-of-
Tax 

Amount

Foreign currency 
translation 
adjustment $ (57) $ — $ (57) $ 87 $ — $ 87 $ (35) $ — $ (35) 
Reclassification of 
net income (loss) on 
derivative 
instruments  614  (162)  452  614  (162)  452  614  (162)  452 
Postretirement 
medical liability 
adjustment  (585)  149  (436)  2,463  (623)  1,840  (175)  44  (131) 
Other 
comprehensive 
(loss) income $ (28) $ (13) $ (41) $ 3,164 $ (785) $ 2,379 $ 404 $ (118) $ 286 

Balances by classification included within AOCL on the Consolidated Balance Sheets are as follows, net of tax (in 
thousands):

December 31,
 2021 2020
Foreign currency translation $ 1,443 $ 1,500 
Derivative instruments designated as cash flow hedges  (10,277)  (10,729) 
Postretirement medical plans  1,524  1,960 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss $ (7,310) $ (7,269) 
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The following table displays the changes in AOCL by component, net of tax (in thousands):

December 31, 2021
Year Ended

Affected Line 
Item in the 

Consolidated 
Statements of 

Income

Interest 
Rate 

Derivative 
Instruments 
Designated 

as Cash 
Flow Hedges

Postretirement 
Medical Plans

Foreign 
Currency 

Translation Total
Beginning balance $ (10,729) $ 1,960 $ 1,500 $ (7,269) 

Other comprehensive loss before 
reclassifications  —  —  (57)  (57) 

Amounts reclassified from AOCL
Interest 
Expense  452  —  —  452 

Amounts reclassified from AOCL  —  (436)  —  (436) 
Net current-period other comprehensive 
income (loss)  452  (436)  (57)  (41) 
Ending Balance $ (10,277) $ 1,524 $ 1,443 $ (7,310) 

December 31, 2020
Year Ended

Affected Line 
Item in the 

Consolidated 
Statements of 

Income

Interest 
Rate 

Derivative 
Instruments 
Designated 

as Cash 
Flow Hedges

Postretirement 
Medical Plans

Foreign 
Currency 

Translation Total
Beginning balance $ (11,181) $ 120 $ 1,413 $ (9,648) 

Other comprehensive income before 
reclassifications  —  —  87  87 

Amounts reclassified from AOCL
Interest 
Expense  452  —  —  452 

Amounts reclassified from AOCL  —  1,840  —  1,840 
Net current-period other comprehensive 
income  452  1,840  87  2,379 
Ending Balance $ (10,729) $ 1,960 $ 1,500 $ (7,269) 

(14)           Employee Benefit Plans

Pension and Other Postretirement Benefit Plans

We sponsor and/or contribute to pension and postretirement health care and life insurance benefit plans for eligible 
employees. The pension plan for our South Dakota and Nebraska employees is referred to as the NorthWestern Corporation plan, 
and the pension plan for our Montana employees is referred to as the NorthWestern Energy plan, and collectively they are 
referred to as the Plans. We utilize a number of accounting mechanisms that reduce the volatility of reported pension costs. 
Differences between actuarial assumptions and actual plan results are deferred and are recognized into earnings only when the 
accumulated differences exceed 10 percent of the greater of the projected benefit obligation or the market-related value of plan 
assets. If necessary, the excess is amortized over the average remaining service period of active employees. The Plans' funded 
status is recognized as an asset or liability in our Consolidated Financial Statements. See Note 4 - Regulatory Assets and 
Liabilities, for further discussion on how these costs are recovered through rates charged to our customers.
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Benefit Obligation and Funded Status

Following is a reconciliation of the changes in plan benefit obligations and fair value of plan assets, and a statement of the 
funded status (in thousands):

 Pension Benefits Other Postretirement Benefits
 December 31, December 31,
 2021 2020 2021 2020
Change in benefit obligation:     
Obligation at beginning of period $ 820,979 $ 735,564 $ 19,146 $ 20,272 

Service cost  12,994  11,116  407  370 
Interest cost  18,759  22,840  317  492 
Actuarial loss  (28,905)  84,479  415  123 
Settlements(1)  (93,488)  —  —  390 
Benefits paid  (33,537)  (33,020)  (2,977)  (2,501) 

Benefit Obligation at End of Period $ 696,802 $ 820,979 $ 17,308 $ 19,146 
Change in Fair Value of Plan Assets:     
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of period $ 688,456 $ 609,000 $ 23,096 $ 21,479 

Return on plan assets  33,868  101,075  3,349  2,723 
Employer contributions  10,200  11,401  1,821  1,395 
Settlements(1)  (93,488)  —  —  — 
Benefits paid  (33,537)  (33,020)  (2,977)  (2,501) 

Fair value of plan assets at end of period $ 605,499 $ 688,456 $ 25,289 $ 23,096 
Funded Status $ (91,303) $ (132,523) $ 7,981 $ 3,950 

Amounts Recognized in the Balance Sheet Consist of:     
Noncurrent asset  8,297  7,001  11,914  8,436 

Total Assets  8,297  7,001  11,914  8,436 
Current liability  (11,200)  (11,200)  (1,575)  (1,712) 
Noncurrent liability  (88,400)  (128,324)  (2,358)  (2,774) 

Total Liabilities  (99,600)  (139,524)  (3,933)  (4,486) 
Net amount recognized $ (91,303) $ (132,523) $ 7,981 $ 3,950 

Amounts Recognized in Regulatory Assets Consist of:     
Prior service credit  —  —  1,870  3,857 
Net actuarial loss  (62,448)  (115,987)  1,366  (497) 

Amounts recognized in AOCL consist of:     
Prior service cost  —  —  (95)  (246) 
Net actuarial gain  —  —  2,500  3,246 

Total $ (62,448) $ (115,987) $ 5,641 $ 6,360 

(1) In December 2021, we entered into a group annuity contract from an insurance company to provide for the payment of 
pension benefits to 1,062 NorthWestern Energy Pension Plan participants. We purchased the contract with $93.5 million of plan 
assets. The insurance company took over the payments of these benefits starting January 1, 2022. This transaction settled $93.5 
million of our NorthWestern Energy Pension Plan obligation. As a result of this transaction, during the twelve months ended 
December 31, 2021, we recorded a non-cash, non-operating settlement charge of $11.3 million. This charge is recorded within 
other income, net on the Consolidated Statements of Income. As discussed within Note 4 – Regulatory Assets and Liabilities, 
this charge was deferred as a regulatory asset on the Consolidated Balance Sheets, with a corresponding decrease to operating 
and maintenance expense on the Consolidated Statements of Income.
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The actuarial gain/loss is primarily due to the change in discount rate assumption and actual asset returns compared with 
expected amounts. The total projected benefit obligation and fair value of plan assets for the pension plans with accumulated 
benefit obligations in excess of plan assets were as follows (in millions):

 
NorthWestern Energy Pension 

Plan

 

December 31,
2021 2020

Projected benefit obligation $ 636.3 $ 757.4 
Accumulated benefit obligation  636.3  757.4 
Fair value of plan assets(1)  537.9  619.1 

 ____________________
As of December 31, 2021, the fair value of the NorthWestern Corporation pension plan assets exceed the total projected and 

accumulated benefit obligation and are therefore excluded from this table.

(1) Fair value of plan assets was impacted by the group annuity contract discussed above. 

Net Periodic Cost (Credit)

The components of the net costs (credits) for our pension and other postretirement plans are as follows (in thousands):
 Pension Benefits Other Postretirement Benefits
 December 31, December 31,
 2021 2020 2019 2021 2020 2019
Components of Net 
Periodic Benefit Cost       

Service cost $ 12,994 $ 11,116 $ 9,637 $ 407 $ 370 $ 331 
Interest cost  18,759  22,840  26,488  327  492  609 
Expected return on plan assets  (27,061)  (26,162)  (25,443)  (919)  (983)  (869) 
Amortization of prior service 
cost (credit)  —  —  —  (1,835)  (1,882)  (1,882) 
Recognized actuarial loss 
(gain)  6,536  5,028  6,544  (898)  (61)  (96) 
Settlement loss recognized(1)  11,291  —  198  —  390  390 

Net Periodic Benefit Cost 
(Credit) $ 22,519 $ 12,822 $ 17,424 $ (2,918) $ (1,674) $ (1,517) 

Regulatory deferral of net 
periodic benefit cost(2)  (13,308)  (2,100)  (7,510)  —  —  — 
Previously deferred costs 
recognized(2)  —  71  728  709  861  931 

Amount Recognized in Income $ 9,211 $ 10,793 $ 10,642 $ (2,209) $ (813) $ (586) 

Income Statement Presentation
Operating and maintenance  (313)  9,016  2,125  407  370  331 
Other income (expense), net  9,524  1,777  8,517  (2,616)  (1,183)  (917) 

Amount Recognized in Income $ 9,211 $ 10,793 $ 10,642 $ (2,209) $ (813) $ (586) 

___________________________
(1) Settlement loss is related to partial annuitization of NorthWestern Energy Pension Plan effective December 1, 2021.

(2) Net periodic benefit costs for pension and postretirement benefit plans are recognized for financial reporting based on the 
authorization of each regulatory jurisdiction in which we operate. A portion of these costs are recorded in regulatory assets and 
recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Income as those costs are recovered through customer rates.
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For purposes of calculating the expected return on pension plan assets, the market-related value of assets is used, which is based 
upon fair value. The difference between actual plan asset returns and estimated plan asset returns are amortized equally over a 
period not to exceed five years. 

Actuarial Assumptions

The measurement dates used to determine pension and other postretirement benefit measurements for the plans are 
December 31, 2021 and 2020. The actuarial assumptions used to compute net periodic pension cost and postretirement benefit 
cost are based upon information available as of the beginning of the year, specifically, market interest rates, past experience and 
management's best estimate of future economic conditions. Changes in these assumptions may impact future benefit costs and 
obligations. In computing future costs and obligations, we must make assumptions about such things as employee mortality and 
turnover, expected salary and wage increases, discount rate, expected return on plan assets, and expected future cost increases. 
Two of these assumptions have the most impact on the level of cost: (1) discount rate and (2) expected rate of return on plan 
assets.

On an annual basis, we set the discount rate using a yield curve analysis. This analysis includes constructing a hypothetical 
bond portfolio whose cash flow from coupons and maturities matches the year-by-year, projected benefit cash flow from our 
plans. The increase in the discount rate during 2021 decreased our projected benefit obligation by approximately $45.1 million.

In determining the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets, we review historical returns, the future expectations for 
returns for each asset class weighted by the target asset allocation of the pension and postretirement portfolios, and long-term 
inflation assumptions. Based on the target asset allocation for our pension assets and future expectations for asset returns, we 
increased our long term rate of return on assets assumption for NorthWestern Energy Pension Plan to 4.26 percent and decreased 
our assumption on the NorthWestern Corporation Pension Plan to 2.66 percent for 2022.

The weighted-average assumptions used in calculating the preceding information are as follows:

 Pension Benefits Other Postretirement Benefits
 December 31, December 31,
 2021 2020 2019 2021 2020 2019
Discount rate 2.65-2.75 % 2.20-2.30 % 3.10-3.20 % 2.35-2.40 %  1.80 %  2.80 %
Expected rate of return on assets 3.01-4.17 3.45-4.49 4.23-5.06  4.08  4.71  4.79 
Long-term rate of increase in 
compensation levels (non-union)  2.84  2.84  2.84  2.84  2.84  2.84 
Long-term rate of increase 
in compensation levels (union)  2.00  2.00  2.00  2.00  2.00  2.00 
Interest crediting rate 3.30-6.00 3.30-6.00 3.60-6.00 N/A N/A N/A

The postretirement benefit obligation is calculated assuming that health care costs increase by a 5.00 percent fixed rate. The 
company contribution toward the premium cost is capped, therefore future health care cost trend rates are expected to have a 
minimal impact on company costs and the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation. 

Investment Strategy

Our investment goals with respect to managing the pension and other postretirement assets are to meet current and future 
benefit payment needs while maximizing total investment returns (income and appreciation) after inflation within the constraints 
of diversification, prudent risk taking, Prudent Man Rule of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 and liability-
based considerations. Each plan is diversified across asset classes to achieve optimal balance between risk and return and 
between income and growth through capital appreciation. Our investment philosophy is based on the following:

• Each plan should be substantially invested as long-term cash holdings reduce long-term rates of return;
• Pension Plan portfolio risk is described by volatility in the funded status of the Plans;
• It is prudent to diversify each plan across the major asset classes;
• Equity investments provide greater long-term returns than fixed income investments, although with greater short-term 

volatility;
• Fixed income investments of the plans should strongly correlate with the interest rate sensitivity of the plan’s aggregate 

liabilities in order to hedge the risk of change in interest rates negatively impacting the pension plans overall funded 
status, (such assets will be described as Liability Hedging Fixed Income assets);
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• Allocation to foreign equities increases the portfolio diversification and thereby decreases portfolio risk while providing 
for the potential for enhanced long-term returns;

• Active management can reduce portfolio risk and potentially add value through security selection strategies;
• A portion of plan assets should be allocated to passive, indexed management funds to provide for greater diversification 

and lower cost; and
• It is appropriate to retain more than one investment manager, provided that such managers offer asset class or style 

diversification.

Investment risk is measured and monitored on an ongoing basis through quarterly investment portfolio reviews, annual liability 
measurements, and periodic asset/liability studies.

The most important component of an investment strategy is the portfolio asset mix, or the allocation between the various 
classes of securities available. The mix of assets is based on an optimization study that identifies asset allocation targets in order 
to achieve the maximum return for an acceptable level of risk, while minimizing the expected contributions and pension and 
postretirement expense. In the optimization study, assumptions are formulated about characteristics, such as expected asset class 
investment returns, volatility (risk), and correlation coefficients among the various asset classes, and making adjustments to 
reflect future conditions expected to prevail over the study period. Based on this, the target asset allocation established, within an 
allowable range of plus or minus 5 percent, is as follows:

 
NorthWestern Energy 

Pension
NorthWestern 

Corporation Pension
NorthWestern Energy

Health and Welfare
 December 31, December 31, December 31,
 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
Fixed income securities  55.0 %  55.0 %  90.0 %  80.0 %  40.0 %  40.0 %
Non-U.S. fixed income securities  4.0  4.0  1.0  2.0  —  — 
Global equities  41.0  41.0  9.0  18.0  60.0  60.0 

The actual allocation by plan is as follows:

 
NorthWestern Energy 

Pension
NorthWestern 

Corporation Pension
NorthWestern Energy

Health and Welfare

 

December 31, December 31, December 31,
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

Cash and cash equivalents  0.1 %  — %  0.4 %  0.7 %  0.1 %  1.0 %
Fixed income securities  53.8  52.7  89.5  77.3  33.7  37.9 
Non-U.S. fixed income securities  3.9  3.8  0.9  2.6  —  — 
Global equities  42.2  43.5  9.2  19.4  66.2  61.1 
  100.0 %  100.0 %  100.0 %  100.0 %  100.0 %  100.0 %

Generally, the asset mix will be rebalanced to the target mix as individual portfolios approach their minimum or maximum 
levels. Debt securities consist of U.S. and international instruments. Core domestic portfolios can be invested in government, 
corporate, asset-backed and mortgage-backed obligation securities. While the portfolio may invest in high yield securities, the 
average quality must be rated at least “investment grade" by rating agencies. Performance of fixed income investments is 
measured by both traditional investment benchmarks as well as relative changes in the present value of the plan's liabilities. 
Equity investments consist primarily of U.S. stocks including large, mid and small cap stocks, which are diversified across 
investment styles such as growth and value. We also invest in global equities with exposure to developing and emerging 
markets. Derivatives, options and futures are permitted for the purpose of reducing risk but may not be used for speculative 
purposes.

Our plan assets are primarily invested in common collective trusts (CCTs), which are invested in equity and fixed income 
securities. In accordance with our investment policy, these pooled investment funds must have an adequate asset base relative to 
their asset class and be invested in a diversified manner and have a minimum of three years of verified investment performance 
experience or verified portfolio manager investment experience in a particular investment strategy and have management and 
oversight by an investment advisor registered with the SEC. Investments in a collective investment vehicle are valued by 
multiplying the investee company’s net asset value per share with the number of units or shares owned at the valuation date. Net 
asset value per share is determined by the trustee. Investments held by the CCT, including collateral invested for securities on 
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loan, are valued on the basis of valuations furnished by a pricing service approved by the CCT’s investment manager, which 
determines valuations using methods based on quoted closing market prices on national securities exchanges, or at fair value as 
determined in good faith by the CCT’s investment manager if applicable. The funds do not contain any redemption restrictions. 
The direct holding of NorthWestern Corporation stock is not permitted; however, any holding in a diversified mutual fund or 
collective investment fund is permitted. During 2019, due to proposed changes in the John Hancock participating group annuity 
contract held by the NorthWestern Corporation plan, we elected to discontinue the contract effective January 1, 2020.

Cash Flows

In accordance with the Pension Protection Act of 2006 (PPA), and the relief provisions of the Worker, Retiree, and 
Employer Recovery Act of 2008 (WRERA), we are required to meet minimum funding levels in order to avoid required 
contributions and benefit restrictions. We have elected to use asset smoothing provided by the WRERA, which allows the use of 
asset averaging, including expected returns (subject to certain limitations), for a 24-month period in the determination of funding 
requirements. Additional funding relief was passed in the American Rescue Plan Act of 2021, providing for longer amortization 
and interest rate smoothing, which we elected to use. We expect to continue to make contributions to the pension plans in 2022 
and future years that reflect the minimum requirements and discretionary amounts consistent with the amounts recovered in 
rates. Additional legislative or regulatory measures, as well as fluctuations in financial market conditions, may impact our 
funding requirements.

Due to the regulatory treatment of pension costs in Montana, pension expense for 2021, 2020 and 2019 was based on actual 
contributions to the plan. Annual contributions to each of the pension plans are as follows (in thousands):

 2021 2020 2019
NorthWestern Energy Pension Plan (MT) $ 9,000 $ 10,201 $ 9,000 
NorthWestern Corporation Pension Plan (SD and NE)  1,200  1,200  1,200 
 $ 10,200 $ 11,401 $ 10,200 

We estimate the plans will make future benefit payments to participants as follows (in thousands):

 Pension Benefits

Other 
Postretirement 

Benefits

2022 $ 28,842 $ 2,579 
2023  30,368  2,296 
2024  31,933  1,952 
2025  33,410  1,435 
2026  34,692  1,381 
2027-2031  183,671  5,352 

Defined Contribution Plan

Our defined contribution plan permits employees to defer receipt of compensation as provided in Section 401(k) of the 
Internal Revenue Code. Under the plan, employees may elect to direct a percentage of their gross compensation to be contributed 
to the plan. We contribute various percentage amounts of the employee's gross compensation contributed to the plan. Matching 
contributions for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 were $11.8 million, $11.1 million, and $11.0 million, 
respectively. 

F-35



(15)           Stock-Based Compensation

We grant stock-based awards through our Amended and Restated Equity Compensation Plan (ECP), which includes 
restricted stock awards and performance share awards. As of December 31, 2021, there were 828,486 shares of common stock 
remaining available for grants. The remaining vesting period for awards previously granted ranges from one to five years if the 
service and/or performance requirements are met. Nonvested shares do not receive dividend distributions. The long-term 
incentive plan provides for accelerated vesting in the event of a change in control.

We account for our share-based compensation arrangements by recognizing compensation costs for all share-based awards 
over the respective service period for employee services received in exchange for an award of equity or equity-based 
compensation. The compensation cost is based on the fair value of the grant on the date it was awarded. 

Performance Unit Awards

Performance unit awards are granted annually under the ECP. These awards vest at the end of the three-year performance 
period if we have achieved certain performance goals and the individual remains employed by us. The exact number of shares 
issued will vary from 0 percent to 200 percent of the target award, depending on actual company performance relative to the 
performance goals. These awards contain both market- and performance-based components. The performance goals are 
independent of each other and equally weighted, and are based on two metrics: (i) EPS growth level and average return on 
equity; and (ii) total shareholder return (TSR) relative to a peer group.

Fair value is determined for each component of the performance unit awards. The fair value of the earnings per share 
component is estimated based upon the closing market price of our common stock as of the date of grant less the present value 
of expected dividends, multiplied by an estimated performance multiple determined on the basis of historical experience, which 
is subsequently trued up at vesting based on actual performance. The fair value of the TSR portion is estimated using a 
statistical model that incorporates the probability of meeting performance targets based on historical returns relative to the peer 
group. The following summarizes the significant assumptions used to determine the fair value of performance shares and 
related compensation expense as well as the resulting estimated fair value of performance shares granted:

2021 2020
Risk-free interest rate  0.19 %  1.42 %
Expected life, in years 3 3
Expected volatility 28.2% to 38.5% 14.9% to 19.7%
Dividend yield  4.3 %  3.1 %

The risk-free interest rate was based on the U.S. Treasury yield of a three-year bond at the time of grant. The expected term 
of the performance shares is three years based on the performance cycle. Expected volatility was based on the historical 
volatility for the peer group. Both performance goals are measured over the three-year vesting period and are charged to 
compensation expense over the vesting period based on the number of shares expected to vest.

A summary of nonvested shares as of and changes during the year ended December 31, 2021, are as follows:

 Performance Unit Awards

 Shares

Weighted-Average 
Grant-Date
Fair Value

Beginning nonvested grants  130,571 $ 66.27 
Granted  104,927  50.53 
Vested  (69,867)  60.41 
Forfeited  (3,108)  59.14 

Remaining nonvested grants  162,523 $ 58.76 

We recognized compensation expense of $3.9 million, $2.2 million, and $6.5 million for the years ended December 31, 
2021, 2020, and 2019, respectively, and related income tax (benefit) expense of $(0.2) million, $(0.6) million, and $0.2 million 
for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019, respectively. As of December 31, 2021, we had $5.7 million of 
unrecognized compensation cost related to the nonvested portion of outstanding awards, which is reflected as nonvested stock 
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as a portion of additional paid in capital in our Statements of Common Shareholders' Equity. The cost is expected to be 
recognized over a weighted-average period of 2 years. The total fair value of shares vested was $4.2 million, $5.1 million, and 
$4.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

Retirement/Retention Restricted Share Awards

In December 2011, an executive retirement / retention program was established that provides for the annual grant of 
restricted share units. These awards are subject to a five-year performance and vesting period. The performance measure for 
these awards requires net income for the calendar year of at least three of the five full calendar years during the performance 
period to exceed net income for the calendar year the awards are granted. Once vested, the awards will be paid out in shares of 
common stock in five equal annual installments after a recipient has separated from service. The fair value of these awards is 
measured based upon the closing market price of our common stock as of the date of grant less the present value of expected 
dividends. 

A summary of nonvested shares as of and changes during the year ended December 31, 2021, are as follows:

 Shares

Weighted-Average 
Grant-Date
Fair Value

Beginning nonvested grants  77,967 $ 50.86 
Granted  24,385  43.29 
Vested  (15,033)  45.78 
Forfeited  —  — 

Remaining nonvested grants  87,319 $ 49.63 

Director's Deferred Compensation

Nonemployee directors may elect to defer up to 100 percent of any qualified compensation that would be otherwise 
payable to him or her, subject to compliance with our 2005 Deferred Compensation Plan for Nonemployee Directors and 
Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code. The deferred compensation may be invested in NorthWestern stock or in 
designated investment funds. Compensation deferred in a particular month is recorded as a deferred stock unit (DSU) on the 
first of the following month based on the closing price of NorthWestern stock or the designated investment fund. The DSUs are 
marked-to-market on a quarterly basis with an adjustment to director’s compensation expense. Based on the election of the 
nonemployee director, following separation from service on the Board, other than on account of death, he or she shall be paid a 
distribution either in a lump sum or in approximately equal installments over a designated number of years (not to exceed 10 
years). 

Following is a summary of the components of DSUs issued and compensation expense attributable to the DSUs (in 
millions, except DSU amounts):

December 31,
 2021 2020 2019
DSUs Issued  18,741  21,434  19,027 

Compensation expense $ 1.1 $ 1.5 $ 1.3 
Change in value of shares  1.3  (2.9)  2.4 
Total compensation (benefit) expense $ 2.4 $ (1.4) $ 3.7 

DSUs withdrawn  186,137  613  3,708 
Value of DSUs withdrawn $ 12.1 $ 0.1 $ 0.3 
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(16)           Common Stock

We have 250,000,000 shares authorized consisting of 200,000,000 shares of common stock with a $0.01 par value and 
50,000,000 shares of preferred stock with a $0.01 par value. Of these shares, 2,865,957 shares of common stock are reserved 
for the incentive plan awards. For further detail of grants under this plan see Note 15 - Stock-Based Compensation.

Repurchase of Common Stock

Shares tendered by employees to us to satisfy the employees' tax withholding obligations in connection with the vesting of 
restricted stock awards totaled 16,880 and 35,378 during the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively, and are 
reflected in treasury stock. These shares were credited to treasury stock based on their fair market value on the vesting date.

Issuance of Common Stock

In April 2021, we entered into an Equity Distribution Agreement with BofA Securities, Inc., CIBC World Markets Corp, 
Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC, and J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, collectively the sales agents, pursuant to which we may 
offer and sell shares of our common stock from time to time, having an aggregate gross sales price of up to $200.0 million, 
through an At-the-Market (ATM) offering program, including an equity forward sales component. This is a three-year 
agreement, expiring on February 11, 2024. During the twelve months ended December 31, 2021, we issued 1,966,117 shares of 
our common stock under the ATM program at an average price of $63.81, for net proceeds of $124.2 million, which is net of 
sales commissions and other fees paid of approximately $1.3 million. We do not anticipate needing to issue equity through the 
ATM program during 2022.

On November 17, 2021, we announced a registered public offering of 6,074,767 shares of our common stock at a public 
offering price of $53.50 per share, for an issuance amount of $325.0 million. In conjunction with this offering, we granted the 
underwriters an option to purchase up to 911,215 additional shares, which was subsequently exercised in full, for an additional 
issuance amount of $48.8 million. Of the total 6,985,982 shares of common stock offered, we initially sold 1,401,869 shares, 
$75.0 million in gross proceeds, directly to the underwriters in the offering, with cash proceeds received at closing. The 
remaining 5,584,113 shares were sold under forward sales agreements which provide for settlement on a settlement date or 
dates to be specified at our discretion, but which is expected to occur on or prior to February 28, 2023. The cumulative shares 
issued under the forward sales agreement is limited to one and one-half times the base number of shares within the agreement, 
or 8,376,170 shares.

The forward sales agreements will be physically settled with common shares issued by us, unless we elect to settle the 
agreements in cash or to net share settle the agreements, subject to certain conditions. On a settlement date or dates, if we 
decide to physically settle the forward sales agreement, we will issue shares of common stock to the forward purchaser at the 
then-applicable forward sale price and receive issuance proceeds at that time. The forward sale price will initially be $51.8950 
per share, which is subject to adjustment based on a floating interest rate factor equal to the overnight bank funding rate less a 
spread of 75 basis points, and will be subject to decrease on certain dates specified in the forward sale agreement by amounts 
related to expected dividends on shares of common stock during the term of the forward sale agreement.

At December 31, 2021, we could have settled the forward sale agreement with physical delivery of 5,584,113 shares of 
common stock to the counterparty in exchange for cash of $286.1 million. The forward sale could have also been settled at 
December 31, 2021, with delivery of approximately $24.2 million of cash or approximately 435,522 shares of common stock to 
the counterparty, if we had elected to net cash or net share settle, respectfully. 

 The forward sale agreement has been classified as an equity transaction because it is indexed to our common stock, 
physical settlement is within our control, and the other requirements necessary for equity classification are met. As a result of 
the equity classification, no gain or loss will be recognized within earnings due to subsequent changes in the fair value of the 
forward sales agreement. If the average price of our common stock exceeds the adjusted forward sales price during a quarterly 
period, the forward sales agreement could have a dilutive effect on earnings per share.

(17)           Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share are computed by dividing earnings applicable to common stock by the weighted average number 
of common shares outstanding for the period. Diluted earnings per share reflect the potential dilution of common stock 
equivalent shares that could occur if unvested shares were to vest. Common stock equivalent shares are calculated using the 
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treasury stock method, as applicable. The dilutive effect is computed by dividing earnings applicable to common stock by the 
weighted average number of common shares outstanding plus the effect of the outstanding unvested restricted stock and 
performance share awards. Average shares used in computing the basic and diluted earnings per share are as follows:

 December 31,
 2021 2020 2019
Basic computation  51,709,229  50,559,208  50,428,560 

Dilutive effect of
Performance and restricted share awards(1)  111,940  145,181  323,298 
Forward equity sale  51,057  —  — 

Diluted computation  51,872,226  50,704,389  50,751,858 
 _____________________

(1) Performance share awards are included in diluted weighted average number of shares outstanding based upon what 
would be issued if the end of the most recent reporting period was the end of the term of the award. 

As of December 31, 2021, there were 77,856 shares from performance and restricted share awards which were antidilutive 
and excluded from the earnings per share calculations.

(18)           Commitments and Contingencies

Qualifying Facilities Liability

Our QF liability primarily consists of unrecoverable costs associated with three contracts covered under the PURPA. These 
contracts require us to purchase minimum amounts of energy at prices ranging from $64 to $136 per MWH through 2029. As of 
December 31, 2021, our estimated gross contractual obligation related to these contracts was approximately $466.9 million 
through 2029. A portion of the costs incurred to purchase this energy is recoverable through rates, totaling approximately 
$388.4 million through 2029. As contractual obligations are settled, the related purchases and sales are recorded within Fuel, 
purchased power and direct transmission expense and Electric revenues in our Consolidated Statements of Income. The present 
value of the remaining liability is recorded in Other noncurrent liabilities in our Consolidated Balance Sheets. The following 
summarizes the change in the liability (in thousands):

 December 31,
 2021 2020
Beginning QF liability $ 81,379 $ 92,937 

Settlements(1)  (22,497)  (18,665) 
Interest expense  6,061  7,107 

Ending QF liability $ 64,943 $ 81,379 
___________________

(1) The settlements amount includes (i) a higher periodic adjustment of $4.3 million due to actual price escalation, which 
was more than previously modeled; (ii) lower costs of approximately $1.7 million, due to a $2.6 million reduction in costs for 
the adjustment to actual output and pricing for the current contract year as compared with a $0.9 million reduction in costs in 
the prior period; and (iii) a favorable adjustment of approximately $7.0 million decreasing the QF liability associated with a 
one-time clarification in contract term.
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The following summarizes the estimated gross contractual obligation less amounts recoverable through rates (in 
thousands):

 
Gross

Obligation
Recoverable

Amounts Net
2022 $ 80,355 $ 60,639 $ 19,716 
2023  82,452  61,280  21,172 
2024  75,113  60,706  14,407 
2025  60,360  52,950  7,410 
2026  55,393  46,274  9,119 
Thereafter  113,199  106,563  6,636 
Total(1) $ 466,872 $ 388,412 $ 78,460 

 _____________________

(1) This net unrecoverable amount represents the undiscounted difference between the total gross obligations and 
recoverable amounts. The ending QF liability in the table above represents the present value of this net unrecoverable amount.

Long Term Supply and Capacity Purchase Obligations

We have entered into various commitments, largely purchased power, electric transmission, coal and natural gas supply 
and natural gas transportation contracts. These commitments range from one to 24 years. Costs incurred under these contracts 
are included in Fuel, purchased power and direct transmission expense in the Consolidated Statements of Income and were 
approximately $286.7 million, $206.6 million and $222.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019, 
respectively. As of December 31, 2021, our commitments under these contracts were $283.2 million in 2022, $269.7 million in 
2023, $221.8 million in 2024, $219.4 million in 2025, $172.2 million in 2026, and $1.5 billion thereafter. These commitments 
are not reflected in our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Hydroelectric License Commitments

With the 2014 purchase of hydroelectric generating facilities and associated assets located in Montana, we assumed two 
Memoranda of Understanding (MOUs) existing with state, federal and private entities. The MOUs are periodically updated and 
renewed and require us to implement plans to mitigate the impact of the projects on fish, wildlife and their habitats, and to 
increase recreational opportunities. The MOUs were created to maximize collaboration between the parties and enhance the 
possibility to receive matching funds from relevant federal agencies. Under these MOUs, we have a remaining commitment to 
spend approximately $26.7 million between 2022 and 2040. These commitments are not reflected in our Consolidated Financial 
Statements.

ENVIRONMENTAL LIABILITIES AND REGULATION

Environmental Matters

The operation of electric generating, transmission and distribution facilities, and gas gathering, storage, transportation and 
distribution facilities, along with the development (involving site selection, environmental assessments, and permitting) and 
construction of these assets, are subject to extensive federal, state, and local environmental and land use laws and regulations. 
Our activities involve compliance with diverse laws and regulations that address emissions and impacts to the environment, 
including air and water, protection of natural resources, avian and wildlife. We monitor federal, state, and local environmental 
initiatives to determine potential impacts on our financial results. As new laws or regulations are implemented, our policy is to 
assess their applicability and implement the necessary modifications to our facilities or their operation to maintain ongoing 
compliance.

Our environmental exposure includes a number of components, including remediation expenses related to the cleanup of 
current or former properties, and costs to comply with changing environmental regulations related to our operations. At present, 
our environmental reserve, which relates primarily to the remediation of former manufactured gas plant sites owned by us or for 
which we are responsible, is estimated to range between $24.1 million to $30.7 million. As of December 31, 2021, we had a 
reserve of approximately $26.9 million, which has not been discounted. Environmental costs are recorded when it is probable 
we are liable for the remediation and we can reasonably estimate the liability. We use a combination of site investigations and 
monitoring to formulate an estimate of environmental remediation costs for specific sites. Our monitoring procedures and 
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development of actual remediation plans depend not only on site specific information but also on coordination with the different 
environmental regulatory agencies in our respective jurisdictions; therefore, while remediation exposure exists, it may be many 
years before costs are incurred.

Over time, as costs become determinable, we may seek authorization to recover such costs in rates or seek insurance 
reimbursement as available and applicable; therefore, although we cannot guarantee regulatory recovery, we do not expect these 
costs to have a material effect on our consolidated financial position or results of operations. 

The following summarizes the change in our environmental liability (in thousands):
December 31,

2021 2020 2019
Liability at January 1, $ 28,895 $ 30,276 $ 29,741 

Deductions  (2,799)  (2,977)  (2,232) 
Charged to costs and expense  770  1,596  2,767 

Liability at December 31, $ 26,866 $ 28,895 $ 30,276 

Over time, as costs become determinable, we may seek authorization to recover such costs in rates or seek insurance 
reimbursement as available and applicable; therefore, although we cannot guarantee regulatory recovery, we do not expect these 
costs to have a material effect on our consolidated financial position or results of operations. 

Manufactured Gas Plants - Approximately $22.1 million of our environmental reserve accrual is related to the following 
manufactured gas plants. 

South Dakota - A formerly operated manufactured gas plant located in Aberdeen, South Dakota, has been identified on the 
Federal Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Information System list as contaminated with 
coal tar residue. We are currently conducting feasibility studies, implementing remedial actions pursuant to work plans 
approved by the South Dakota Department of Agriculture and Natural Resources, and conducting ongoing monitoring and 
operation and maintenance activities. As of December 31, 2021, the reserve for remediation costs at this site was approximately 
$8.1 million, and we estimate that approximately $3.0 million of this amount will be incurred through 2025.

Nebraska - We own sites in North Platte, Kearney, and Grand Island, Nebraska on which former manufactured gas 
facilities were located. We are currently working independently to fully characterize the nature and extent of potential impacts 
associated with these Nebraska sites. Our reserve estimate includes assumptions for site assessment and remedial action work. 
At present, we cannot determine with a reasonable degree of certainty the nature and timing of any risk-based remedial action at 
our Nebraska locations.

Montana - We own or have responsibility for sites in Butte, Missoula, and Helena, Montana on which former manufactured 
gas plants were located. The Butte and Helena sites, both listed as high priority sites on Montana’s state superfund list, were 
placed into the Montana Department of Environmental Quality (MDEQ) voluntary remediation program for cleanup due to soil 
and groundwater impacts. Soil and coal tar were removed at the sites in accordance with the MDEQ requirements. Groundwater 
monitoring is conducted semiannually at both sites. At this time, we cannot estimate with a reasonable degree of certainty the 
nature and timing of additional remedial actions and/or investigations, if any, at the Butte site. 

In August 2016, the MDEQ sent us a Notice of Potential Liability and Request for Remedial Action regarding the Helena 
site. In October 2019, we submitted a third revised Remedial Investigation Work Plan (RIWP) for the Helena site addressing 
MDEQ comments. The MDEQ approved the RIWP in March 2020 and we expect work at the Helena site to continue into 
2022. 

MDEQ has indicated it expects to proceed in listing the Missoula site as a Montana superfund site. After researching 
historical ownership, we have identified another potentially responsible party with whom we have entered into an agreement 
allocating third-party costs to be incurred in addressing the site. The other party has assumed the lead role at the site and has 
submitted a voluntary remediation plan for the Missoula site to MDEQ. At this time, we cannot estimate with a reasonable 
degree of certainty the nature and timing of risk-based remedial action, if any, at the Missoula site.

Global Climate Change - National and international actions have been initiated to address global climate change and the 
contribution of greenhouse gas (GHG) including, most significantly, carbon dioxide (CO2). These actions include legislative 
proposals, Executive and Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) actions at the federal level, state level activity, investor 
activism and private party litigation relating to GHG emissions. Coal-fired plants have come under particular scrutiny due to 
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their level of GHG emissions. We have joint ownership interests in four coal-fired electric generating plants, all of which are 
operated by other companies. We are responsible for our proportionate share of the capital and operating costs while being 
entitled to our proportionate share of the power generated.

While numerous bills have been introduced that address climate change from different perspectives, Congress has not 
passed any federal climate change legislation regarding GHG emissions from coal fired plants, and we cannot predict the timing 
or form of any potential legislation. In 2019, the EPA finalized the Affordable Clean Energy Rule (ACE), which repealed the 
2015 Clean Power Plan (CPP) in regulating GHG emissions from coal-fired plants. The U.S. Court of Appeals for the District 
of Columbia Circuit issued an opinion on January 19, 2021, vacating the ACE and remanding it to EPA for further action. The 
United States Supreme Court agreed to review the case in October 2021 and oral argument regarding the scope of EPA’s 
authority to regulate GHG emissions is scheduled to take place February 28, 2022, with a decision expected the following 
summer. It also is widely expected that the Biden Administration will develop an alternative plan for reducing GHG emissions 
from coal-fired plants, and in a memorandum dated February 12, 2021, EPA stated its belief that the January 19, 2021 opinion 
left neither the ACE nor the CPP rules in place.

We cannot predict whether or how GHG emission regulations will be applied to our plants, including any actions taken by 
the relevant state authorities. In addition, it is unclear how pending or future litigation relating to GHG matters will impact us. 
As GHG regulations are implemented, it could result in additional compliance costs impacting our future results of operations 
and financial position if such costs are not recovered through regulated rates. We will continue working with federal and state 
regulatory authorities, other utilities, and stakeholders to seek relief from any GHG regulations that, in our view, 
disproportionately impact customers in our region.

Future additional environmental requirements could cause us to incur material costs of compliance, increase our costs of 
procuring electricity, decrease transmission revenue and impact cost recovery. Technology to efficiently capture, remove and/or 
sequester such GHG emissions may not be available within a timeframe consistent with the implementation of any such 
requirements. Physical impacts of climate change also may present potential risks for severe weather, such as droughts, fires, 
floods, ice storms and tornadoes, in the locations where we operate or have interests. These potential risks may impact costs for 
electric and natural gas supply and maintenance of generation, distribution, and transmission facilities.

Clean Air Act Rules and Associated Emission Control Equipment Expenditures - The EPA has proposed or issued a 
number of rules under different provisions of the Clean Air Act (CAA) that could require the installation of emission control 
equipment at the generation plants in which we have joint ownership. Air emissions at our thermal generating plants are 
managed by the use of emissions and combustion controls and monitoring, and sulfur dioxide allowances. These measures are 
anticipated to be sufficient to permit the facilities to continue to meet current air emissions compliance requirements.

Regional Haze Rules - In January 2017, the EPA published amendments to the requirements under the CAA for state plans 
for protection of visibility - regional haze rules. Among other things, these amendments revised the process and requirements 
for the state implementation plans and extended the due date for the next periodic comprehensive regional haze state 
implementation plan revisions from 2018 to 2021.

The states of Montana, North Dakota and South Dakota are expected to develop and submit to EPA, for its approval, their 
respective State Implementation Plans (SIP) for Regional Haze compliance. While these states, among others, did not meet the 
EPA’s July 31, 2021 submission deadline, we still expect each state to submit its SIP in 2022. The draft Montana SIP does not 
require any additional controls at Colstrip Units 3 and 4. The draft North Dakota SIP does not require any additional controls at 
the Coyote generating facility, however the EPA, following a preliminary review, has asked North Dakota to reassess its 
determination regarding Coyote. The draft South Dakota SIP does not require any additional controls at the Big Stone 
generating facility. Until these SIPs are submitted and approved by EPA, the potential remains that installation of additional 
emissions controls might be required at these facilities.

Jointly Owned Plants - We have joint ownership in generation plants located in South Dakota, North Dakota, Iowa, and 
Montana that are or may become subject to the various regulations discussed above that have been or may be issued or 
proposed.

Other - We continue to manage equipment containing polychlorinated biphenyl (PCB) oil in accordance with the EPA's 
Toxic Substance Control Act regulations. We will continue to use certain PCB-contaminated equipment for its remaining useful 
life and will, thereafter, dispose of the equipment according to pertinent regulations that govern the use and disposal of such 
equipment.

F-42



We routinely engage the services of a third-party environmental consulting firm to assist in performing a comprehensive 
evaluation of our environmental reserve. Based upon information available at this time, we believe that the current 
environmental reserve properly reflects our remediation exposure for the sites currently and previously owned by us. The 
portion of our environmental reserve applicable to site remediation may be subject to change as a result of the following 
uncertainties:

• We may not know all sites for which we are alleged or will be found to be responsible for remediation; and
• Absent performance of certain testing at sites where we have been identified as responsible for remediation, we cannot 

estimate with a reasonable degree of certainty the total costs of remediation.

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Pacific Northwest Solar Litigation

Pacific Northwest Solar, LLC (PNWS) is a solar QF developer seeking to construct small solar facilities in Montana. We 
began negotiating with PNWS in early 2016 to purchase the output from 21 of its proposed facilities pursuant to our standard 
QF-1 Tariff, which is applicable to projects no larger than 3 MWs.

On June 16, 2016, however, the MPSC suspended the availability of the QF-1 Tariff standard rates for that category of 
solar projects, which included the projects proposed by PNWS. The MPSC exempted from the suspension any projects for 
which a QF had both submitted a signed power purchase agreement and had executed an interconnection agreement with us by 
June 16, 2016. Although we had signed four power purchase agreements with PNWS as of that date, we had not entered into 
interconnection agreements with PNWS for any of those projects. As a result, none of the PNWS projects in Montana qualified 
for the exemption.

In November 2016, PNWS sued us in state court seeking unspecified damages for breach of contract and a judicial 
declaration that some or all of the 21 proposed power purchase agreements it had proposed to us were in effect despite the 
MPSC's Order. We removed the state lawsuit to the United States District Court for the District of Montana (Court).

PNWS also requested the MPSC to exempt its projects from the tariff suspension and allow those projects to receive the 
QF-1 tariff rate that had been in effect prior to the suspension. We joined in PNWS’s request for relief with respect to four of 
the projects, but the MPSC did not grant any of the relief requested by PNWS or us.

In August 2017, we entered into a non-monetary, partial settlement with PNWS in which PNWS amended its original 
complaint to limit its claims for enforcement and/or damages to only four of the 21 power purchase agreements. As a result, the 
damages sought by the plaintiff was reduced to approximately $8 million for the alleged breach of the four power purchase 
agreements. We participated in an unsuccessful mediation on January 24, 2019 and subsequent settlement efforts also have 
been unsuccessful. 

On August 31, 2021, the Court ruled that the four agreements are valid and enforceable contracts and that NorthWestern 
breached the agreements on June 16, 2016 by refusing to go forward with the projects in spite of the MPSC's Orders. On 
December 15, 2021, after a three-day trial, the jury determined that PNWS had sustained $0.4 million in damages and the judge 
subsequently entered judgment against us in that amount.

We filed a post-trial motion on January 13, 2022 seeking to have the judgement set aside. On February 9, 2022, the judge 
denied our post-trial motion. We have 30 days from February 9, 2022 to appeal the judgement to the Ninth Circuit Court of 
Appeals if we decide to do so. The plaintiff did not seek any post-trial relief and the deadline for doing so has passed.

State of Montana - Riverbed Rents

On April 1, 2016, the State of Montana (State) filed a complaint on remand (the State’s Complaint) with the Montana First 
Judicial District Court (State District Court), naming us, along with Talen Montana, LLC (Talen) as defendants. The State 
claimed it owns the riverbeds underlying 10 of our, and formerly Talen’s, hydroelectric facilities (dams, along with reservoirs 
and tailraces) on the Missouri, Madison and Clark Fork Rivers, and seeks rents for Talen’s and our use and occupancy of such 
lands. The facilities at issue include the Hebgen, Madison, Hauser, Holter, Black Eagle, Rainbow, Cochrane, Ryan, and Morony 
facilities on the Missouri and Madison Rivers and the Thompson Falls facility on the Clark Fork River. We acquired these 
facilities from Talen in November 2014.
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The litigation has a long prior history. In 2012, the United States Supreme Court issued a decision holding that the 
Montana Supreme Court erred in not considering a segment-by-segment approach to determine navigability and relying on 
present day recreational use of the rivers. It also held that what it referred to as the Great Falls Reach “at least from the head of 
the first waterfall to the foot of the last” was not navigable for title purposes, and thus the State did not own the riverbeds in that 
segment. The United States Supreme Court remanded the case to the Montana Supreme Court for further proceedings not 
inconsistent with its opinion. Following the 2012 remand, the case laid dormant for four years until the State’s Complaint was 
filed with the State District Court. On April 20, 2016, we removed the case from State District Court to the United States 
District Court for the District of Montana (Federal District Court). The State filed a motion to remand. Following briefing and 
argument, on October 10, 2017, the Federal District Court entered an order denying the State’s motion. 

Because the State’s Complaint included a claim that the State owned the riverbeds in the Great Falls Reach, on October 16, 
2017, we and Talen renewed our earlier-filed motions seeking to dismiss the portion of the State’s Complaint concerning the 
Great Falls Reach in light of the United States Supreme Court’s decision. On August 1, 2018, the Federal District Court granted 
the motions to dismiss the State’s Complaint as it pertains to approximately 8.2 miles of riverbed from “the head of the Black 
Eagle Falls to the foot of the Great Falls.” In particular, the dismissal pertained to the Black Eagle Dam, Rainbow Dam and 
reservoir, Cochrane Dam and reservoir, and Ryan Dam and reservoir. While the dismissal of these four facilities may be subject 
to appeal, that appeal would not likely occur until after judgment in the case. On February 12, 2019, the Federal District Court 
granted our motion to join the United States as a defendant to the litigation. As a result, on October 31, 2019, the State filed and 
served an Amended Complaint including the United States as a defendant and removing claims of ownership for the 
hydroelectric facilities on the Great Falls Reach, except for the Morony and the Black Eagle Developments. We and Talen filed 
answers to the Amended Complaint on December 13, 2019, and the United States answered on February 5, 2020. A bench trial 
before the Federal District Court commenced January 4, 2022 and concluded on January 18, 2022. This bench trial addressed 
the issue of navigability of the segments at issue. The parties must submit amended findings of fact and conclusions of law, 
along with post-trial briefing, by April 29, 2022. A decision on navigability is expected following such submissions. Damages 
were bifurcated by agreement and will be tried separately, should the Federal District Court find any segments navigable.

We dispute the State’s claims and intend to vigorously defend the lawsuit. At this time, we cannot predict an outcome. If 
the Federal District Court determines the riverbeds are navigable under the remaining six facilities that were not dismissed and 
if it calculates damages as the State District Court did in 2008, we estimate the annual rents could be approximately $3.8 
million commencing when we acquired the facilities in November 2014. We anticipate that any obligation to pay the State rent 
for use and occupancy of the riverbeds would be recoverable in rates from customers, although there can be no assurances that 
the MPSC would approve any such recovery.

Colstrip Arbitration and Litigation

As part of the settlement of litigation brought by the Sierra Club and the Montana Environmental Information Center 
against the owners and operator of Colstrip, the owners of Units 1 and 2 agreed to shut down those units no later than July 
2022. In January 2020, the owners of Units 1 and 2 closed those two units. We do not have ownership in Units 1 and 2, and 
decisions regarding those units, including their shut down, were made by their respective owners. The six owners of Units 3 and 
4 currently share the operating costs pursuant to the terms of an operating agreement among them, the Ownership and 
Operation Agreement (O&O Agreement). Costs of common facilities were historically shared among the owners of all four 
units. With the closure of Units 1 and 2, we have incurred additional operating costs with respect to our interest in Unit 4 and 
expect to experience a negative impact on our transmission revenue due to reduced amounts of energy transmitted across our 
transmission lines. We expect to incorporate any reduction in revenue in our next general electric rate filing, resulting in lower 
revenue credits to certain customers. 

The remaining depreciable life of our investment in Colstrip Unit 4 is through 2042. Recovery of costs associated with the 
closure of the facility is subject to MPSC approval. Three of the joint owners of Units 3 and 4 are subject to regulation in 
Washington and in May 2019, the Washington state legislature enacted a statute mandating Washington electric utilities to 
“eliminate coal-fired resources from [their] allocation of electricity” on or before December 31, 2025, after which date they 
may no longer include their share of coal-fired resources in their regulated electric supply portfolio. As a result of the 
Washington legislation, four of the six joint owners of Units 3 and 4 requested the operator prepare a 2021 budget reflecting 
closure of Units 3 and 4 by 2025, and alternately a closure of Unit 3 by 2025 and a closure of Unit 4 by 2027. Differing 
viewpoints on closure dates delayed approval of the 2021 budget, until it was approved on March 22, 2021. Budgeting for 2022 
was also delayed, with the same four joint owners demanding substantial budget reductions, but was ultimately approved on 
January 21, 2022. Such budgeting pressures may result in future budgets that may not be sufficient to maintain the reliability of 
Units 3 and 4.

While we believe closure requires each owner’s consent, there are differences among the owners as to this issue under the 
O&O Agreement. On March 12, 2021, we initiated an arbitration under the O&O Agreement (the “Arbitration”), which seeks to 
resolve the primary issue of whether closure of Units 3 and 4 can be accomplished without each joint owner's consent and to 
clarify the obligations of the joint owners to continue to fund operations until all joint owners agree on closure. 
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The Arbitration has given rise to three lawsuits concerning the number of arbitrators, the venue and the applicable 
arbitration laws. The four joint owners from the Pacific Northwest assert the Arbitration must be conducted under the O&O 
Agreement, with one arbitrator, in Spokane County, Washington, and pursuant to the Washington Arbitration Act. The fifth 
joint owner asserts the Arbitration must be conducted per the terms of Montana Senate Bill 265 (SB 265), which requires the 
Arbitration be conducted, with three arbitrators, in Montana and pursuant to the Montana Uniform Arbitration Act. The three 
initiated lawsuits do not make direct financial demands, and instead, are intended to address issues related to process for the 
Arbitration. 

Since the Arbitration was initiated, and despite the litigation, we have worked and continue to work with the other joint 
owners to arrive at an agreed upon process for the Arbitration.

Colstrip Coal Dust Litigation

On December 14, 2020, a claim was filed against Talen Montana, LLC, the operator of the Colstrip Steam Plant, in the 
Montana Sixteenth Judicial District Court, Rosebud County, Cause No. CV-20-58. The plaintiffs allege they have suffered 
adverse effects from coal dust generated during operations associated with the Colstrip Steam Plant. On August 26, 2021, the 
claim was amended to add in excess of 100 plaintiffs. It also added NorthWestern, as well as the other owners of the Colstrip 
Steam Plant, and Westmoreland Rosebud Mining LLC, as defendants. Plaintiffs are seeking economic damages, costs and 
disbursements, punitive damages, attorneys’ fees, and an injunction prohibiting defendants from allowing coal dust to blow 
onto plaintiffs’ properties.

Since this lawsuit is in its early stages, we are unable to predict outcomes or estimate a range of reasonably possible losses.

Other Legal Proceedings

We are also subject to various other legal proceedings, governmental audits and claims that arise in the ordinary course of 
business. In the opinion of management, the amount of ultimate liability with respect to these other actions will not materially 
affect our financial position, results of operations, or cash flows.
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(19)           Revenue from Contracts with Customers

Accounting Policy

Our revenues are primarily from tariff based sales. We provide gas and/or electricity to customers under these tariffs 
without a defined contractual term (at-will). As the revenue from these arrangements is equivalent to the electricity or gas 
supplied and billed in that period (including estimated billings), there will not be a shift in the timing or pattern of revenue 
recognition for such sales. We have also completed the evaluation of our other revenue streams, including those tied to longer 
term contractual commitments. These revenue streams have performance obligations that are satisfied at a point in time, and do 
not have a shift in the timing or pattern of revenue recognition. 

Customers are billed monthly on a cycle basis. To match revenues with associated expenses, we accrue unbilled revenues 
for electric and natural gas services delivered to customers, but not yet billed at month-end.

Nature of Goods and Services

We currently provide retail electric and natural gas services to three primary customer classes. Our largest customer class 
consists of residential customers, which include single private dwellings and individual apartments. Our commercial customers 
consist primarily of main street businesses, and our industrial customers consist primarily of manufacturing and processing 
businesses that turn raw materials into products.

Electric Segment - Our regulated electric utility business primarily provides generation, transmission, and distribution services 
to our customers in our Montana and South Dakota jurisdictions. We recognize revenue when electricity is delivered to the 
customer. Payments on our tariff based sales are generally due in 20-30 days after the billing date.

Natural Gas Segment - Our regulated natural gas utility business primarily provides production, storage, transmission, and 
distribution services to our customers in our Montana, South Dakota, and Nebraska jurisdictions. We recognize revenue when 
natural gas is delivered to the customer. Payments on our tariff based sales are generally due in 20-30 days after the billing date.

Disaggregation of Revenue

The following tables disaggregate our revenue for the twelve months ended by major source and customer class (in 
millions):

December 31, 2021 Electric Natural Gas Total
Montana  334.6  126.0  460.6 
South Dakota  65.4  26.6  92.0 
Nebraska  —  21.0  21.0 

   Residential  400.0  173.6  573.6 
Montana  356.7  64.7  421.4 
South Dakota  102.5  19.1  121.6 
Nebraska  —  11.4  11.4 

   Commercial  459.2  95.2  554.4 
Industrial  37.9  1.1  39.0 
Lighting, Governmental, Irrigation, and Interdepartmental  32.1  1.4  33.5 

Total Customer Revenues  929.2  271.3  1,200.5 
Other Tariff and Contract Based Revenues  89.5  36.8  126.3 

Total Revenue from Contracts with Customers  1,018.7  308.1  1,326.8 
Regulatory amortization  33.5  12.0  45.5 
Total Revenues $ 1,052.2 $ 320.1 $ 1,372.3 
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December 31, 2020 Electric Natural Gas Total
Montana  320.8  103.5  424.3 
South Dakota  66.6  21.5  88.1 
Nebraska  —  16.9  16.9 

   Residential  387.4  141.9  529.3 
Montana  338.3  51.3  389.6 
South Dakota  101.1  14.3  115.4 
Nebraska  —  8.1  8.1 

   Commercial  439.4  73.7  513.1 
Industrial  36.8  0.9  37.7 
Lighting, Governmental, Irrigation, and Interdepartmental  31.8  0.9  32.7 

Total Customer Revenues  895.4  217.4  1,112.8 
Other Tariff and Contract Based Revenues  58.5  35.5  94.0 

Total Revenue from Contracts with Customers  953.9  252.9  1,206.8 
Regulatory amortization  (13.1)  5.0  (8.1) 
Total Revenues $ 940.8 $ 257.9 $ 1,198.7 

December 31, 2019 Electric Natural Gas Total
Montana  308.8  109.4  418.2 
South Dakota  62.5  25.8  88.3 
Nebraska  —  20.2  20.2 

   Residential  371.3  155.4  526.7 
Montana  348.1  55.7  403.8 
South Dakota  97.1  19.3  116.4 
Nebraska  —  10.5  10.5 

   Commercial  445.2  85.5  530.7 
Industrial  43.6  1.0  44.6 
Lighting, Governmental, Irrigation, and Interdepartmental  30.6  1.0  31.6 

Total Customer Revenues  890.7  242.9  1,133.6 
Other Tariff and Contract Based Revenues  61.7  35.8  97.5 

Total Revenue from Contracts with Customers  952.4  278.7  1,231.1 
Regulatory amortization  28.8  (2.0)  26.8 
Total Revenues $ 981.2 $ 276.7 $ 1,257.9 

(20)           Segment and Related Information

Our reportable business segments are primarily engaged in the electric and natural gas business. The remainder of our 
operations are presented as other, which primarily consists of unallocated corporate costs and unregulated activity.

We evaluate the performance of these segments based on utility margin. The accounting policies of the operating segments 
are the same as the parent except that the parent allocates some of its operating expenses to the operating segments according to 
a methodology designed by management for internal reporting purposes and involves estimates and assumptions. 

F-47



Financial data for the business segments for the twelve months ended are as follows (in thousands):
December 31, 2021 Electric Gas Other Eliminations Total
Operating revenues $ 1,052,182 $ 320,134 $ — $ — $ 1,372,316 
Fuel, purchased supply and direct 
transmission expense (exclusive of 
depreciation and depletion shown separately 
below)  294,820  130,728  —  —  425,548 
Utility Margin  757,362  189,406  —  —  946,768 
Operating and maintenance  156,383  51,920  —  —  208,303 
Administrative and general  72,641  27,550  1,682  —  101,873 
Property and other taxes  134,910  38,526  8  —  173,444 
Depreciation and depletion  154,626  32,841  —  —  187,467 
Operating income (loss)  238,802  38,569  (1,690)  —  275,681 
Interest expense, net  (82,678)  (6,083)  (4,913)  —  (93,674) 
Other income, net  3,676  3,046  1,530  —  8,252 
Income tax (expense) benefit  (2,512)  (2,640)  1,733  —  (3,419) 
Net income (loss) $ 157,288 $ 32,892 $ (3,340) $ — $ 186,840 
Total assets $ 5,432,578 $ 1,342,031 $ 5,834 $ — $ 6,780,443 
Capital expenditures $ 354,775 $ 79,553 $ — $ — $ 434,328 

December 31, 2020 Electric Gas Other Eliminations Total
Operating revenues $ 940,815 $ 257,855 $ — $ — $ 1,198,670 
Fuel, purchased supply and direct 
transmission expense (exclusive of 
depreciation and depletion shown separately 
below)  236,581  69,609  —  —  306,190 
Utility margin  704,234  188,246  —  —  892,480 
Operating and maintenance  149,220  53,771  —  —  202,991 
Administrative and general  69,602  26,311  (1,789)  —  94,124 
Property and other taxes  140,621  38,887  9  —  179,517 
Depreciation and depletion  147,968  31,676  —  —  179,644 
Operating income  196,823  37,601  1,780  —  236,204 
Interest expense, net  (85,487)  (6,341)  (4,984)  —  (96,812) 
Other income (expense), net  4,867  2,704  (2,718)  —  4,853 
Income tax benefit (expense)  11,282  (2,426)  2,114  —  10,970 
Net income (loss) $ 127,485 $ 31,538 $ (3,808) $ — $ 155,215 
Total assets(1) $ 5,126,589 $ 1,251,240 $ 11,620 $ — $ 6,389,449 
Capital expenditures $ 324,369 $ 81,393 $ — $ — $ 405,762 

___________________________

(1) Subsequent to the issuance of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020, we determined 
that Total Assets - Electric and Total Assets - Gas had been incorrectly reported due to an error in the allocation methodology 
utilized to calculate assets by segment. As a result, the December 31, 2020 Total Assets - Electric and Total Assets - Gas 
amounts have been corrected from the amounts previously reported to reflect an increase of Total Assets - Electric and a 
decrease of Total Assets - Gas of $488.3 million. The correction had no impact on net income or the presentation of total assets 
on the consolidated balance sheets and was determined not to be material.
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December 31, 2019 Electric Gas Other Eliminations Total
Operating revenues $ 981,178 $ 276,732 $ — $ — $ 1,257,910 
Fuel, purchased supply and direct 
transmission expense (exclusive of 
depreciation and depletion shown separately 
below)  239,589  78,431  —  —  318,020 
Utility margin  741,589  198,301  —  —  939,890 
Operating and maintenance  155,285  53,767  —  —  209,052 
Administrative and general  77,139  28,965  3,073  —  109,177 
Property and other taxes  134,686  37,192  10  —  171,888 
Depreciation and depletion  143,262  29,661  —  —  172,923 
Operating income (loss)  231,217  48,716  (3,083)  —  276,850 
Interest expense, net  (78,809)  (6,218)  (10,041)  —  (95,068) 
Other (expense) income, net  (1,365)  (814)  2,592  —  413 
Income tax (expense) benefit  (6,079)  493  25,511  —  19,925 
Net income $ 144,964 $ 42,177 $ 14,979 $ — $ 202,120 
Total assets $ 4,808,011 $ 1,270,811 $ 4,664 $ — $ 6,083,486 
Capital expenditures $ 241,190 $ 74,826 $ — $ — $ 316,016 

(21)           Fourth Quarter Financial Data (Unaudited)

Our fourth quarter financial information has not been audited, but, in management's opinion, includes all adjustments 
necessary for a fair presentation. Amounts presented are in thousands, except per share data:

Three Months Ended December 31,
2021 2020

Operating revenues $ 347,341 $ 313,445 
Operating income  79,990  66,496 
Net income $ 51,336 $ 53,551 
Average common shares outstanding  53,293  50,583 
Income per average common share:  

Basic $ 0.96 $ 1.06 
Diluted $ 0.96 $ 1.06 
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DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES

The following description of the common stock of NorthWestern Corporation, a Delaware corporation is a 
summary of the general terms thereof and is qualified in its entirety by the provisions of our certificate of 
incorporation, as amended and restated (the “certificate of incorporation”), and bylaws, as amended and restated (the 
“bylaws”), copies of both of which have been filed as exhibits to our most recent Annual Report on Form 10-K filed 
with the Securities and Exchange Commission, and the laws of the state of Delaware.

Our certificate of incorporation authorizes us to issue 250,000,000 shares of stock, divided into two classes: 
(1) 200,000,000 shares of common stock, $0.01 par value per share, and (2) 50,000,000 shares of preferred stock, 
$0.01 par value per share.  Our common stock is our only security registered under Section 12 of the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934.

As of February 4, 2022, we had no preferred stock outstanding. However, our board of directors is 
authorized, subject to any limitations imposed by law, without the approval of our stockholders, to issue from time 
to time up to a total of 50,000,000 shares of our preferred stock, $0.01 par value per share, in one or more series, 
with each such series having such powers, including voting powers, preferences, and relative participating optional 
or other special rights and any qualifications, limitations or restrictions thereof, as our board of directors may 
determine at the time of issuance. Thus, without seeking stockholder approval, our board may issue preferred stock 
with voting and other rights that could adversely affect the voting power of the holders of our common stock.

The issuance of our preferred stock, while potentially providing us with flexibility in connection with 
possible acquisitions and other corporate purposes, could have the effect of making it more difficult for a third party 
to acquire, or delay or deter a third party from attempting to acquire, a majority of our outstanding voting stock.

Dividend Rights

Subject only to any prior rights and preferences of any shares of our preferred stock that may in the future 
be issued and outstanding, the holders of our common stock are entitled to receive dividends when, as and if 
declared by our board of directors out of legally available funds. There can be no assurance that funds will be legally 
available to pay dividends at any given time or that, if funds are available, the board of directors will declare a 
dividend.  

Voting Rights

The holders of our common stock are entitled to one vote per share on all matters to be voted on by 
stockholders. Under our certificate of incorporation, the voting rights, if any, of our preferred stock may differ from 
the voting rights of our common stock.  The holders of our common stock do not have cumulative voting rights. Our 
bylaws provide for a plurality voting standard for the election of directors.

Liquidation Rights

If we were to liquidate, subject to the terms of any outstanding series of preferred stock, the holders of our 
common stock are entitled to receive pro rata our assets legally available for distribution to stockholders.

Other Rights

Our common stock is not liable to further calls or assessment. The holders of our common stock have no 
preemptive rights. Our common stock cannot be redeemed, and it does not have any conversion rights or sinking 
fund provisions.
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Effects on Our Common Stock if We Issue Preferred Stock

As discussed above, our board of directors has the authority, without further action by the stockholders, to 
issue up to 50,000,000 shares of preferred stock in one or more series. If we issue any preferred stock, it may 
negatively affect the holders of our common stock. These possible negative effects include diluting the voting power 
of shares of our common stock and affecting the market price of our common stock. In addition, the ability of our 
board of directors to issue preferred stock may delay or prevent a change in control of NorthWestern Corporation.

Provisions of our Certificate of Incorporation and our Bylaws That Could Delay or Prevent a Change in 
Control

Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws contain provisions which will make it difficult to obtain control 
of NorthWestern Corporation if our board of directors does not approve the transaction. The provisions include the 
following:

Number of Directors, Vacancies, Removal of Directors

Our bylaws provide that our board of directors will have at least five and at most 11 directors. A majority 
of the continuing directors decide the exact number of directors at a given time and fill any new directorships and 
vacancies.

Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws provide that our directors may be removed, with or without 
cause, by a majority of the shares then entitled to vote in an election of directors. In addition, our certificate of 
incorporation provides that any action required or permitted to be taken by our stockholders, including the removal 
of directors, must be effected at a duly called annual or special meeting of stockholders and may not be effected by 
any consent in writing by such stockholders. Our bylaws permit stockholders to call a special meeting if called by 
25% or more of the outstanding shares of voting capital stock of the company.

No Cumulative Voting.  Our certificate of incorporation does not provide for cumulative voting.

Advance Notice Provisions.  Our bylaws require that for a stockholder to nominate a director or bring other 
business before an annual meeting, the stockholder must give written notice not later than 90 days nor earlier than 
120 days prior to the first anniversary of the preceding year’s annual meeting. However, if the annual meeting is 
more than 30 days before or more than 70 days after such anniversary date, the stockholder must give notice not 
earlier than 120 days prior to such annual meeting, nor later than the later of 90 days prior to such annual meeting or 
10 days after the day on which the public announcement of the date of the meeting was first made. In addition, if the 
number of directors to be elected to the board at an annual meeting is increased and there is no public announcement 
naming the nominees for the additional directorships at least 100 days prior to the first anniversary of the preceding 
year’s annual meeting, a stockholder must give notice, but only with respect to nominees for the additional 
directorships, so it is delivered not later than 10 days after the day on which such public announcement is first made.

All such notices must be received by our Corporate Secretary by the close of business on the specified date 
to be deemed to have been delivered on that date. The public announcement of an adjournment or postponement of 
an annual meeting does not commence a new time period or extend the foregoing time period.

No Stockholder Action by Written Consent.  Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws provide that all 
action by stockholders must be taken at an annual or special meeting. The stockholders may not act by written 
consent. This provision prevents our stockholders from initiating or effecting any action by written consent, thereby 
limiting the ability of our stockholders to take actions opposed by our board of directors.

Special Meetings of Stockholders.  Our bylaws provide that special meetings of stockholders may be called 
by the chairman of the board of directors, the board of directors acting pursuant to a resolution adopted by a majority 
of the whole board of directors, or upon written notice to the board of directors by holders of 25% or more of our 
outstanding voting stock.
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Provisions Relating to the Authorization of Business Combinations.  Our certificate of incorporation 
requires that certain mergers, consolidations, sales or other dispositions of substantial assets, issuances of company 
securities and certain other Business Combinations involving us and any Interested Stockholder of our voting stock 
be approved by a majority of our Disinterested Directors or by the holders of at least 66 2/3% of the outstanding 
shares of capital stock of the company entitled to vote generally, excluding any shares beneficially owned by the 
Interested Stockholder or any Affiliate of any Interested Stockholder (as such terms are defined in the certificate of 
incorporation).  This provision may be amended only by the approval of the holders of at least two-thirds of the 
outstanding shares of our voting stock.

Provisions of Delaware Law That Could Delay or Prevent a Change in Control

We are subject to the provisions of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law. In general, this 
law prohibits us from engaging in any “business combination” with any interested stockholder for a three-year 
period after such interested stockholder acquires the stock, unless:

• prior to the time that the person became an interested stockholder, the board of directors of the 
corporation approved either the business combination or the transaction which resulted in the 
stockholder becoming an interested stockholder; 

• upon consummation of the transaction that resulted in the stockholder becoming an interested 
stockholder, the interested stockholder owned at least 85% of the voting stock of the corporation 
outstanding at the time the transaction commenced, excluding for the purpose of determining the 
number of shares outstanding (but not the outstanding voting stock owned by the interested 
stockholder) those shares owned by (i) the corporation’s officers and directors and (ii) employee stock 
plans in which employee participants do not have the right to determine confidentially whether shares 
held subject to the plan will be tendered in a tender or exchange offer; or

• at or subsequent to the time the business combination is approved by the corporation’s board of 
directors and authorized at an annual or special meeting of its stockholders, and not by written consent, 
by the affirmative vote of at least 66-2/3% of its outstanding voting stock that is not owned by the 
interested stockholder. 

 The term “business combination” is broadly defined to include mergers, consolidations, and sales and other 
dispositions of assets having an aggregate market value equal to 10% or more of the consolidated assets of the 
corporation, and other specified transactions resulting in financial benefits to the interested stockholder.  An 
“interested stockholder” is a person who, together with affiliates and associates, owns (or within three years did 
own) 15% or more of the corporation’s voting stock.

 The restrictions on business combinations with interested stockholders contained in Section 203 of the 
Delaware General Corporation Law do not apply to a corporation whose certificate of incorporation or bylaws 
contains a provision expressly electing not to be governed by the statute.  Neither our certificate of incorporation nor 
our bylaws contains a provision electing to “opt-out” of Section 203.  Section 203 of the Delaware General 
Corporation Law could prohibit or delay mergers or other takeover or change in control attempts and, accordingly, 
may discourage attempts to acquire us.  

Listing

Our common stock is listed on the Nasdaq Stock Market LLC.

Transfer Agent and Registrar

The transfer agent and registrar for our capital stock is Computershare, Inc., Providence, Rhode Island.
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Exhibit 21

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISTRANT

Name State of Jurisdiction of Incorporation or Limited Partnership

The Clark Fork and Blackfoot, L.L.C. Montana
NorthWestern Services, LLC Delaware
Canadian-Montana Pipe Line Corporation Canada
Risk Partners Assurance, Ltd. Bermuda
Lodge Creek Pipelines, LLC Nevada
Willow Creek Gathering, LLC Nevada
Havre Pipeline Company, LLC Texas
NorthWestern Energy Solutions, Inc. Delaware



Exhibit 23

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statement Nos. 333-122428, 333-124624, 333-149388, 
333-158731, 333-175813, and 333-197627 on Form S-8 and Registration Statement Nos. 333-253047, and 
333-257950 on Form S-3 of our reports dated February 10, 2022, relating to the financial statements of 
NorthWestern Corporation (the “Company”) and the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial 
reporting appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Minneapolis, Minnesota
February 10, 2022



EXHIBIT 31.1 

CERTIFICATION 

I, Robert C. Rowe, certify that: 

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of NorthWestern Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material 
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not 
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present 
in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the 
periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls 
and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial 
reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be 
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its 
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period 
in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial 
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of 
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report 
our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period 
covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred 
during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual 
report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control 
over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control 
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or 
persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over 
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, 
summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role 
in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 11, 2022
/s/ ROBERT C. ROWE
Robert C. Rowe
Chief Executive Officer



 

EXHIBIT 31.2 

CERTIFICATION 

I, Crystal D. Lail, certify that: 

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of NorthWestern Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material 
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not 
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present 
in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the 
periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls 
and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial 
reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be 
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its 
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period 
in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial 
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of 
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report 
our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period 
covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred 
during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual 
report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control 
over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control 
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or 
persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over 
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, 
summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role 
in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 11, 2022
/s/ CRYSTAL D. LAIL
Crystal D. Lail
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer



EXHIBIT 32.1 

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, 
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

In connection with the Annual Report of NorthWestern Corporation (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period 
ended December 31, 2021, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Robert 
C. Rowe, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 
906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge: 

1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Sections 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; 
and

2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of 
operations of the Company.

Date: February 11, 2022 /s/ ROBERT C. ROWE
Robert C. Rowe
Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 32.2 

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, 
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

In connection with the Annual Report of NorthWestern Corporation (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period 
ended December 31, 2021, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Crystal 
D. Lail, Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted 
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge: 

1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Sections 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; 
and

2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of 
operations of the Company.

Date: February 11, 2022 /s/ CRYSTAL D. LAIL
Crystal D. Lail
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
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